Public Document Pack

North Devon Council
Brynsworthy Environment Centre
Barnstaple
North Devon EX31 3NP
K. Miles
Chief Executive.

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
A meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee will be held as a Virtual – Online
meeting on MONDAY, 12TH APRIL, 2021 at 10.00 am.
Members of the Strategy and Resources
Committee
Members of the Committee to be appointed at Annual Council on 7 April 2021
AGENDA
1.

Virtual meeting procedure - briefing and etiquette
Chair to report.

2.

Apologies for absence

3.

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 1 March 2021
(attached) (Pages 7 - 14)

4.

Items brought forward which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered by
the meeting as a matter of urgency

5.

Declarations of Interests
(Please telephone the Corporate and Community Services team to prepare a form
for your signature before the meeting. Interests must be re-declared when the
item is called, and Councillors must leave the meeting if necessary).

6.

To agree the agenda between Part 'A' and Part 'B' (Confidential Restricted
Information)

PART 'A'
7.

Batsworthy Cross Windfarm (Pages 15 - 48)
Report by Service Lead – Environmental Protection (attached)

8.

Section 19 Barnstaple Flooding update (Pages 49 - 60)
To receive Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority report
conducted under the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 Section 19
(attached). Head of Environmental Health to report. (NOTE: Martin Hutchings
from the Flood Management Group of Devon County Council will be in
attendance). An accessible version of the report is available on Devon County

Council’s website: Barnstaple and Devon-Wide Floods 17th August 2020 - Flood
Risk Management.
9.

Climate Action Team Working Group
To consider the following notice of motion referred to Strategy and Resources
Committee by Council on 24 February 2021:
“RESOLVED that Council ask Strategy and Resources Committee to formally
constitute the CAT as a Working Group made up of 10 interested Members with
an initial task of investigating what options exist for reducing and/or offsetting
carbon usage, creating a Carbon Reduction Plan and reporting back to Strategy
and Resources Committee within 6 months.”

10.

Home Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty (Pages 61 - 146)
Joint report by Head of Environmental Health and Housing and Service Lead
(Home Improvement and Adaptations and Energy Efficiency) (attached)

11.

Proposed Extension of Existing Policy Derogations due to Covid 19 (Pages
147 - 150)
Report by Public Protection Manager (attached)

12.

Houses in Multiple Occupation: Amenity Standards, Minimum Room Sizing
and Licence Conditions (Pages 151 - 214)
Joint report by Public Protection Manager and Graduate Environmental Health
Officer (attached)

13.

Review of North Devon Council Off Street Parking Places Order (Pages 215 224)
Report by Acting Parking Manager (attached)

14.

Littering Strategy Implementation (Pages 225 - 296)
Joint report by Service Manager Operational Services and Environmental
Protection Service Lead (attached)

15.

Urgent Decisions Taken by the Chief Executive (Pages 297 - 318)
To note the urgent decisions that have been made by the Chief Executive in
accordance with paragraph 3.48, Annexe 2, Part 3 of the Constitution (attached)

16.

Leisure Contract Payments (Pages 319 - 322)
Report by Contracts Delivery Manager (attached)

17.

Roadmap out of Lockdown (Pages 323 - 332)
Report by Chief Executive and Communications Team (attached)

2

18.

PART 'B'
Exclusion of Public and Press Restriction of Documents.
RECOMMENDED:
(a) That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following item
as it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in
Paragraphs 3 and 4, Part 1 Schedule 12A of the Act (as amended
from time to time), namely information relating to the financial or
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority
holding that information) and information relating to any consultations
or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in
connection with any labour relating matter arising between the
authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office
holders under, the authority
(b) That all documents and reports relating to the item be confirmed as
“Not for Publication”

19.

Vehicle and Fleet Maintenance Tender (Pages 333 - 340)
Report by Service Manager Operational Services (attached)

If you have any enquiries about this agenda, please contact Corporate and
Community Services, telephone 01271 388253

1.04.21

3

North Devon Council protocol on recording/filming at Council meetings
The Council is committed to openness and transparency in its decision-making.
Recording is permitted at Council meetings that are open to the public. The Council
understands that some members of the public attending its meetings may not wish to be
recorded. The Chairman of the meeting will make sure any request not to be recorded is
respected.
The rules that the Council will apply are:
1. The recording must be overt (clearly visible to anyone at the meeting) and must
not disrupt proceedings. The Council will put signs up at any meeting where we
know recording is taking place and a reminder will be issued at the
commencement of virtual meetings.
2. The Chairman of the meeting has absolute discretion to stop or suspend recording
if, in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting
or if the person recording is in breach of these rules.
3. We will ask for recording to stop if the meeting goes into ‘part B’ where the public
is excluded for confidentiality reasons. In such a case, the person filming should
leave the room ensuring all recording equipment is switched off. In a virtual
meeting the public will be excluded from the meeting while in Part B.
4. Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. We ensure that
agendas for, and signage at, Council meetings make it clear that recording can
take place – anyone not wishing to be recorded must advise the Chairman at the
earliest opportunity. Public contributions to virtual meetings will be recorded,
unless, at the Chair’s discretion, recording is deemed in appropriate in accordance
with point 2 above.
5. The recording should not be edited in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or
misrepresentation of the proceedings or in a way that ridicules or shows a lack of
respect for those in the recording. The Council would expect any recording in
breach of these rules to be removed from public view.
Notes for guidance:
Please contact either our Corporate and Community Services team or our
Communications team in advance of the meeting you wish to record at so we can make
all the necessary arrangements for you on the day.
For more information contact the Corporate and Community Services team on 01271
388253 or email memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk or the Communications Team
on 01271 388278, email communications@northdevon.gov.uk.
4

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

Strategy and Resources Committee - 1 March 2021

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL
Minutes of a meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee held at Virtual - Online
meeting on Monday, 1st March, 2021 at 10.00 am
PRESENT:

Members:
Councillor Worden (Chair)
Councillors Knight, Lofthouse, Patrinos, Pearson, Prowse, L. Spear,
Wilkinson and Yabsley
Officers:
Chief Executive, Head of Resources, Senior Solicitor/Monitoring
Officer, Service Lead - Environmental Protection and Contracts
Delivery Manager
Also Present:
Councillors Luggar, D. Spear and Tucker

262.

VIRTUAL MEETING PROCEDURE - BRIEFING AND ETIQUETTE

The Chair outlined the virtual meeting procedure and etiquette to the Committee and
attendees.
The Senior Corporate and Community Services Officer confirmed the Members of
the Committee, Members and Officers who were present.
263.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

There were no apologies for absence received.
264.

TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE
MEETING HELD ON 1 FEBRUARY 2021 (ATTACHED).

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 1 February 2021 (circulated
previously) be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.
265.

ITEMS BROUGHT FORWARD WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE
CHAIR SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THE MEETING AS A
MATTER OF URGENCY.

The Chair advised that there would be an informal meeting for Members of the
Committee immediately following the conclusion of the formal meeting.
266.

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS.

There were no declarations of interest received.
1

Page 7

Agenda Item 3

Strategy and Resources Committee - 1 March 2021

267.

BATSWORTHY CROSS WINDFARM

The Committee considered a report by the Service Lead – Environmental Protection
(circulated previously) regarding Batsworthy Cross Windfarm.
The Service Lead Environmental Protection highlighted the following:







Noise compliance monitoring at six locations close to Batsworthy Cross
Windfarm had confirmed compliance with the noise related planning
conditions at five of these six locations. Exceedance of the noise limits in the
sixth location has previously been confirmed.
On 16th September 2020, the Council had re-issued a request to the Operator
asking them to provide details of a proposed further mitigation strategy for
properties in the vicinity of Birchwood House within 30 days.
A response from the Operator was received on 8 October 2020 confirming
details of an associated mitigation strategy.
Additional information was subsequently requested from the Operator, to
enable a further assessment of this strategy with further clarifications and data
being received during January 2021.
Officers’ were currently in the process of reviewing the complete response.
This was proving to be challenging on a technical level and were still in the
process of undertaking complicated analysis of the data with the consultant
and that a further update would be provided at the meeting of the Committee
in April 2021.

The Chair invited Jane Faust to address the Committee.
Jane Faust addressed the Committee.
In response to the points raised by Jane Faust, the Service Lead Environmental
Protection advised the following:


The operator had submitted information in relation to the alleged reduction of
the noise limits of 1.5dB to bring the site to what they believe would become
compliant. This was the data that officers were currently analysing.

In response to questions from Members, the Service Lead Environmental Protection
advised the following:




The calculations of the noise limits were based on previous monitoring data.
There was a need for measured data which had now been submitted and was
being analysed. Once officers’ had a preliminary view on the data submitted
then this information would be shared with Members.
It was anticipated that a more informed update would be provided at the next
meeting of the Committee on 12 April 2021.

The Committee noted the report and that a report would be presented to the
Committee on 12 April 2021.

2

Page 8

Agenda Item 3

Strategy and Resources Committee - 1 March 2021

268.

TARKA LEISURE CENTRE UPDATE

The Committee considered a report by the Contracts Delivery Manager (circulated
previously) regarding an update on the Tarka Leisure Centre project.
The Contracts Delivery Manager highlighted the following:













An internal audit of the Tarka Leisure Centre project was undertaken in
December 2020 and January 2021. One of the audit recommendations was
to bring regular progress reports to members at Strategy and Resources
Committee meetings on a monthly basis.
Despite COVID 19 and the subsequent restrictions and control measures
imposed on construction sites, the programme is currently just one week
behind schedule. The next notable milestone will be the excavation of the
swimming pools.
Parkwood Leisure have overall responsibility for managing the construction
phase of the project (under the terms of the Design Build Operate and
Maintain or DBOM) contract. They have direct responsibility for managing the
construction contractor (Speller Metcalfe), the architect and sub-contractors.
There was a need to consider how to manage the construction site once the
Tarka Tennis centre re-opened on 12 April 2021.
There would be some disruption to the Tarka Tennis car park and lorry car
park, but this would be kept to a minimum.
Several officers are currently overseeing the construction phase of the project
on behalf of the council. Their roles on the project were summarised in
Appendix A.
The gross valuation to date for construction was £2.4m. The next spend
would be for £2.3m.
It was still planned to open the new leisure centre in April 2022.
It was difficult to predict how well the new leisure centre would perform as the
business cases had been produced pre Covid 19. The management fee paid
to the council would be unaffected though as these payments are fixed.

In response to questions, the Contracts Delivery Manager advised the following:





The income the Council would receive from the new Leisure Centre was over
a 20 year period.
The Council had secured funding from the National Lottery Recovery Fund
which would be paid over to Parkwood Leisure.
The Chief Executive was the Chair of the South West Leisure Group who
were continuing to lobby MPs regarding stage 2 leisure recovery.
When the leisure centre re-opened following the lockdown, it would not be
fully open.
Parkwood Leisure’s construction contractor had incurred
additional costs for cleaning and other Covid precautions as a result of the
pandemic. Claims for these extra costs would be reviewed under the contract
review procedures.

3

Page 9

Agenda Item 3

Strategy and Resources Committee - 1 March 2021

In response to a question, the Head of Resources advised that that the Council was
protected as much as possible. The borrowing costs within the financial modelling
were around 3%. Borrowing costs had reduced considerably which was financially
advantageous for the Council.
The Committee noted the report.
269.

PROCUREMENT OF VEHICLES

The Committee considered a report by the Chief Executive (circulated previously)
regarding the procurement of vehicles.
The Chief Executive highlighted the following:














The Council was the Waste Collection authority and as such needed to
maintain a fleet of vehicles in order to collect waste and recycling and deliver
it to the appropriate body. Traditionally, North Devon Council has purchased
the vehicles that it needs but had recently been exploring other options.
The Council operated a fleet of 89 vehicles and a workshop to maintain the
vehicles.
There was a rolling capital programme to replace vehicles.
A number of councils have now moved to a model whereby vehicles were
leased rather than purchased. Councils have approached this differently
depending on circumstances but a project has been ongoing to explore this
option to see if it would be better financially and operationally for the Council.
Suppliers have been asked to tender for the contract to supply the Council
with vehicles for the next 7 years with the option of also taking over
management of the workshop and providing a full vehicle maintenance
service to the Council. If that option was adopted, a number of staff would
transfer to the new supplier but on the same terms and conditions as existing.
The exercise had been conducted in conjunction with Somerset West and
Taunton Council which would also be approaching this in the same way.
The deadline for the final submission of tenders was 15 March and it was
envisaged that an award will be made in early April. At this stage it was
difficult to know what the financial implications would be for the Council as the
deadline had not passed and the tenders had not been evaluated. There was
a need to assess associated costs compared to the current method of
operation.
As part of the tender process, if a decision was taken to lease vehicles the
contractor would be requested to provide spare vehicles which would provide
more flexibility for the Council.
The procurement timetable didn’t allow for a report to be brought back to the
Committee.

In response to questions, the Chief Executive advised the following:


As part of the procurement timetable, the deadline for tenders was 15 March
2021 and the preferred bidder would be notified of the outcome on 26 March
2021. There was not a long period between these dates to evaluate the
tenders. The timescales were extremely tight and therefore if a special
4

Page 10

Agenda Item 3

Strategy and Resources Committee - 1 March 2021








meeting of the Committee were convened between these dates, there could
potentially be a delay in notifying the preferred bidder. There would be no
opportunity to convene a meeting of the Policy Development Committee.
The contractor would be given flexibility to purchase electric vehicles and
there would be associated costs.
The costs requested as part of the tender process were based on the current
vehicle fleet and contractors were aware that there was a need to look at
other appropriate vehicle types.
In terms of maintenance of vehicles there were a number of options which
included retaining the maintenance in-house and contract back to the
contractor or for the workshop to be provided by the contractor and for staff to
be TUPE over to the contractor.
The contractor would be required to provide replacement vehicles for any
vehicles that broke down.
He suggested that the recommendation be amended to also include
consultation with the Group Leaders and Lead Member for Commercialisation
and Resources. If Group Leaders were then not in agreement, a special
meeting of the Committee could be convened. Key information could be
provided to Group Leaders.

RESOLVED that the approach of leasing vehicles be agreed and that the Chief
Executive be delegated power in consultation with the Lead Member, Group Leaders
and the Lead Member for Commercialisation and Resources to appoint a supplier of
vehicles and maintenance services, if deemed appropriate, following the completion
of the procurement exercise, subject to compliance with the Council’s Contract
Procedure rules and that a special meeting of the Committee be convened if
required.
270.

RURAL SETTLEMENT LIST

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Resources (circulated previously)
regarding the Rural Settlement List.
The Head of Resources highlighted the following:






The Council was required to annually publish a Rural Settlement list in
accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1997.
Rural Settlements were settlements with a population of less than 3,000 within
the boundaries of a rural area as set out under the provision of the Housing
Act 1996.
The Rural Rate Relief Scheme helped qualifying small general stores, post
offices, food shops, public houses and petrol stations. It is intended to
safeguard rural communities and preserve the future of village life by
supporting the service they provide to local people. To qualify for relief,
properties must be situated within a designated rural settlement area of less
than 3,000 people.
Appendix A listed the qualifying Rural Settlements with a population of fewer
than 3,000. This list had remained unchanged for many years.

5

Page 11

Agenda Item 3

Strategy and Resources Committee - 1 March 2021

RESOLVED that the Rural Settlement List be approved, for the purposes of Rural
Rate Relief, of the rural settlements listed in Appendix A to this report.
271.

BUSINESS GRANTS

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Resources (circulated previously)
regarding Business Grants.
The Head of Resources highlighted the following:







The Government had announced a series of measures to support business
impacted by Covid-19. These measures included payments of grants to
businesses which have had to close due to localised or widespread national
restrictions being put in place.
Whilst the awarding of these grants was the Council’s responsibility, the
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) had set down
the criteria which must be met by each business making an application for the
grants as detailed in paragraph 1.2 of the report and approval was required
for the approval of the schemes criteria.
The Council had already supported businesses with the payment of £50m of
business grants over the past 12 months. Further £12m had been paid to
businesses since January 2021.
The Government had announced that further funding would be available to
businesses for the period mid-February to the end of March 2021 and that
these would be paid automatically to businesses who had previously received
the grant.

The Leader thanked the Head of Resources and his team for their hard work in
processing the payment of business grants over the past 12 months.
In response to questions, the Head of Resources advised the following:





The Council had received £1.9m for the discretionary grant scheme in
November 2020 and £860,000 top-up allocation in January 2021. The
Council was currently in the process of administering the discretionary grants
to business. No further additional restriction grant had been announced for
the mid-February to the end of March 2021 period.
To date the Council had processed the payment of just over £2m of the total
£2.8m of business grants.
The Chancellor had announced further business grants as part of his budget
and details would be known shortly.

RESOLVED that the adoption of the:
(a) Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed) Addendum with effect from 5
November 2020 as shown in Appendix A be approved;
(b) Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed) with effect from 2 December 2020 as
shown in Appendix B be approved;

6

Page 12

Agenda Item 3

Strategy and Resources Committee - 1 March 2021

(c) Christmas Support Payment for wet-led pubs as shown in Appendix C be
approved;
(d) Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed) Addendum 5 January as shown in
Appendix D be approved;
(e) Closed Business Lockdown Payment as shown in Appendix E be approved.
272.

COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS

The Committee considered a report by the Revenues and Benefits Manager
(circulated previously) regarding Council Tax Discounts.
The Head of Resources advised that the proposed Council Tax Discounts relating to
certain properties for the financial year commencing 1 April 2021 were unchanged
from the last financial year and the same level of discounts were recommended.
RECOMMENDED that Council makes the following determinations in relation to the
classes of dwellings set out below for the financial year commencing 1 April 2021:
(a) Class A and Class B Unoccupied and furnished properties
Set a 0% discount, therefore levying full council tax.
(b) Classes A and B do not include any dwelling
(i) Which consists of a pitch occupied by a caravan or a mooring occupied by a boat.
(ii) Where a qualifying person in relation to that dwelling is a qualifying person in
relation to another dwelling in England, Wales or Scotland which is job related.
(iii) Which for a qualifying person is job related where that person is a qualifying
person in relation to another dwelling in England, Wales or Scotland.
(c) Class C Unoccupied and substantially unfurnished properties
Set a discount of 100%, for up to three months.
(d) For the purpose of Class C, in considering whether a dwelling has been
unoccupied for any period, any one period, not exceeding six weeks, during which it
was occupied shall be disregarded.
(e) Properties which have been unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for over
two years, levy the empty home premium of 200% of the normal liability.
(f) Properties which have been unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for over
five years, levy the empty home premium of 300% of the normal liability.
(g) Properties which been unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for over ten
years, levy the empty home premium of 400% of the normal liability.

7

Page 13

Agenda Item 3

Strategy and Resources Committee - 1 March 2021

273.

CAR PARKING CHARGES

The Committee considered a report by the Chief Executive (circulated previously)
and a revised recommendation (circulated separately) regarding Car Parking
Charges.
The Chief Executive highlighted the following:








Outlined the revised recommendation (which had been circulated separately)
recommending that a working group be set up following a number of posts
being made on social media expressing concerns regarding the potential
increase in charges.
Car parking charges were used to manage behaviour.
The forecast income reduction for the current financial year was £1.8m and
the Council would recover around £1.2m from the Government. The forecast
net loss of income to the Council was £600,000.
Torridge District Council had recently taken a decision to increase charges for
coastal car parks for the next three years. Westward Ho! car park charges
had been increased to £9 all day. It was proposed that the charges for
Croyde car park would increase to £4.40 for 3 hours and £6 for all day.
Following the announcement by Government for the roadmap out of
lockdown, the Council could now expect demand for car parking to increase in
coastal areas.

RESOLVED that a working group involving the Leader and Deputy Leader,
Councillors Lofthouse and Yabsley of Strategy and Resources Committee and
interested ward members be convened to consider the issue of car parking charges
with a report to come back to a future Strategy and Resources Committee.
Chair
The meeting ended at 11.16 am
NOTE: These minutes will be confirmed as a correct record at the next meeting of
the Committee.

8

Page 14

Agenda Item 7

North Devon Council
Report Date:

12th April 2021

Topic:

Batsworthy Cross Windfarm

Report by:

Andy Cole, Environmental Protection Service Lead

1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. This paper seeks to update the Strategy and Resources Committee on the
current status of the Council’s regulation of the noise related planning
conditions associated with Batsworthy Cross Windfarm.
1.2. This is a follow up report to a paper which was considered by this Committee
on the 1st March 2021.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. It is recommended that the Strategy and Resources Committee note and
endorse the approach to be taken which is outlined in section 4.12 of this
report.

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. To provide the Committee with confidence that the process of regulating
Batsworthy Cross Windfarm is transparent and happening as efficiently as
possible

4. REPORT
4.1. The planning conditions for this site require noise compliance monitoring to
be undertaken at three locations close to Batsworthy Cross Windfarm.
4.2. The Operator has previously agreed with the Council to expand this
monitoring exercise - and undertake monitoring at six locations.
4.3. Monitoring has previously confirmed compliance with the noise related
planning conditions at five of these six locations.

Page 15

Agenda Item 7
4.4. Exceedance of the noise limits in the sixth location (representing properties in
the vicinity of Birchwood House) has been confirmed.
The exceedance occurs at only one wind speed (7 m/s).
Compliance with the limits at all other wind speeds has been confirmed,
4.5. The Council has previously advised the operator of this situation, and
requested them to provide details of a proposed further mitigation strategy for
properties in the vicinity of Birchwood House.
4.6. This proposed mitigation strategy has been received and reviewed in full by
Officers’ and the Council’s acoustic advisor
The findings of the Council’s acoustic advisor - which are based on
calculations having been undertaken using the noise measurement data as
previously gathered - are attached as Appendix A to this report.
4.7. The conclusions set out in paragraphs 20 – 22 of this report suggest that the
proposed mitigation strategy will result in compliance being achieved at the
location in question.
4.8. The report highlights a secondary effect of the proposed mitigation - a further
reduction of up to 2dB at lower wind speeds at other dwellings - including
Dikens and All Angels.
4.9. Officers are therefore satisfied that implementation of the mitigation strategy
will result in compliance with the noise related planning conditions.
4.10.
Considering the relatively small levels involved with the outstanding
exceedance (as mentioned in section 4.4), the degree of confidence attached
to the predicted effects of the mitigation strategy, and the technical difficulties
of reliably determining the precise wind farm noise levels at this location at
this wind speed after mitigation, it is not considered necessary or reasonable
for the Council to require the Operator to undertake an additional noise
monitoring exercise to further verify the results of this mitigation.
4.11.
Under delegated powers, officers intend to confirm this position to the
Operator, ask them to implement the proposed mitigation strategy in full, and
provide written confirmation to the Council (within 21 days of the request
having been made of them) that this has been done.

Page 16

Agenda Item 7
At that point, and subject to this being put in place, the Council will confirm
compliance with the planning conditions.
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. This development will necessitate further investment in the regulation of this
consent which cannot be quantified at this time.

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. There are no equalities implications anticipated as a result of this report.

7. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
7.1. Part 3, Annexe 1
7.2. Delegated power
8. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
8.1. This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS
9.1. The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
- Batsworthy Cross Windfarm. Report to Strategy & Resources Committee
1st March 2021.
-

Batsworthy Cross Windfarm. Report to Strategy & Resources Committee
1st February 2021.

-

Batsworthy Cross Windfarm. Report to Strategy & Resources Committee
6th January 2020.

-

Batsworthy Cross Windfarm. Report to Strategy & Resources Committee
5th October 2020.

-

Batsworthy Cross Windfarm. Report to Strategy & Resources Committee
2nd November 2020.

9.2. The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of
the report.
10. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
10.1. The author confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers.

Page 17

Agenda Item 7

Appendix A
Memorandum from Bob Davis, 24
Acoustics Ltd
See separate document as attached to email to Member Services for inclusion in
Report Pack for Committee

Page 18

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

Memorandum
To:
From:
Date:
Job:
Ref:

Andy Cole, North Devon Council
Bob Davis/Dave Coles, 24 Acoustics Limited
2 March 2021
Batsworthy Cross – Noise Issues

R7792-2 Rev 0

Batsworthy Cross Wind Farm – Noise Compliance Assessment - Noise Levels at locations
around Birchwood House: Review of effect of proposed mitigation measures

Background
1 The noise compliance measurements carried out so far at Batsworthy Cross demonstrate
compliance with the noise limits at all the agreed monitoring locations at all wind speeds,
except at the location representing Birchwood House and adjoining properties. The most
recent survey at this location (strictly the ‘Birchwood House proxy’ but referred to in this note
as ‘Birchwood House’) was commissioned by the Council and carried out in February – March l
2019 by 24 Acoustics/RD Associates (Report R7792-1). The results showed that the wind farm
noise level at that location complied with the noise limits except that the night noise limit of 40
dB LA90 was exceeded by 1.5 dB at a wind speed (at 10m height) of 7 m/s.
(Note that noise levels in this note refer to LA90 levels, as referred to in the noise conditions.
Unless specified, wind speeds refer to wind speeds measured at a height of 10 m above
ground level)
2 The site operator (RES) has not questioned the reliability of these noise measurements,
although they have disputed the reliance on wind speed measurements made at the
permanent anemometer mast. (Different noise limits are applied at different wind speeds and
the measured noise levels therefore have to be ‘matched’ with the wind speeds measured
during the same time intervals). The operator has claimed that using wind speeds measured
at this mast as a reference for the noise measurements (as agreed prior to the commencement
of the monitoring exercise, and in accordance with the planning conditions) will overstate the
derived noise levels to the extent that the noise limits at Birchwood House are not actually
exceeded. The suggestion by RES was that the wind speeds should be measured at a location
where the wind conditions are representative of the conditions at the original mast position, as
used for obtaining background noise measurements prior to the planning application: the site
noise limits were based on wind speed measurements at that original location. The RES
Report by Jeremy Bass (Reference GT01-502040 - October 2019) sets out the rationale for
this assertion. The Council has rejected the view that the noise compliance measurements
should be reassessed using a different location for obtaining reference wind speeds: RES
have accepted this decision and have put forward the proposed mitigation to address the
breach of the noise limits. However, the above RES report presents information (specifically in
relation to wind shear) that we believe should be taken into consideration in our assessment of
the effects of the proposed noise mitigation, to ensure that this assessment is robust, as
explained in paragraph 11.
Registered Office:
Unit 4 Brunel Buildings
Brunel Road
Newton Abbot, TQ12 4PB

Registered Number 5256773
Registered in England & Wales

Page 19

Agenda Item 7

North Devon Council

Appendix A

3 The further mitigation now proposed by RES involves changes to the operating modes of the
turbines for the range of wind directions between 200 and 350 degrees (from N), the range of
wind directions for wich Birchwood House will be downwind of the wind farm and will therefore
experience the highest noise levels.

4 RES have provided predictions, presented in the email shown in Appendix 1, showing that
changing the operating modes in the way proposed would result in a reduction in the 2019
noise levels of 1.5 dB at a wind speed of 7 m/s, and that the night noise limit of 40 dB would
therefore be complied with. There would also be noise reductions at other wind speeds
(although the noise limits are already complied with at all other wind speeds).
5 RES have requested that the Council accepts these predictions as evidence that the proposed
mitigation would result in noise levels complying with the noise limits. The Council has
provisionally accepted this approach, subject to the predictions being independently reviewed.
This Note presents an analysis by 24 Acoustics of the effects of the proposed mitigation.
Basis of Predictions
6 Noise levels at locations around a wind farm can be predicted using an industry-standard
prediction model based on ISO 9613-2. The absolute levels of noise calculated by the
prediction model are subject to some uncertainty, particularly in hilly terrain, but the calculation
of changes in noise levels resulting from a change in the ‘at source’ noise levels (the Sound
Power Levels of the turbines), with all other factors remaining the same, can be expected to be
accurate. In this case the calculated change in noise level resulting from the operating mode
changes, applied by way of corrections to the pre-curtailment noise levels measured in
February-April 2019, would be expected to provide a robust assessment of the wind farm noise
levels that would be experienced at Birchwood House following mitigation.
Proposed Changes to Operating Modes

7 Wind turbines can be operated in different ‘modes’, which provide the means of reducing the
noise emitted from the turbine (the Sound Power Level) over a range of wind speeds, although
operation in a ‘reduced-noise’ mode results in some loss of electrical power generation. For
the Senvion MM82 turbines three different standard modes are available (A, B and C), with C
being the lowest-noise mode. The combinations of operating modes in effect when the 2019
noise surveys were carried out, the modes currently in use, and the modes now proposed to
achieve additional noise reduction, are shown in the documents in Appendices 1 and 2 and
summarised below. These modes apply only for wind directions between 200º and 350º
(from N) in which Birchwood House is downwind of the wind farm.
Turbine number
Date
2019 (during noise survey)
Current
Proposed

Wind directions
(degrees from N)
1 200-255
2 255-350
3 200-350
4 200-350

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

108

109

A
A
A
C

B
B
C
C

C
C
C
C

B
B
C
C

A
A
C
C

A
C
C
C

A
A
A
A

A
A
A
C

A
A
A
A

Table 1 Turbine Operating modes – 2019 (during noise survey), Current and Proposed

Page 2 of 8

Page 20

Agenda Item 7

North Devon Council

Appendix A

Interpretation of data
8 On reviewing the available information, it became clear that predicting the reduction in noise
levels resulting from the proposed mitigation was not straightforward. Two particular factors
became apparent:
 The operating modes in effect in 2019
9 The results of the 2019 measurement survey at Birchwood House were based on
measurements made when the wind direction was between 200 and 350 degrees (i.e.
generally from the West). This is the ‘worst case’ wind sector for Birchwood House since this
location would be downwind of the wind farm. However, the information now available
(Appendix 2) shows that the turbines were being operated in slightly different modes for the
sectors 200-255º and 255-350º, T106 being in either mode A or mode C. This has the effect
that applying the further mitigation will result in less noise reduction for wind directions 255350º (since noise from T106 is not being further reduced) than for the 200-255º sectors. This is
considered in paragraph 16 below. (The 2019 noise survey Report did not include separate
assessment of noise in these two sectors).
 The effects of vertical wind shear
10 The turbine noise emission (Sound Power Level) of a wind turbine is determined by the wind
speed at the hub-height of the turbine (in this case 63 m above ground level). The noise
limits in the planning conditions are referred to the wind speed measured 10 metres above
the ground and the compliance measurements carried out to date are related to the
measurements at 10 m above ground at the site anemometer mast. The wind speed at 10 m
is (in almost all situations) lower than the wind speed at hub height (‘wind shear’). Turbine
manufacturers quote Sound Power Levels in terms of both hub height and ‘standardised’ 10
metre wind speeds, the 10 m standardised wind speed being calculated on the basis of a
‘standard’ value for wind shear which is only usually applicable to sites on flat unobstructed
ground.

11 For the Batsworthy site there is evidence that the local wind shear is greater than the
‘standard’ value. The value assigned to wind shear has a significant effect on the prediction
of the noise reduction that will result from the proposed mitigation, as explained in
paragraphs 12 and 13 below. There are two separate factors involved:
(a) Measurements of wind shear at the position of the original meteorological mast were made
prior to the 2012 planning appeal (presented in the Supplementary Environmental Information
(SEI). These measurements showed enhanced wind shear (i.e. wind shear greater than the
standard value on which the turbine manufacturer’s noise data is based). The effect of this
was incorporated into the noise predictions presented at the appeal, using the highest value
of wind shear (not the average value) for the purposes of predicting the highest noise level
likely to occur.

(b) As mentioned in paragraph 2, the site operator (RES) has observed that the anemometer
mast used for the wind speed measurements during the compliance surveys is in a more
sheltered position than the original site mast. RES have presented the results of computer
modelling that indicates that that as a result of the more sheltered mast position the ‘effective‘

Page 3 of 8

Page 21

Agenda Item 7

North Devon Council

Appendix A

wind shear between the turbine hub height and the current 10 m mast might be further
increased. The calculated effect is that wind speeds measured at 10 m height on the current
mast may be about 10% lower, for a given wind speed at hub height, than would be
measured at the original mast position.
Therefore predicting the noise reduction that would result from the proposed mitigation needs
to take account of the combined or ‘cumulative’ wind shear resulting from these two factors,
although this would present a ‘worst case’, as explained in paragraph 18 below.

Sound Power Level dB re 10-12W

12 Figure 1 below shows the Sound Power Levels (the ‘at source’ noise emission) from the
MM82 turbine in the three optional modes (A, B and C) plotted against wind speed at hub
height. These levels are obtained from data sheets published by the manufacturer, Senvion.
106
104
102
100
98
96

Figure 1
Illustration of Sound Power
Levels of MM82 turbine for
different operating modes

Tupe
Type A

94

Type B

92

Type C

90
6

6.5

7

7.5

8

8.5

9

9.5 10 10.5 11 11.5 12 12.5

Hub height wind speed m/s

13 The above graph shows that the noise reduction resulting from changing to a ‘lower noise’
mode is very dependent on the hub height wind speed. The compliance assessment is
based on wind speed measured at 10 m height – in this case we are concerned with noise
levels when the 10 m height wind speed is around 7 m/s. For ‘standard’ wind shear, a wind
speed at 10 m height of 7 m/s corresponds to a hub-height wind speed of about 9.4 m/s. At
this hub height wind speed, mode C is more than 4 dB quieter than mode A, and more than 2
dB quieter than mode B. However, higher wind shear means that a hub height wind speed
higher than 9.4 m/s is required to achieve a 7 m/s wind speed at 10 m height. Increasing hub
height wind speed increases the noise level (although only marginally in mode A, because
the curve ‘flattens out’ at high wind speeds) but, more importantly, has the effect of reducing
the noise benefit of changing to a ‘quieter’ mode. For example, at a hub-height wind speed of
12 m/s, which could correspond to a 10 m height wind speed of 7 m/s in very high wind shear
conditions, mode C is only about 2 dB quieter than Mode A and less than 1 B quieter than
Mode B.
14 This means that the predicted noise reduction resulting from the proposed mode changes is
very dependent on the value assigned to wind shear. The range of likely values of wind
shear, based on the available information, has been assessed in the following analysis.

Page 4 of 8

Page 22

Agenda Item 7

North Devon Council

Appendix A

Results of Predictions
15 Predictions using ISO 9613-2, following the recommendations in the Institute of Acoustics
Good Practice Guide and associated documents, show the following reduction in wind farm
noise level at Birchwood House at a 10 m wind speed of 7 m/s. As discussed above the
result is dependent on the value assumed for wind shear:
Wind shear

Effect of mitigation at 7 m/s wind speed
Wind sector 200-255º

1 No excess (’standard’) wind shear
2 Site wind shear as SEI (highest values)
3 Cumulative shear - (2)+effect of mast position

-2.3 dB
-1.4 dB
-1.0 dB

Wind sector 255-350°

-1.9 dB
-1.1 dB
-0.8 dB

Table 2 - Predicted noise reductions at 7 m/s (10 m height) wind speed for different wind shear

16 As expected, the noise reduction achieved for winds in the 255-350° sector is less than for
the 200-255° sector for the reason explained in paragraph 9. However the predictions also
show that the noise levels at Birchwood House when the winds are in the 255-350° sector
would be 0.3 dB lower than for the 200-255° sector. Examination of the 2019 noise survey
data confirms this differential (a greater difference was actually deduced from the
measurements). This lower ‘starting point’ compensates for the lesser noise reduction in the
255-300° sector. Therefore the assessment can be based on the values in the ‘200-255°’
column above and the values in the ‘255-350°' column can be ignored.
17 The RES prediction of noise reduction (Appendix 1) was based on the same input as (2)
above (i.e. the maximum wind shear value from the SEI, not including the additional shear
indicated by RES’s own calculations). On this basis, RES predicted a 1.5 dB reduction: this
compares with our prediction of 1.4 dB. The difference of 0.1 dB is trivial and is probably
explained by differences in the way the wind shear effect is calculated, which requires some
manual interpolation between wind speeds.
18 For the ‘cumulative’ wind shear (3) the predictions show that the noise reduction would be
limited to 1.0 dB, resulting in a mitigated noise level of 40.5 dB at 7 m/s wind speed.
However the compliance assessment is intended to cover a range of conditions (although
always for the downwind direction): predictions (2) and (3) assume the ‘worst case’ wind
shear values from the SEI data and these would not be experienced over an extended
period. The ‘cumulative’ wind shear prediction will therefore overstate the mitigated average
noise level (and understate the average noise reduction). For this reason there is reasonable
certainty that the average noise reduction would be greater than 1.0 dB, and therefore that
the average noise level at Birchwood House, after the proposed mitigation, would be lower
than 40.5 dB LA90.
19 It is standard practice (as adopted in BS4142-2014, for example) to ‘round’ environmental
noise levels to the nearest integer value. It should be noted that the noise limits in the
planning conditions, although based on background noise levels that were originally quoted
to one decimal place, are ‘rounded’ values. The ‘rounding’ process also recognises that a
noise level difference of less than 0.5 dB is subjectively undetectable. Therefore a calculated
noise level below 40.5 dB (between, say, 39.6 and 40.4 dB) is rounded to a level of 40 dB.

Page 5 of 8

Page 23

Agenda Item 7

North Devon Council

Appendix A

Conclusions
20 From the available information, our judgement is that if the proposed mitigation (as set out in
Table 1) is applied there is reasonable certainty that the average wind farm noise level at
Birchwood House at a wind speed of 7 m/s, in downwind conditions, would be lower than
40.5 dB. Therefore, when rounded to the nearest integer value in accordance with standard
industry practice, the noise level would not exceed 40 dB. This would then comply with the
night time noise limit at this wind speed at this location.
21 It should also be noted that the proposed mitigation applied in the 200-350° wind sector (at
all times) has the further effect of reducing noise at lower wind speeds – about 2 dB at 5 m/s,
for example, for these wind directions. Noise levels are already lower than the limits at these
wind speeds, although noise is audible at some dwellings and a reduction of 2 dB could be
detectable. Therefore this is a secondary effect of the proposed mitigation that might be
perceived as a benefit at dwellings around Birchwood House and also, in some wind
directions, at other dwellings including Dikens and All Angels.
22 Overall, we consider that the predictions of the effect of the proposed noise mitigation, when
applied to the 2019 noise measurements at Birchwood House, provide robust evidence that
the night time noise limit of 40 dB LA90 at 7 m/s wind speed at this location will be complied
with.

Page 6 of 8

Page 24

Agenda Item 7

North Devon Council

Appendix A

Appendix 1
Text of email from S Higman (RES) to NDC ( Matthew Brown/A Cole) of 13 January 2021
Thank you for your email of the 5th January 2021. On behalf of Batsworthy Cross Wind Farm,
thank you for your acknowledgement of the satisfactory receipt of information in relation to bullet
points 1 and 2.
Whilst BCWF don’t accept the necessity for further curtailment, as detailed in previous
submissions to the Council, in the interest of expediency BCWF would like to propose the
following mitigation strategy to bring things to a conclusion:
Curtailment
Regime
Current (post)
Proposed (new)

101
A
C

Turbine Number (Sector 200 – 350°)
103
104
105
106
107
C
C
C
C
A
C
C
C
C
A

102
C
C

108
A
C

109
A
A

As you can see, compared to the previous mitigation strategy, this new strategy involves putting
two additional turbines (101 & 108) into Mode C for the wind direction sector in question, i.e. 200
– 350°.
This new mitigation strategy results in noise immission level predictions for the proxy location @
Birchwood House for this sector as follows:
Curtailment
Regime
3
Feb-Ap 2019 (pre) 32.9
32.7
Current (post)
32.6
Proposed (new)

Wind Speed at 10 m Height / (m/s)
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
35.5 37.6 39.2 39.9 40.3 40.9 41.3
34.5 36.1 37.9 39.0 39.8 40.7 41.3
33.9 35.3 37.1 38.4 39.4 40.6 41.2

As you can see, this achieves the 1.5 dB reduction which the Council believe to be necessary, i.e.
(39.9 dB - 38.4 dB = 1.5 dB).
I would be grateful if you could confirm that, if BCWF were to implement this strategy, it would
resolve the matter and the Council could confirm discharge of planning Condition 35.
Once we have this reassurance then BCWF will implement it and provide proof, in the same
format as before, that this has been done.

Page 7 of 8

Page 25

Agenda Item 7

North Devon Council

Appendix A

Appendix 2
Tezt of email from Siemens-Gamesa Renewable Energy Services submitted by RES to the
Council by email on 18 December 2021

Page 8 of 8

Page 26

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B

North Devon Council
Report Date:

12th April 2021

Topic:

Batsworthy Cross Windfarm

Report by:

Andy Cole, Environmental Protection Service Lead

Legal advice
You are asking members to endorse a process that is contrary to the planning
conditions.
That is to say, you are asking members to endorse assessing built wind turbine noise
levels for compliance with their noise limits, by adjusting noise levels measured
before noise reductions are made, by a predicted noise reduction.
It is inappropriate that this report does not explain whether legal advice has been
sought on the approach you want members to endorse.
It is inappropriate that this report does not set out whether legal advice supports your
proposal to use predictions rather than enforce the planning conditions which require
that compliance is shown using direct physical noise measurements.
Your own noise consultant writes of the planning conditions that, "There is no
reference to the use of predictions to adjust or correct measured noise data." Can
the legal advice on this matter be any different to that on the use of an alternative
wind speed location whereby officers wrote, "the wording of the planning condition
does not allow RES to utilise an alternative wind speed location at this time"?

Discharge of Condition 37
This report makes no reference to the discharge of planning Condition 37. If your
intention is to treat member endorsement of your proposal as endorsement of the
discharge of Condition 37 then this must explicitly be made clear to members.
That said, it would be highly inappropriate and premature to seek endorsement to
discharge Condition 37 at this point because of a number of serious and outstanding
issues, for example:

Page 27

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B

The turbine noise levels have still not been assessed for compliance at 2 m/s
wind speeds measured at 10 meter height above at the permanent on site
mast.
Predictions informed officers conjecture on compliance at all locations when
further measurements should have been taken; and these predictions
understate the turbine noise levels because they do not take account of the
cumulative wind shear i.e. the enhanced wind shear plus the more sheltered
location of the on site mast when compared to the original wind shear mast
location as exposed by Dr Bass and explained by Mr Davis and Mr Coles in
their attached report.
Tonal assessments still need performing according to the planning conditions
to resolve the wildly different tonal penalties reported for the same wind
speeds and location.
The failure of the assessments to apply the agreed process when turbine
noise levels plus background noise level are reported, bizarrely, as lower
than background noise levels alone.
The failure of the assessments to use the lowest background noise levels
ever recorded at each location and the failure to explain the hugely increased
background noise levels at the critical wind speeds and especially for
properties to the south of the site where the dominant background noise
levels are the natural environment.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This paper seeks to update the Strategy and Resources Committee on the
current status of the Council’s regulation of the noise related planning
conditions associated with Batsworthy Cross Windfarm.
It is inappropriate that this report does not provide the caveat that it relies on
predicted noise levels when "The Planning Conditions ... require the noise levels to
be determined by noise measurements." and when "There is no reference to the use
of predictions to adjust or correct measured noise data." [Mr Davis 06/11/2020].
1.2 This is a follow up report to a paper which was considered by this
Committee on the 1st March 2021.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS

Page 28

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B

2.1 It is recommended that the Strategy and Resources Committee endorses
the approach outlined in section 4.12 of this report.
Without the security of knowing and understanding the legal advice in respect of your
approach, how can the Strategy and Resources Committee safely endorse it?

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1 To provide the Committee with confidence that the process of regulating
Batsworthy Cross Windfarm is transparent and happening as efficiently as
possible
How can you claim that this site is being regulated as efficiently as possible when
known exceedances of the noise limits have been allowed to continue unabated for
21 months and counting. You knew about these exceedances in June 2019; what
have you been doing for the last 21 months? Measuring of the reduced noise levels
could have started shortly after June 2019 had you followed and enforced the
planning conditions.
On the matter of transparency, please see the comments below on 4.3

4. REPORT
4.1 The planning conditions for this site require noise compliance monitoring
to be undertaken at three locations close to Batsworthy Cross Windfarm.
4.2 The Operator has previously agreed with the Council to expand this
monitoring exercise - and undertake monitoring at six locations.
The site has since been sold and you are dealing with a different operator so the
relevance of this point is mute. Besides you completely negated the benefit of this
agreement because 3 of these locations were dropped from the monitoring exercise
before the process was completed i.e. insufficient measurements were collected to
permit an assessment of compliance or non compliance with the noise limits.

4.3 Monitoring has previously confirmed compliance with the noise related
planning conditions at five of these six locations.

Page 29

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B

The statement above is false:
● So far, noise compliance measurements for Batsworthy demonstrate
compliance with the noise limits at just one (The Ridge) of the agreed six
locations.
● The compliance assessment at Birchwood is ongoing.
● Statements of compliance at the other four locations are conjecture.

4.4 Exceedance of the noise limits in the sixth location (representing
properties in the vicinity of Birchwood House) has been confirmed.
This point would be more transparent and pertinent if it stated "Exceedance of the
noise limits in the sixth location (representing properties in the vicinity of Birchwood
House) was confirmed in June 2019.
4.5 The Council has previously advised the operator of this situation, and
requested them to provide details of a proposed further mitigation strategy for
properties in the vicinity of Birchwood House.
4.6 This proposed mitigation strategy has been received and reviewed in full
by Officers’ and the Council’s acoustic advisor
4.7 The findings of the Council’s acoustic advisor are attached as Appendix 1
to this report.
It is inappropriate that the acoustic advisors’ findings are not summarised here so
that members are aware that the operator's proposal is not predicted to stop further
breaches of the noise limits.
4.8 The conclusions set out in paragraphs 20 – 22 of this report suggest that
the proposed mitigation strategy will result in compliance being achieved at
the location in question.
It is noted that the acoustic advisor only "suggests" compliance with the noise limits.
4.9 The report highlights a secondary effect of the proposed mitigation - a
further reduction of up to 2dB at lower wind speeds at other dwellings including Dikens and All Angels.
It would be discriminatory to Birchwood should there be any suggestion or even
perceived suggestion that a predicted reduction in noise levels at other locations
should provide some form of validation of acceptance of exceedances at Birchwood.

Page 30

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B

Besides, this is not a secondary effect or some sort of accidental bonus for residents,
this is the way the noise limits work i.e. compliance with the noise limits at one
location impacts residents at other locations. This emphasises the importance of
compliance in as much as it impacts residents all around the site. Indeed non
compliance at Birchwood results in higher noise levels elsewhere around the site.
Reductions in noise levels elsewhere around the site, especially to the south of the
site and especially in lower wind speeds, could mean that any tonal noise is more
pronounced resulting in a tonal penalty or a greater tonal penalty. This needs
addressing.

4.10 Officers are therefore satisfied that implementation of the mitigation
strategy will result in compliance with the noise related planning conditions.
How can officers be satisfied that compliance will be achieved when in point 4.8
above they note that their acoustic consultant only "suggests" compliance will be
achieved.
Explanation is needed on how this leap of faith from 'suggested compliance' to
'actual compliance', has come about; on what is it based?

4.11 Considering the relatively small levels of exceedance involved, it is not
considered necessary or reasonable for the Council to require the Operator to
undertake an additional noise monitoring exercise to further verify the results
of this mitigation.
The idea that "the relatively small levels of exceedance involved" make it
"unnecessary and unreasonable" to require the operator to take measurements does
not stand up to scrutiny because measurements were taken previously to assess the
mitigation for even smaller exceedances than those being addressed now so this
rationale is inconsistent and contradicted by evidence from the last set of
measurements.
Further the government's Planning Inspector finds the taking of measurements
reasonable in such circumstances and so does the operator in as much as they have
made preparations to take measurements.
While it may be considered that the exceedances are "relatively small", no context
or evidence is provided to support this view; and there is no reference to the fact that
the unit of noise measurement (the decibel) is logarithmic and there is no

Page 31

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B

acknowledgement of the fact that residents are exposed to the noise from the wind
turbines 24 hours a day, 365 days of the year for the next 20 years.
Besides, the acoustic advisor has written that "the ETSU limits themselves are
recognised as being at or close to the threshold of acceptability" .This means that
there is no room for error i.e. this means there is no room for 'predicting' or
'suggesting' that the noise limits will be met; the noise levels need measuring.
It is noted that time to collect further measurements is no longer being touted as a
reason not to take further measurements. This is sensible because it would have
been completely unreasonable for officers to spend 21 months achieving very little
only to say there isn't time to take more measurements. Last time measurements
took less than 3 months.
4.12 Officers intend to confirm this position to the Operator, ask them to
implement the proposed mitigation strategy in full, and provide written
confirmation to the Council (within 21 days of the request having been made
of them) that this has been done.
The predicted noise reductions show continued exceedances of the noise limits and
despite attempts to dismiss these exceedances by tampering through averaging and
rounding, they cannot be eliminated. As such, the only way to know whether the
noise reductions are sufficient to eliminate further breaches of the noise limits is to
measure the reduced turbine noise levels.
If compliance with the noise limits is not tested through noise measurements, where
will the council stand should it become apparent in dealing with a complaint, that the
site was not compliant with its noise limits.
You have told us that the planning conditions require that compliance is shown
through measurement. You have told us that your actions have not fettered your
ability to require the operator to test their noise reductions through direct
measurements.
So what have you got against requiring the operator to follow the planning
conditions? What have you got to lose? If you are not going to enforce the planning
conditions then you have to rationally justify not doing so; you have not done this.
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
1.1. This development will necessitate further investment in the regulation of this
consent which cannot be quantified at this time.

Page 32

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B

2. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
2.1. There are no equalities implications anticipated as a result of this report.
3. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
3.1. Part 3, Annexe 1
3.2. Delegated power
When was delegated power issued and to who is it issued.

4. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
4.1. This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
5. BACKGROUND PAPERS
5.1. The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
- Batsworthy Cross Windfarm. Report to Strategy & Resources Committee
1st March 2021.
-

Batsworthy Cross Windfarm. Report to Strategy & Resources Committee
1st February 2021.

-

Batsworthy Cross Windfarm. Report to Strategy & Resources Committee
6th January 2020.

-

Batsworthy Cross Windfarm. Report to Strategy & Resources Committee
5th October 2020.

-

Batsworthy Cross Windfarm. Report to Strategy & Resources Committee
2nd November 2020.

5.2. The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of
the report.
6. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
6.1. The author confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers.

Page 33

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B

Appendix 1
Memorandum from Bob Davis, 24
Acoustics Ltd
Please click on link below:

Page 34

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Appendix C

Memorandum

To: Andy Cole, North Devon Council
From: Bob Davis/Dave Coles, 24 Acoustics Limited
Date: 2 March 2021
Job: Batsworthy Cross – Noise Issues
Ref: R7792-2 Rev 0

Batsworthy Cross Wind Farm – Noise Compliance Assessment - Noise Levels at locations
around Birchwood House: Review of effect of proposed mitigation measures

It is inappropriate that this report does not provide the caveat that it relies on predicted noise
levels while "The Planning Conditions ... require the noise levels to be determined by noise
measurements. There is no reference to the use of predictions to adjust or correct measured
noise data." [Mr Bob Davis 06/11/2020]
Background
1 The noise compliance measurements carried out so far at Batsworthy Cross demonstrate
compliance with the noise limits at all the agreed monitoring locations at all wind speeds,
except at the location representing Birchwood House and adjoining properties. The most
recent survey at this location (strictly the ‘Birchwood House proxy’ but referred to in this note
as ‘Birchwood House’) was commissioned by the Council and carried out in February – March l
2019 by 24 Acoustics/RD Associates (Report R7792-1). The results showed that the wind farm
noise level at that location complied with the noise limits except that the night noise limit of 40
dB LA90 was exceeded by 1.5 dB at a wind speed (at 10m height) of 7 m/s. (Note that noise
levels in this note refer to LA90 levels, as referred to in the noise conditions. Unless specified,
wind speeds refer to wind speeds measured at a height of 10 m above ground level).

The opening statement above is false:
● So far, noise compliance measurements for Batsworthy demonstrate compliance with the
noise limits at just one of the agreed six locations and even there, not for all wind speeds.
● The compliance assessment at Birchwood is ongoing.
● Statements of compliance at the other four locations are conjecture.

2 The site operator (RES) has not questioned the reliability of these noise measurements,
although they have disputed the reliance on wind speed measurements made at the
permanent anemometer mast. (Different noise limits are applied at different wind speeds and
the measured noise levels therefore have to be ‘matched’ with the wind speeds measured
during the same time intervals). The operator has claimed that using wind speeds measured
at this mast as a reference for the noise measurements (as agreed prior to the commencement
of the monitoring exercise, and in accordance with the planning conditions) will overstate the
derived noise levels to the extent that the noise limits at Birchwood House are not actually
exceeded. The suggestion by RES was that the wind speeds should be measured at a location

Page 37

Agenda Item 7

where the wind conditions are representative of the conditions at the original mast position, as
Appendix
C
used for obtaining background noise measurements prior to the planning
application:
the site
noise limits were based on wind speed measurements at that original location. The RES
Report by Jeremy Bass (Reference GT01-502040 - October 2019) sets out the rationale for
this assertion. The Council has rejected the view that the noise compliance measurements
should be reassessed using a different location for obtaining reference wind speeds: RES
have accepted this decision and have put forward the proposed mitigation to address the
breach of the noise limits. However, the above RES report presents information (specifically in
relation to wind shear) that we believe should be taken into consideration in our assessment of
the effects of the proposed noise mitigation, to ensure that this assessment is robust, as
explained in paragraph 11.

Registered Office:
Unit 4 Brunel Buildings
Brunel Road Registered
TQ12 4PB Registered in England & Wales

Number 5256773 Newton Abbot,

North Devon Council

RES’ attempts to use calculated wind speeds and directions from a mast that does not exist
instead of from the on site mast, are irrelevant to this report. If RES desire to use such a mast,
they need to apply to vary the planning conditions.
However the last sentence above is important because RES’ reference to wind shear is critical to
the derivation of the predicted turbine noise levels i.e. the local wind shear has to be taken into
account when predicting turbine noise levels. It is appropriate that officers have recognised the
significance of using the ‘cumulative’ wind shear to inform predicted noise levels.
However officers failed to bring this knowledge to the table when they reviewed HLA’s
“Batsworthy Cross Wind Farm, Devon Supplementary Analysis Report 16/06/2017” the result
being that the predicted turbine noise levels which informed officers conjecture on compliance,
were understated because they did not take into account that wind speeds measured at 10 m
height on the current mast may be about 10% lower, for a given wind speed at hub height, than
would be measured at the original mast position. Obviously this needs to be addressed before
Condition 37 can be discharged.

3 The further mitigation now proposed by RES involves changes to the operating modes of the
turbines for the range of wind directions between 200 and 350 degrees (from N), the range of
wind directions for wich Birchwood House will be downwind of the wind farm and will therefore
experience the highest noise levels.

4 RES have provided predictions, presented in the email shown in Appendix 1, showing that
changing the operating modes in the way proposed would result in a reduction in the 2019
noise levels of 1.5 dB at a wind speed of 7 m/s, and that the night noise limit of 40 dB would
therefore be complied with. There would also be noise reductions at other wind speeds
(although the noise limits are already complied with at all other wind speeds).

Page 38

Agenda Item 7

The above statement in brackets is false because in the last assessment, noise levels at wind
Appendix C
speeds of 8m/s and above were not shown to be compliant or non compliant with the noise limits.
Indeed the preceding assessment showed exceedances of the noise limit at 8m/s.

5 RES have requested that the Council accepts these predictions as evidence that the proposed
mitigation would result in noise levels complying with the noise limits. The Council has
provisionally accepted this approach, subject to the predictions being independently reviewed.
This Note presents an analysis by 24 Acoustics of the effects of the proposed mitigation.

It is concerning that officers made the decision to take this approach without consulting
members.
This concern is offset only by the fact that officers state it does “not preclude the Council
requesting further noise measurements and monitoring.” [Mr Cole S&R 01/02/21]

Basis of Predictions
6 Noise levels at locations around a wind farm can be predicted using an industry-standard
prediction model based on ISO 9613-2. The absolute levels of noise calculated by the
prediction model are subject to some uncertainty, particularly in hilly terrain, but the calculation
of changes in noise levels resulting from a change in the ‘at source’ noise levels (the Sound
Power Levels of the turbines), with all other factors remaining the same, can be expected to be
accurate. In this case the calculated change in noise level resulting from the operating mode
changes, applied by way of corrections to the pre-curtailment noise levels measured in
February-April 2019, would be expected to provide a robust assessment of the wind farm noise
levels that would be experienced at Birchwood House following mitigation.

What do Mr Davis and Mr Cole mean by their statement “can be expected to be accurate”?
Are they saying that in these circumstances the predictions are accurate or that they are not
accurate?

Proposed Changes to Operating Modes

7 Wind turbines can be operated in different ‘modes’, which provide the means of reducing the
noise emitted from the turbine (the Sound Power Level) over a range of wind speeds, although
operation in a ‘reduced-noise’ mode results in some loss of electrical power generation. For
the Senvion MM82 turbines three different standard modes are available (A, B and C), with C
being the lowest-noise mode. The combinations of operating modes in effect when the 2019
noise surveys were carried out, the modes currently in use, and the modes now proposed to
achieve additional noise reduction, are shown in the documents in Appendices 1 and 2 and
summarised below. These modes apply only for wind directions between 200º and 350º (from
N) in which Birchwood House is downwind of the wind farm.

Page 39

Agenda Item 7
Appendix C
Turbine number
Date

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

108

109

1 200-255

A

B

C

B

A

A

A

A

A

2 255-350

A

B

C

B

A

C

A

A

A

Current

3 200-350

A

C

C

C

C

C

A

A

A

Proposed

4 200-350

C

C

C

C

C

C

A

C

A

2019 (during noise survey)

Wind directions
(degrees from N)

Table 1 Turbine Operating modes – 2019 (during noise survey), Current and Proposed

The loss of electrical power generation is irrelevant to this report.
The turbines can also be switched off at times when they would otherwise cause exceedances of the
noise limits
The obvious issue with the proposed reductions to the turbine noise levels is that Turbine 103 is one of
the three nearest turbines to Birchwood but the noise from it will not be reduced.

Page 2 of 8
North Devon Council

Interpretation of data
8 On reviewing the available information, it became clear that predicting the reduction in noise
levels resulting from the proposed mitigation was not straightforward. Two particular factors
became apparent:
∙ The operating modes in effect in 2019
9 The results of the 2019 measurement survey at Birchwood House were based on
measurements made when the wind direction was between 200 and 350 degrees (i.e.
generally from the West). This is the ‘worst case’ wind sector for Birchwood House since this
location would be downwind of the wind farm. However, the information now available
(Appendix 2) shows that the turbines were being operated in slightly different modes for the
sectors 200-255º and 255-350º, T106 being in either mode A or mode C. This has the effect
that applying the further mitigation will result in less noise reduction for wind directions 255350º (since noise from T106 is not being further reduced) than for the 200-255º sectors. This is
considered in paragraph 16 below. (The 2019 noise survey Report did not include separate
assessment of noise in these two sectors).
∙ The effects of vertical wind shear

Page 40

Agenda Item 7
Appendix
C by the wind
10 The turbine noise emission (Sound Power Level) of a wind turbine is
determined
speed at the hub-height of the turbine (in this case 63 m above ground level). The noise
limits in the planning conditions are referred to the wind speed measured 10 metres above
the ground and the compliance measurements carried out to date are related to the
measurements at 10 m above ground at the site anemometer mast. The wind speed at 10 m
is (in almost all situations) lower than the wind speed at hub height (‘wind shear’). Turbine
manufacturers quote Sound Power Levels in terms of both hub height and ‘standardised’ 10
metre wind speeds, the 10 m standardised wind speed being calculated on the basis of a
‘standard’ value for wind shear which is only usually applicable to sites on flat unobstructed
ground.

11 For the Batsworthy site there is evidence that the local wind shear is greater than the
‘standard’ value. The value assigned to wind shear has a significant effect on the prediction
of the noise reduction that will result from the proposed mitigation, as explained in
paragraphs 12 and 13 below. There are two separate factors involved:
(a) Measurements of wind shear at the position of the original meteorological mast were made
prior to the 2012 planning appeal (presented in the Supplementary Environmental Information
(SEI). These measurements showed enhanced wind shear (i.e. wind shear greater than the
standard value on which the turbine manufacturer’s noise data is based). The effect of this
was incorporated into the noise predictions presented at the appeal, using the highest value
of wind shear (not the average value) for the purposes of predicting the highest noise level
likely to occur.

(b) As mentioned in paragraph 2, the site operator (RES) has observed that the anemometer
mast used for the wind speed measurements during the compliance surveys is in a more
sheltered position than the original site mast. RES have presented the results of computer
modelling that indicates that that as a result of the more sheltered mast position the ‘effective‘
Page 3 of 8
North Devon Council

wind shear between the turbine hub height and the current 10 m mast might be further
increased. The calculated effect is that wind speeds measured at 10 m height on the current
mast may be about 10% lower, for a given wind speed at hub height, than would be
measured at the original mast position.
Therefore predicting the noise reduction that would result from the proposed mitigation
needs to take account of the combined or ‘cumulative’ wind shear resulting from these two
factors, although this would present a ‘worst case’, as explained in paragraph 18 below.
12 Figure 1 below shows the Sound Power Levels (the ‘at source’ noise emission) from the
MM82 turbine in the three optional modes (A, B and C) plotted against wind speed at hub
height. These levels are obtained from data sheets published by the manufacturer, Senvion.
106
e
W2
10
1

104 102 100 98

L
r
e

e

96

w
r
o
B

P

d
l

dn
u

e

o

v

S

94
92

Page 41

90

Agenda
IllustrationItem
of Sound 7

Type A

height wind speed m/s

Power
Appendix
C Levels of MM82

Type B

turbine for different
operating modes

Type C
6 6.5 7 7.5 8 8.5 9 9.5 10
Tupe A

10.5 11 11.5 12 12.5 Hub

Figure 1

13 The above graph shows that the noise reduction resulting from changing to a ‘lower noise’
mode is very dependent on the hub height wind speed. The compliance assessment is
based on wind speed measured at 10 m height – in this case we are concerned with noise
levels when the 10 m height wind speed is around 7 m/s. For ‘standard’ wind shear, a wind
speed at 10 m height of 7 m/s corresponds to a hub-height wind speed of about 9.4 m/s. At
this hub height wind speed, mode C is more than 4 dB quieter than mode A, and more than 2
dB quieter than mode B. However, higher wind shear means that a hub height wind speed
higher than 9.4 m/s is required to achieve a 7 m/s wind speed at 10 m height. Increasing hub
height wind speed increases the noise level (although only marginally in mode A, because
the curve ‘flattens out’ at high wind speeds) but, more importantly, has the effect of reducing
the noise benefit of changing to a ‘quieter’ mode. For example, at a hub-height wind speed of
12 m/s, which could correspond to a 10 m height wind speed of 7 m/s in very high wind shear
conditions, mode C is only about 2 dB quieter than Mode A and less than 1 B quieter than
Mode B.
14 This means that the predicted noise reduction resulting from the proposed mode changes is
very dependent on the value assigned to wind shear. The range of likely values of wind shear,
based on the available information, has been assessed in the following analysis.

How can predicted noise reductions be ‘expected to be accurate’ if they are ‘very dependent’ on
“likely” wind shear values.

Page 4 of 8
North Devon Council

Results of Predictions
15 Predictions using ISO 9613-2, following the recommendations in the Institute of Acoustics
Good Practice Guide and associated documents, show the following reduction in wind farm
noise level at Birchwood House at a 10 m wind speed of 7 m/s. As discussed above the
result is dependent on the value assumed for wind shear:

How can predicted noise reductions be ‘expected to be accurate’ if they are dependent on the
value of “assumed” wind shear.

Page 42

Agenda Item 7
Appendix C
Wind shear

Effect of mitigation at 7 m/s wind speed
Wind sector 200-255º

Wind sector 255-350°

1 No excess (’standard’) wind shear

-2.3 dB

-1.9 dB

2 Site wind shear as SEI (highest values)

-1.4 dB

-1.1 dB

-1.0 dB

-0.8 dB

3 Cumulative shear - (2)+effect of mast position

Table 2 - Predicted noise reductions at 7 m/s (10 m height) wind speed for different wind shea r

16 As expected, the noise reduction achieved for winds in the 255-350° sector is less than for
the 200-255° sector for the reason explained in paragraph 9. However the predictions also
show that the noise levels at Birchwood House when the winds are in the 255-350° sector
would be 0.3 dB lower than for the 200-255° sector. Examination of the 2019 noise survey
data confirms this differential (a greater difference was actually deduced from the
measurements). This lower ‘starting point’ compensates for the lesser noise reduction in the
255-300° sector. Therefore the assessment can be based on the values in the ‘200-255°’
column above and the values in the ‘255-350°' column can be ignored.

It is unsurprising but of note bearing in mind officers' reliance on predictions, that in the
above circumstances, the predicted difference is less than the measured difference
between the two wind sectors considered above i.e. the predictions are shown not to be
accurate.

17 The RES prediction of noise reduction (Appendix 1) was based on the same input as (2)
above (i.e. the maximum wind shear value from the SEI, not including the additional shear
indicated by RES’s own calculations). On this basis, RES predicted a 1.5 dB reduction: this
compares with our prediction of 1.4 dB. The difference of 0.1 dB is trivial and is probably
explained by differences in the way the wind shear effect is calculated, which requires some
manual interpolation between wind speeds.

As shown in the above, the predictions are again found to be inaccurate, this time
depending upon who is performing the “manual interpolation” between wind speeds.
Importantly, Mr Davis and Mr Cole already find the operator’s predicted noise reductions
to fall short by 0.1dB.

18 For the ‘cumulative’ wind shear (3) the predictions show that the noise reduction would be
limited to 1.0 dB, resulting in a mitigated noise level of 40.5 dB at 7 m/s wind speed.
However the compliance assessment is intended to cover a range of conditions (although
always for the downwind direction): predictions (2) and (3) assume the ‘worst case’ wind
shear values from the SEI data and these would not be experienced over an extended
period. The ‘cumulative’ wind shear prediction will therefore overstate the mitigated average

Page 43

Agenda Item 7

noise level (and understate the average noise reduction). For this reason there is reasonable
Appendix
certainty that the average noise reduction would be greater than 1.0
dB, and C
therefore that
the average noise level at Birchwood House, after the proposed mitigation, would be lower
than 40.5 dB LA90.

What is meant by an “extended period”; what is the frequency and duration of the ‘worst case’
wind shear conditions. Such nebulous statements need refining and backing up with evidence.
Importantly, Mr Davis and Mr Cole find the operator’s predicted noise reductions to fall short by a
further 0.4dB i.e. the operator’s predicted noise reductions are short by 0.5dB in total, the
predicted turbine noise levels being 40.5dB.
Referencing average noise levels, Mr Davis and Mr Coles write of “reasonable certainty that the
average noise level … would be lower than 40.5 dB LA90.”
However, following the C37 methodology approved by Mr Davis, the average noise level needs
to be lower than or equal to 40 dB LA90 not lower than 40.5 dB LA90.
Further, the compliance condition, Condition 37 refers to condition 35 which refers to noise levels
not to “average” noise levels so all in all the above paragraph 18 says little of consequence.
Added to which, if you put your head in the oven and your feet in the fridge, on “average” you’ll
be perfectly comfortable.

19 It is standard practice (as adopted in BS4142-2014, for example) to ‘round’ environmental
noise levels to the nearest integer value. It should be noted that the noise limits in the planning
conditions, although based on background noise levels that were originally quoted to one
decimal place, are ‘rounded’ values. The ‘rounding’ process also recognises that a noise level
difference of less than 0.5 dB is subjectively undetectable. Therefore a calculated noise level
below 40.5 dB (between, say, 39.6 and 40.4 dB) is rounded to a level of 40 dB.

The assessment method under consideration in this report is ETSU-R-97 not BS4142.
Mr Davis and Mr Cole write that a noise level of “below” 40.5 dB is rounded to a level of 40 dB.
This explicitly implies that a noise level of “equal to or above” 40.5 dB is rounded up to 41 dB.
Further, UK Noise Policy requires that where there is scientific uncertainty, the precautionary
principle applies which means that the polluter pays so in the case of a wind turbine noise level
of 40.5dB, if rounding were to be applied it would be to 41 dB.
The operator’s noise consultant, HLA do not round their predictions to the nearest integer in their
“Batsworthy Cross Wind Farm, Devon Supplementary Analysis Report 16/06/2017” let alone
round a predicted noise level of 40.5 dB down to 40 dB so how on earth do Mr Davis and Mr
Cole find it appropriate to do so.

Page 44

Agenda Item 7

Besides what is the point of working with predictions that Mr Davis and Mr Cole say “can be
Appendix C
expected to be accurate” if they are going to make them inaccurate by rounding them to the
nearest integer.

Page 5 of 8
North Devon Council

Conclusions
20 From the available information, our judgement is that if the proposed mitigation (as set out in
Table 1) is applied there is reasonable certainty that the average wind farm noise level at
Birchwood House at a wind speed of 7 m/s, in downwind conditions, would be lower than
40.5 dB. Therefore, when rounded to the nearest integer value in accordance with standard
industry practice, the noise level would not exceed 40 dB. This would then comply with the
night time noise limit at this wind speed at this location.

Had they insisted on actual noise measurements, Mr Davis and Mr Cole would not be bound by
the available information and would be able to make more than a ‘judgement’ or ‘consideration’
of compliance.
Condition 37 does not refer to judgement or reasonable certainty or average noise levels or 40.5
dB limit for 7 m/s downwind speeds for Birchwood.
Condition 37 refers to directly measured noise levels being lower than or equal to 40dB not
40.5dB for 7 m/s downwind speeds for Birchwood.
See comments under paragraph 19 re the rounding.

21 It should also be noted that the proposed mitigation applied in the 200-350° wind sector (at
all times) has the further effect of reducing noise at lower wind speeds – about 2 dB at 5
m/s, for example, for these wind directions. Noise levels are already lower than the limits at
these wind speeds, although noise is audible at some dwellings and a reduction of 2 dB
could be detectable. Therefore this is a secondary effect of the proposed mitigation that
might be perceived as a benefit at dwellings around Birchwood House and also, in some
wind directions, at other dwellings including Dikens and All Angels

Page 45

Agenda Item 7

It would be discriminatory to Birchwood should there be any suggestion or even perceived
Appendix C
suggestion that a significant predicted noise decrease at other locations should provide some
form of validation of acceptance of exceedances at Birchwood.

Besides, this is not a secondary effect or some sort of accidental bonus for residents, this is the
way the noise limits work i.e. compliance with the noise limits at one location impacts residents at
other locations. This emphasises the importance of compliance in as much as it impacts
residents all around the site. Indeed non compliance at Birchwood results in higher noise levels
elsewhere around the site.
Reductions in noise levels elsewhere around the site, especially to the south of the site and
especially in lower wind speeds, could mean that any tonal noise is more pronounced resulting in
a tonal penalty or a greater tonal penalty. This needs addressing.

22 Overall, we consider that the predictions of the effect of the proposed noise mitigation, when
applied to the 2019 noise measurements at Birchwood House, provide robust evidence that
the night time noise limit of 40 dB LA90 at 7 m/s wind speed at this location will be complied
with.

How has the “reasonable certainty” expressed in paragraph 20 morphed into “robust evidence”.
The words “We consider” represent the provision of an opinion.
Condition 37 requires the results of direct noise measurements to show compliance, not opinion.
Compliance is binary; the wind turbines at Batsworthy Cross are either compliant with their noise
limits or they are not. The planning conditions make no provision for a judgement of reasonable
certainty of compliance based on predictions which depend on assumed likely wind shear values.

Page 6 of 8
North Devon Council

Appendix 1
Text of email from S Higman (RES) to NDC ( Matthew Brown/A Cole) of 13 January 2021
Thank you for your email of the 5th January 2021. On behalf of Batsworthy Cross Wind Farm,

thank you for your acknowledgement of the satisfactory receipt of information in relation to bullet
points 1 and 2.
Whilst BCWF don’t accept the necessity for further
as detailed in previous
Pagecurtailment,
46

Agenda Item 7

submissions to the Council, in the interest of expediency BCWF would like to propose the
Appendix C
following mitigation strategy to bring things to a conclusion:
CurtailmentTurbine Number (Sector 200 – 350°)
Regime

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

108

109

Current (post)

A

C

C

C

C

C

A

A

A

Proposed (new)

C

C

C

C

C

C

A

C

A

As you can see, compared to the previous mitigation strategy, this new strategy involves putting
two additional turbines (101 & 108) into Mode C for the wind direction sector in question, i.e. 200
– 350°.
This new mitigation strategy results in noise immission level predictions for the proxy location @
Birchwood House for this sector as follows:
Wind Speed at 10 m Height / (m/s)
Curtailment
Regime
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Feb-Ap 2019 (pre) 32.9 35.5 37.6 39.2 39.9 40.3 40.9 41.3
Current (post) 32.7 34.5 36.1 37.9 39.0 39.8 40.7 41.3
Proposed (new) 32.6 33.9 35.3 37.1 38.4 39.4 40.6 41.2

As you can see, this achieves the 1.5 dB reduction which the Council believe to be necessary, i.e.
(39.9 dB - 38.4 dB = 1.5 dB).
I would be grateful if you could confirm that, if BCWF were to implement this strategy, it would
resolve the matter and the Council could confirm discharge of planning Condition 35. Once we
have this reassurance then BCWF will implement it and provide proof, in the same format as
before, that this has been done.

Page 7 of 8
North Devon Council

Appendix 2

Tezt of email from Siemens-Gamesa Renewable Energy Services submitted by RES to
the Council by email on 18 December 2021
Page 47

Agenda Item 7
Appendix C

Page 8 of 8

Page 48

Agenda Item 8

Flood Investigation
Report
Barnstaple and Devon-Wide
Floods 17th August 2020

This flood investigation report has been produced by Devon County Council as
a Lead Local Flood Authority under Section 19 of the Flood and Water
Management Act 2010.

Page 49

Agenda Item 8

1. Introduction
The Flood Risk Regulations 2009 and the Flood and Water Management Act 2010
(the Act) have established unitary and upper tier local authorities as the Lead Local
Flood Authority (LLFA) for their area. This has placed a number of responsibilities on
the LLFA in relation to flood risk management and in particular Section 19 of the Act
which states:
Flood and Water Management Act 2010: Section 19 – Local Authorities:
investigations
1) On becoming aware of a flood in its area, a lead local flood authority
must, to the extent that it considers it necessary or appropriate,
investigate a) which risk management authorities have relevant flood risk
management functions, and
b) whether each of those risk management authorities has exercised,
or is proposing to exercise, those functions in response to the
flood.
2) Where an authority carries out an investigation under subsection (1) it
must a) publish the results of its investigation, and
b) notify any relevant risk management authorities.
Flood and Water Management Act (2010), S.19, c.29, London: HMSO
A ‘Risk Management Authority’ (RMA) means:
(a) the Environment Agency (EA),
(b) a lead local flood authority,
(c) a district council for an area for which there is no unitary authority,
(d) an internal drainage board,
(e) a water company, and
(f) a highway authority.
When considering if it is necessary or appropriate to investigate a flood event Devon
County Council (DCC) will review the severity of the incident, the number of
properties affected and the frequency of such an occurrence. Devon’s Local Flood
Risk Management Strategy clearly sets out the criteria to be used when considering
a Flood Investigation Report.
Although not all of the locations in this report meet the significance threshold of 5 or
more properties flooded, to ensure that the full extent of the flooding is appreciated
and recorded it has been decided to include all locations brought to our attention
which experienced any internal property flooding, and also other areas of particular
concern.
In partnership with the other RMAs in Devon this report has been produced to comply
with legislation and to determine the main causes of the flooding. It should be noted
that in order to progress with their flood risk management function DCC has opted to
develop this report further by considering the various actions that should be

Page 50

Agenda Item 8

considered by the relevant RMA. DCC as the LLFA will continue to monitor the list of
actions with all of the RMAs and will assist in the delivery where practical to do so.
Each affected area or group of smaller areas investigated within this report will have
a number of recommended actions to be taken forward by the relevant RMAs or in
some cases, by the land owner or local community action group. There are various
levels of action that can be taken depending on the severity of the situation and the
practical solutions available to reduce the risk of further flooding. The recommended
actions will generally fall into one of the following categories:
Delivery of Quick win schemes: a solution that can be implemented quickly by the
Risk Management Authorities or Local Authority at relatively low cost; some of these
have already been completed as this report has been progressed.
Further investigation/research: Further investigations such as catchment studies
and hydrological/hydraulic assessments to understand the flow rates and directional
paths and evaluate the extent of flooding. These would provide evidence for future
capital investment.
Development of Future schemes: Where immediate action is not financially viable
or a solution not readily available then a larger scale flood alleviation scheme may be
required. In such cases national funding would need to be secured together with
additional contributions from others, such as local levy, local authorities and other
third parties.
Land owner action: Members of the public who own land adjacent to watercourses
have riparian responsibilities and therefore have a duty to maintain their section of
watercourse to ensure there is no impediment of flow. Other works to protect their
property may also need to be funded by themselves to ensure delivery within their
timescales.
Community action: In some cases it may be prudent for community groups to join
forces and deliver and maintain their own local schemes. In some cases this may
generate further contributions from local levy or the LLFA.
This investigation report will provide a starting point, with suggested actions being
further refined in the light of further studies and where possible, through further dialog
with the affected communities.
Recommended Actions:
The purpose of this report is to act as a tool for all of the relevant RMAs to
understand and appreciate the extent of flooding in their area and to consider and
prioritise those actions relevant to their authority. Due to the extent of flooding, not
only from the events covered in this report, the level of recommended actions far
exceeds the budgets and resources available to enable them to be delivered
immediately. Although we take all flooding issues seriously it should therefore be
appreciated that some actions may not be progressed within the timescales expected
by some residents or communities. Every effort will be made to progress the actions
if and when suitable funding is obtained.
The recommended actions highlighted in this report will be used by the LLFA to
monitor progress achieved by the RMAs.

Page 51

Agenda Item 8

2. Risk Management Authority Responsibilities
2.1 Recording Flood Incidents
LLFAs must now record flood incidents as part of their new duties. The information
below shows the national guidance given as part of the Preliminary Flood Risk
Assessment Spreadsheet submission to the EA, which outlines information to be
collected by LLFAs.
Information the LLFA must now record
• LLFAs should record the following information from December 2011 Devon
County Council (DCC) will record this on the DCC flood incident database:
• Start Date
• Days duration
• Probability
• Main source: Surface water runoff; Groundwater; Ordinary watercourses;
Artificial infrastructure; Main rivers; The sea; No data
• Main mechanism: Natural exceedance; Defence exceedance; Failure;
Blockage or restriction; or No data
• Main characteristics: Natural flood; Flash flood; Deep flood; Snow melt flood;
No data
• Significant consequences:
• To human health (residential properties)
• To economy (non residential properties)
• To the environment (designated sites flooded)
2.2 Key Responsibilities
RMAs in Devon all have their own roles and responsibilities. The general RMA
responsibilities in relation to flood risk and surface water management are outlined
below:
The Environment Agency is responsible for managing the risk from the sea, Main
Rivers and reservoirs and has a strategic overview role for all flood risk management,
making it a key local partner for DCC, especially when managing the risk from
combined sources and in the event of a large flood incident. The EA also provides a
flood warning service throughout England and Wales in areas at risk of flooding from
rivers or the sea.
Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority is responsible for
overseeing the flood risk from Ordinary Watercourses, groundwater and surface
water runoff. They are also responsible for consenting to works on Ordinary
Watercourses and enforcing the removal of any unlawful structure or obstruction
within the watercourse. And, as previously stated they must ensure that a flooding
investigation is carried out by the relevant authority and publish a report. DCC must
also prepare a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy and maintain a register of
flood risk assets.
Local District Councils are classified as land drainage authorities with discretionary
powers under the Land Drainage Act, such as the implementation and maintenance
of flood defences on ordinary watercourses. They also have powers under the Public
Health Act to ensure the removal of any blockage within an Ordinary watercourse

Page 52

Agenda Item 8

that is considered a nuisance. As a planning authority they are responsible for the
preparation of development plans and making decisions based on planning policy.
Devon County Council as the Highway Authority maintains the highway drainage
system to reduce the amount of standing water on the highway. This is achieved by
limiting the water on the roads and ensuring that they are kept clear of rainwater;
including the maintenance of highway gullies and culverts.
The Highways Agency is responsible for managing, maintaining and improving the
Motorway and trunk roads across England and any associated drainage and flood
risk.
Land/Property Owners that have a watercourse in or adjacent to their land have
riparian responsibilities on that watercourse. This means the landowner must:
-

Let water flow through their land without any obstruction, pollution or diversion
which affects the rights of others.
Accept flood flows through their land, even if these are caused by inadequate
capacity downstream.
Keep the banks clear of anything that could cause an obstruction and
increase flood risk, either on their land or downstream if it is washed away.
Maintain the bed and banks of the watercourse and the trees and shrubs
growing on the banks and should also clear any litter or debris from the
channel and banks, even if it did not come from their land.
Keep any structures, such as culverts, trash screens and debris grills, weirs
and mill gates, clear of debris.

The LLFA must also take an overseeing role to ensure that all flood risk is being
managed appropriately.
In small localised groundwater and surface water flooding incidents which do not
reach the threshold level to trigger a flood investigation by the LLFA under Section
19, the Local Authorities will work in partnership to consider the appropriate action.
All RMAs have a duty to co-operate and to share information in relation to their flood
risk management functions.

3. Flood Incident Summary and Impact
3.1 Incident Summary
On the 17th August 2020, significant flooding was experienced in Devon as a result of
some intense and very localised rainfall events. Drainage systems became
overwhelmed with the sheer volume of surface runoff which led to high numbers of
internal property flooding. The area worst affected was Barnstaple; other areas
affected include Exeter, Holsworthy, Newton Abbot, Okehampton, North Tawton and
Crediton. In total, 175 properties suffered internal flooding (128 residential and 47
commercial). Of this, 164 of the properties were in Barnstaple. Figure 3.1 shows the
extent of the flooding across Devon.

Page 53

Agenda Item 8

Table 3.1 lists the towns and villages affected on this date together with the reported
number of properties flooded in each location. These have been identified on Figure
3.1 to show the geographical extent of flooding across Devon. It should be noted that
the flooded locations have been reported alphabetically and not in any order of
priority.
Table 3.1 List of towns and villages affected

Location

Number of
properties flooded

Source of flooding

164

Surface Water

Crediton

1

Surface Water

Exeter

6

Surface Water

Holsworthy

1

Surface Water

Newton Abbot

1

Surface Water

North Tawton

1

Surface Water

Okehampton

1

Surface Water

Barnstaple

Total properties flooded: 175

Flood Incident of
17th August 2020

!
(

Number of properties
flooded:

!
(

Barnstaple

!
(

1
6

!
(

164

Devon
District Council Boundaries

!
(

Holsworthy

!
(

!
(
Okehampton

Crediton

!
(
North Tawton
Date:

!
(

Exeter

August 2020

Scale:

0 1 2

!
(
Newton Abbot

4 Miles

/

Flood Risk Management
Environment Group
Planning, Transportation and Environment
Devon County Council
Room 120, County Hall
Exeter, EX2 4QD

© Crown Copyright and database right 2020.
Ordnance Survey 100019783

Figure 3.1: Devon wide map showing locations that were flooded.

Page 54

Agenda Item 8

3.2 Data and Information Collation
It should be noted that this report is only based on the information brought to the
attention of DCC through its professional partners, the media and the public and where
further investigation by the authorities have identified additional flooded properties.
Therefore, it cannot be guaranteed to contain an exact or exhaustive list of individual
properties or affected communities on the August 17th 2020 event.
3.3 Highway Infrastructure
During this event, significant surface water flooding affected the Highway network
across Devon. Notable areas affected are detailed in the following list:
•
•
•
•

Barnstaple Town Centre
The Square in Barnstaple
The A361 and the A39 were both blocked due to flooding, causing congestion
on the surrounding roads
Longbrook Street in Exeter was completely flooded

4. Extent and Impact of Flooding
4.1 Barnstaple
4.1.1 Flood Incident Extent and Impact
Barnstaple was the area worst affected during this flood event and also recorded the
highest number of properties flooded during a single event since DCC became the
Lead local Flood Authority in 2010. The extent of flooding was varied – with some
areas of Barnstaple experiencing mainly external flooding to gardens and
outbuildings, and others suffering from internal flooding to their dwelling or business.
In total 164 properties flooded internally of which 118 were residential and 46
commercial. Figure 4.1 below is a zoomed in map showing the areas of Barnstaple
where property flooding was experienced. The map identifies both the commercial
and residential properties that were flooded and clearly demonstrates the localised
but widespread flooding that was experienced within the town of Barnstaple. No
further property flooding has been reported within other towns and villages in close
proximity.
The flooding event on 17th August was as a result of high intensity rainfall that was
very localised over the town of Barnstaple. This created significant volumes of
surface water that overwhelmed the drainage systems to the extent that they were
unable to drain away effectively. Once the peak of the storm passed the systems
were able to catch up and within a few hours the flood water had drained away,
leaving much devastation behind. As this was a single location event North Devon
Council took the lead in organising the recovery phase, helping the affected residents
with the clear up and also set up a local recovery fund to assist with material losses.

Page 55

Agenda Item 8

Flood Incident of
17th August 2020

Barnstaple Properties
Flooded:
Commercial/Residential

!
(
!
(
(
!
( !
!
(
!
(

!
(
!
(

Commercial
Residential

!
(
!
(!
!
(
(
!
(
!
(
!
(
(
!
(!
!
(
(
!
( !
!
!
(!
(
!
(
(
!
!
!
!
!
(
(!
(
(
(
!
(
(
!
(
!
(
(
!!
(
!
(
!
(
!
(
!
(
(
!
(!
!
(
!
(!
(
!
( !
!
( !
!
(
!
(!
!
(
((!
(
(!
!
(
!
( !
(
(
!
(!
(! !
!
(
(
!
( !
(
!
(!
!
(
!
(!
((
( !
!
((
!
( !
(!
(!
(
!
(!
!
(!
(!
(
!
!
( !
(
(
(!
(
!
(
!!
(
(!
(
!
(
!
((
!
((!
!
(
( !
!
(
!
(!
( !
( !
!
(
!
(
!
(

!
(

!
(
!
(
!
!
(
(
!
(
!
(

!
(

Date:

!
!
( (
!
(
!
(

!
(
!
(
!
(
!
(

August 2020

Scale:

00.045
0.09 0.18 Miles

!
!
((

!
(!
(
!
(

/

Flood Risk Management
Environment Group
Planning, Transportation and Environment
Devon County Council
Room 120, County Hall
Exeter, EX2 4QD

© Crown Copyright and database right 2020.
Ordnance Survey 100019783

!
(

Figure 4.1: A map showing the commercial and residential properties flooded in Barnstaple

4.1.2 Historic Flooding
There has been previous flooding experienced in Barnstaple, with the following
incidents recorded
29/10/2000
10/10/2006
03/01/2014
19/01/2016
03/09/2016
05/09/2016
19/11/2016
20/11/2016

2 properties flooded in the Bradiford area
4 properties reported to have flooded internally in the stick
Highway flooding in the Square
2 properties flooded in the Signal Terrace/Clifton Terrace area
Highway flooding in the Market Street area
Highway flooding in the Raleigh Road area
3 properties flooded in the Bradiford area
5 properties flooded in Sherrats Oak, Raleigh

4.1.3 Data Gathered
There are no rainfall gauges in Barnstaple and with this intense rainfall event being
extremely localised the nearby rainfall gauges outside of Barnstaple do not illustrate
the extent of the rainfall experienced. However, a volunteer observer in Barnstaple
recorded 61.6mm of rainfall. Figure 4.2 below shows the Rainfall Radar data for
Barnstaple, taken at 16:55 by the Met Office, clearly identifying the peak intensity of
the storm passing directly over the town.

Page 56

Agenda Item 8

Figure 4.2: Rainfall Radar data for Barnstaple taken at 16:55 by the Met Office

4.1.4 Effect on the Highway
Many of the key roads were impassable and the traffic was brought to a standstill.
The Square was an area of note which had high levels of surface water and was
impassable. Furthermore, the A361 and the A39 were both blocked due to flooding,
causing congestion on the surrounding roads. The flooding was a result of a very
short duration, high intensity rainfall event, subsequently causing the local drainage
network to be overwhelmed and rapidly surcharge, with flood water being unable to
enter the system. Typically, these highway drainage systems are not designed to
cope with such high intensity short duration rainfall events, the volume of water is
therefore likely to have exceeded the drainage design capacity, but once the storm
abated the flood water was able to drain away.
4.1.5 Previous Studies
Following the events of 2016, a high-level assessment was carried out to understand
the surface water risk within the central area of Barnstaple. This determined that the
highest concentration of properties at risk were within the town centre area and
mainly commercial property. The funding mechanism available did not include
commercial properties and therefore a cost beneficial scheme could not be justified
to secure Flood Defence Grant in Aid from Defra. Barnstaple was prioritised
accordingly.

4.2 Exeter
Central Exeter was another area that had a high level of internal property flooding.
Six properties flooded internally, of which 5 were residential and 1 was commercial.
Longbrook Street and Victoria Street were areas of note with high levels of surface
water.

Page 57

Agenda Item 8

4.3 Devon–wide
A range of other areas were affected to a lesser extent across Devon including
Crediton, Holsworthy, Newton Abbot, North Tawton and Okehampton. Between
these areas, 5 properties flooded in total, all of which were residential. The intense
rainfall and short duration of the localised storm led to a large volume of surface
water overwhelming the drainage systems adjacent to the individual properties.

5.0 Recommended Actions
The following actions in Table 5.1 are recommended for the areas affected in this
chapter.
Table 5.1. Recommended actions for the Barnstaple area.

Action By

Recommended Action

How

General actions recommended for the areas featured in this chapter:
LLFA/ Property
Owners

Increase community resilience.

To install Property Flood Resilience
(PFR) measures where necessary in
liaison with appropriate Risk
Management Authorities. Devon
County Council Flood Risk
Management (LLFA) currently has a
PFR Funding Scheme.

DCC Highways

To ensure efficient operation of highway
drains and culverts.

Review and carry out maintenance in
problem areas and consider providing
additional gullies

Parish/Town Council

Increase community resilience to
affected community.

Ensure Community Emergency Plan
is up to date. Support available from
DCC and Environment Agency.

SWW

Ensure efficient operation of public
combined and surface water sewers.

Continue maintenance regime and
consider storm separation where
appropriate.

DCC Highways

To ensure efficient operation of highway
drains and culverts.

Review highway gullies and consider
whether any maintenance issues
require attention.

DCC LLFA

Consider options for mitigating surface
water flood risk to areas identified in the
Barnstaple surface water investigation.

Progress with the Barnstaple surface
water investigation to consider
preferred options and opportunities
for securing funding and resources
for potential flood improvement
works.

Barnstaple

Page 58

Agenda Item 8

Property Owners

Consider flood risk to own properties.

To install PFR where necessary and
make properties more resilient to
flooding.

SWW

Ensure efficient operation of public
combined and surface water sewers.

Continue maintenance regime and
consider storm separation where
appropriate.

Environment Agency

Consider interaction with main river and
tidal influences on surface water
discharges

Work with other RMAs to assist with
holistic approach to flood risk
management

North Devon Council

To ensure flood risk is managed from
new developments.

Encourage sustainable drainage
practices for new developments.

DCC LLFA / DCC
Highways

Investigate any opportunities to improve
the drainage in the area.

LLFA and DCC highways to work in
partnership and prioritise in line with
other workloads.

DCC LLFA

Consider options for improving surface
water flood risk to areas identified in the
Exeter SWMP.

Deliver actions identified in Exeter
SWMP and consider PFR
installations where appropriate.

Property Owners

Consider flood risk to own properties.

To install PFR where necessary and
make properties more resilient to
flooding.

DCC LLFA

Identified in the local strategy as a high
priority community.

Consider local opportunities to
reduce risk in line with other priorities

Property Owners

Consider flood risk to own property.

To install PFR where necessary and
make properties more resilient to
flooding.

DCC LLFA / DCC
Highways

Investigate any opportunities to improve
the drainage in the area.

Consider local opportunities to
reduce risk. in line with other priorities

Property Owners

Consider flood risk to own property.

To install PFR where necessary and
make properties more resilient to
flooding.

Environment Agency
DCC LLFA
Exeter

Crediton

Holsworthy

Page 59

Agenda Item 8

Newton Abbot
DCC LLFA

Investigate any opportunities to improve
the drainage in the area

Consider local opportunities to
reduce risk in line with other priorities.

Property Owners

Consider flood risk to own property.

To install PFR where necessary and
make properties more resilient to
flooding.

DCC LLFA / DCC
Highways

Investigate any opportunities to improve
the drainage in the area.

Consider local opportunities to
reduce risk in line with other priorities.

Property Owners

Consider flood risk to own properties.

To install PFR where necessary and
make properties more resilient to
flooding.

LLFA

Investigate any opportunities to improve
the drainage in the area.

Consider local opportunities to
reduce risk in line with other priorities.

Property Owners

Consider flood risk to own property.

To install PFR where necessary and
make properties more resilient to
flooding.

North Tawton

Okehampton

6. Next Steps
The next steps following this report will be for DCC as the LLFA to ensure that the
recommended action tables in each chapter are presented to the responsible Risk
Management Authority. DCC will consider their actions in line with other priorities and
monitor delivery through regular reviews, whilst working in partnership with the EA,
District Councils, South West Water and the local communities affected.
There is an expectation from DCC of itself and its partners that all authorities involved
will cooperate and work together to improve the flood risk in the vulnerable areas
identified in this report by completing the recommended actions. As the LLFA, DCC
has a responsibility to oversee the delivery of these actions.
Where minor works and quick win schemes have been identified, these will be
prioritised and subject to available funding and resources will be carried out as soon
as possible by the relevant authority or landowner. Any major works requiring capital
investment will be considered through the EA’s Medium-Term Plan process.
A review of the actions will be carried out by DCC as the LLFA in order to monitor
progress and encourage delivery of recommended actions.

Page 60

Agenda Item 10

Open

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL
Report To:

Strategy and Resources Committee

Report Date:

12th April 2021

Topic:

Home Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty

Report by:

J W Mann - Head of Environmental Health and Housing
Services and W Slate – Service Lead (Home Improvement and
Adaptions and Energy Efficiency).

1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 This paper provides the Committee with a number of recommendations to:
support an increase in energy efficiency; reduce fuel poverty; and
increase the take up of renewable energy technologies, by supporting
households with targeted interventions and cross sector funding.
1.2 The interventions have also been designed to support the sustainment of
new tenancies and help with the Council’s homelessness prevention work.
1.3 Domestic energy use accounts for approximately one-third of all the CO2
emissions in the district. Adoption of these recommendations will make
North Devon Council more pro-active in reaching the net zero carbon
district target of 2050.
1.4 The proposals set out in the paper are in accordance with the Gov’s new
fuel poverty strategy, which was published in February 2021. The paper
is called, “Sustainable Warmth – Protecting Vulnerable Households in
England”, and is available from the Department for Business, Energy and
Industrial Strategy.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1 It is recommended that Members:
2.1.1

Note the cross sector framework to address fuel poverty set out in
Appendix A.

2.1.2

Approve the 5 strand approach to improving home energy
efficiency and reducing fuel poverty, detailed in paragraph 4.5.

Page 61

Agenda Item 10

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1
(Paragraph 2.1.1): To develop a long term approach to promoting the
health and wellbeing of our community with key partners.
3.2
(Paragraph 2.1.2): To put in place a series of measures which will
significantly: increase levels of home energy efficiency; reduce carbon dioxide
emissions and fuel poverty.
4. REPORT
4.1 North Devon Council has a good understanding of fuel poverty levels and the
energy efficiency opportunities available in the area (North Devon – Fuel
Poverty and Domestic Energy Efficiency Analysis – Yes energy solutions,
October 2020).
4.2 A cross sector framework to address fuel poverty has now been developed
through the One Northern Devon collaboration with partners in the CCG,
Healthcare Trust, North Devon Homes, Torridge Council and 361 Energy.
Refer to Appendix A. This reflects the group’s wish to take a holistic approach
to health and wellbeing, and that supporting the reduction of cold and damp
homes is a significant factor in hospital admissions and excess winter deaths.
4.3 Domestic energy accounts for around one-third of the total CO2 emissions for
the district. This is reported on annually by the Department for Businesses,
Energy and Industrial Strategy in their report entitled, “UK local authority and
regional carbon dioxide emissions’ national statistics”: www.gov.uk/Carbon
dioxide statistics
4.4 For ease of reference, the latest data for north Devon has been extracted and
is set out in Appendix B. Reducing domestic energy emissions of CO2 is,
therefore, significant in the evolution of the Council’s climate emergency
strategy and the attainment of the net zero carbon district target of 2050.
4.5 The following approach has been put together for consideration by this
committee to reduce CO2 and enhance community health and wellbeing. It
makes use of the current funding opportunities and collaboration with 361
Community Energy. Officers have reviewed data to identify trends and the
best target areas for vulnerable households and energy efficiency
opportunities. There are 5 elements to this plan:
1.

ECO

The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) is a Government programme
where major utilities are required to provide funding towards the cost of
domestic energy efficiency improvements. The scheme has gone through
various incarnations. The current phase (ECO3) is now predominantly
focussed on supporting fuelPage
poor residents.
62

Agenda Item 10

The latest household energy efficiency statistics1 released by BEIS, show
that 1,722,865 households received ECO funded measures in England up
to the end of June 2020. 143,071 households were from the South West,
representing only 8% of all homes – the third lowest region to see installs
just ahead of the East of England and the North East.
2,381 homes in north Devon have received ECO measures, which
represents 2% of all participating households in the South West. North
Devon trails behind the larger metropolitan authorities in the South West
and is also in 6th place out of the 8 councils in Devon to partake in the
ECO scheme, due to the greater availability of top-up grants in other
areas.
The data suggests that 58.4 households out of every 1,000 have received
an ECO funded measure in north Devon. This is in keeping with the
majority of rural England.
The current ECO3 funding scheme ends in March 2022 and the analysis
of the data identifies many properties where cavity wall insulation and first
time central heating would be appropriate, attracting good rates of
funding. In many cases, most property types suitable for cavity insulation
will be fully subsidised, whereas funding for first time central heating can
cover up to two-thirds of the cost (this is the case for most electrically
heated homes).
Recommendation
Targeted campaigns are delivered in the top 10 Lower Layer Super
Output Areas which have the highest fuel poverty rating. See Appendix
C.
2.

ECO (Flex)

Local Authority Flexible Eligibility (LA Flex) was introduced into the ECO
scheme in 2017 (ECO2T), it is a system which allows councils to set their
own eligibility criteria for private sector residents that do not claim state
benefits. The criteria is set out in a published Statement of Intent and
must support vulnerable people in, or at risk of, fuel poverty.
North Devon issued a Statement of Intent in August 2018.
Compared to many other local authorities, councils across Devon have
utilised LA Flex a great deal, with over 7,000 measures funded through
the mechanism. However, north Devon is one of the lowest contributors
with 654 LA Flex funded measures, but this is still higher than the majority
of district councils of a similar size.
1Data

source: Household Energy Efficiency Statistics

Page 63

Agenda Item 10

Page 64

Agenda Item 10

Recommendation
The revised Statement of Intent set out in Appendix D, is adopted. It is in
line with changes to ECO3 criteria and latest Ofgem guidance.
3.

Blended Funding/Better Care Fund

EPC data suggests that the main measure opportunities in north Devon
are loft insulation top-ups and gas boiler upgrades (as 64% of homes
have a gas connection). In most cases, these measures do not receive
high ECO allocations, resulting in funding shortfalls.
There are over 7,000 lofts that could benefit from increases in insulation,
and almost half are in EPC bands E, F or G. Blending other funding
streams with ECO, such as the Better Care Fund, is vital to ensure low
income householders take advantage. A blended funding approach
aimed at vulnerable householders will ensure that most interventions are
delivered, improving properties and reducing fuel poverty.
There are hundreds of homes in north Devon without central heating or a
gas connection.
Unsurprisingly, the majority of these are in rural locations, and the gas
infrastructure is limited to the larger towns and villages.
Recommendation
The revised Regulatory Reform Order Policy set out in Appendix E, is
adopted. This will enable the Council to support the installation of less
carbon intensive and renewables for heating and hot water.
4.

Delivering Action

Adapting behaviour and gaining knowledge on what lifestyle changes are
required to live more sustainably, will inevitably lead to lower fuel bills and
a reduction in carbon emissions across the community.
However, many people are simply unaware of what they can do to help
preserve energy in their homes and how this will benefit them and the
environment. A resident may have an energy efficient home, but if their
heating system is not programmed properly or regularly maintained, they
could still be wasting energy and money unnecessarily.
Providing residents with tailored energy saving advice, bespoke to their
home and lifestyle, will ensure local residents are better equipped to
reduce their carbon footprint.
The advice needs to cover what interventions are required at a property
level (i.e. measures that could be installed) and what funding options are
available. But it also needsPage
to include
65changes in behaviour, tariff

Agenda Item 10

information, fuel savings’ tips and training on how best to utilise heating
systems to minimise emissions.
Advice is key to closing the knowledge gap and empowering residents to
take control of their energy consumption.
361 Community Energy is already providing a free energy advice service,
through the Local Energy Advice Partnership, a service commissioned by
Agility ECO Ltd. 361 Community Energy’s existing offer includes free
energy saving measures like LED lightbulbs and draft excluders, radiator
reflectors and help with energy debt.
Recommendation
361 Community Energy is commissioned by the Council to provide a
domestic energy advice service. The advice would include:
i)

Behaviour tips – simple lifestyle changes that can make significant
savings (e.g. turning appliances off standby, limiting hot water
usage, low energy lighting, etc.).

ii)

Fabric measures – information on insulation systems for different
properties with guidance on the financial benefits and CO2 savings.

iii)

Heating – promoting the benefits of thermostatic heating controls
and how to maximise comfort whilst saving energy.

iv)

Funding – the latest local, regional or national schemes that offer
support towards the cost of energy efficiency measures.

v)

Fuel switching – advice on the most cost-effective and low carbon
fuel sources relevant to a property’s location.

vi)

Tariff switching – helping resident switch to the best energy deals.

vii)

Renewable energy – advice on the best systems, ancillary products
(e.g. solar batteries) and Government incentives (e.g. Domestic
RHI).
It will be targeted at residents who need more support and are at
most risk of fuel poverty, namely, in the following priority order:
i)

Residents who have applied for a Disabled Facilities Grant.

ii)

Homeless applicants who have been supported to move into
private rented accommodation.

iii)

Residents in receipt of state benefits in relation to Affordable
Warmth Criteria.

Page 66

Agenda Item 10

iv)

Residents that meet the criteria in North Devon Council’s
Statement of Intent.

v)

Residents with a low household income that live in a property
with high running costs (this can be determined via a fuel
poverty assessment).
A contract of £20K yr-1 will provide this enhanced support to
around 200 households each year.

5.

Working to improve standards in the private rented sector

Around 29% of homes with EPCs in north Devon are in bands E, F or G.
Most of these properties could benefit from one or more energy efficiency
measures. There are no obvious clusters for area based initiatives, so the
Council needs to take a broader approach to targeting, focussing on key
measures across the whole catchment.
However, nearly 1,900 homes with poor EPC ratings are privately rented.
The Council has a real opportunity to engage landlords and promote the
funding opportunities available. The Council can also enforce
improvements in some privately rented homes, e.g., through MEES’
legislation.
Recommendation
The Council increases its enforcement action in relation to cold and
energy efficient homes in the private rented sector. This could include,
but will not be limited, to:
1.

Regulation of the Domestic Minimum Energy Efficiency Standard
(MEES) Regulations and the Energy Performance Certificate
Legislation.

2.

The use of HMO licensing conditions/guidance.

4.6 Notwithstanding a focus on these 5 priority programmes of work, officers
will ensure the promotion of the various other energy efficiency initiatives
available in north Devon, such as the Gov’s Green Home Grants.
4.7 Officers will develop a range of indicators to measure the impact of these
interventions.
4.8 Members will then be able to gauge the impact of the interventions and
contribute to its developing climate change emergency plan. As a
minimum this will include: homes supported, money saved on annual fuel
bills and tonnes of CO2 reduced.
4.9 The ECO and Green Homes Grant Schemes are complex.
Notwithstanding the significant funding set aside for this intervention (the
Green Homes Grant is a £2Page
billion initiative),
take-up is to be limited by the
67

Agenda Item 10

availability of registered installers. There is also a need to fully consider
the impact of any new measures. For example, for many properties (in
north Devon), moving to a heat pump without improving building efficiency
will increase bills. Officers will now work with parties to develop options
for putting in place a trusted local supply chain for retrofit/energy efficiency
work. This is potentially an excellent local economic development
opportunity.
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1 The transformational programme of work set out in this paper requires the
system to have more capacity. North Devon officers will also require new
knowledge, skills and behaviours to properly assist local householders.
5.2 It is proposed to commission 361 Energy to provide the home energy advisory
service in paragraph 4. The proposed contract value is £20K yr-1 for 3 years,
with annual reviews and break clauses. Officers consider it is appropriate to
set aside the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules to put this arrangement in
place.
5.3 361 Energy is already commissioned to provide complementary services
through the Local Energy Advice Partnership. Their expertise is recognised
by other statutory partners and their current services includes the provision of
free energy saving measures, energy debt advice and home safety checks
with DSFRS.
5.4 Using 361 Energy makes these wider set of services available to NDC’s
customers, at no additional cost. A £20K yr-1 contract with 361 Energy would
support around 200 households yr-1.
5.5 Working with 361 Energy is considered, therefore, to represent the best value
option for providing an energy advisory serviced based on:
1.

The price, quality and expertise offered by the provider.

2.

The additional positive impacts which will be received by residents.

5.6 The contract with 361 Energy can be funded by the deletion of a vacant
Handy Person post. The improving quality of the Council’s TA stock, coupled
with an increasing need for works to be certified, makes this both an
achievable and suitable way forward.
5.7 The Council’s Private Sector Housing Team comprises 3 officers. Work in
promoting home energy efficiency and addressing climate change is not a
current focus of priority.
5.8 The team’s job descriptions, however, have now been redrafted to reflect the
new ambitions of the Council. Two of these posts are vacant and this will
assist in the transition plan for putting in place the new accountabilities and
expectations for the team. All officers
this area should be qualified,
Pagein68

Agenda Item 10

domestic energy assessors and Green Deal advisors, who are capable of
providing home owners/landlords/tenants with detailed reports of
recommendation using specialist software, as well as enforcing MEES’ and
EPC legislation.
5.9 The Council’s current capital programme for ECO Warm Up Grants in
2021/22 is £544K.

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1 An equality impact assessment of these proposals is set out in Appendix F.
7. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
7.1 Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph: 1(h)
7.2 Referred or delegated power? Delegated
8. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under the
provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
BACKGROUND PAPERS
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
North Devon - Fuel Poverty and Domestic Energy Efficiency Analysis - Yes
Energy Solutions 2020.
The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of the
report.
STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers.
Author:

Date:
Reference:

J W Mann; Head of Environmental Health & Housing
W Slate; Service Lead (Home Improvement & Adaptations and
Energy Efficiency)
17th February, 2021
Strategy & Resources 12th April 21 Home Energy Efficiency

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 71

A PLACE-BASED STRATEGY FRAMEWORK

Agenda Item 10

Appendix A

Developed as a cross-functional, multi-organisational team effort:• One Northern Devon (Andrea Beacham, Hannah McDonald)
• North Devon Healthcare NHS Trust (Sarah Winfield-Davies)
Page 72

• North Devon District Council (Jeremy Mann and Wendy Slate)

• Torridge District Council (Janet Williams)
• 361 Energy (Rob Passmore & Nicola Corrigan)
• North Devon Homes (Marc Rostock)
Agenda Item 10

Appendix A

3

Page 73

Households that have required fuel costs that are above average (the national
median level) and were they to spend that amount, they would be left with a
residual income below the official poverty line

Residents need to make day-to-day decisions about heating their homes
adequately OR paying rent, feed their families and other basic needs

Agenda Item 10

Appendix A

Page 74

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A

Page 75

•

Reduced income, as many jobs lost or furloughed

•

Increased affordability issues and debt, leading to energy rationing

•

Reduced smart meter/ECO installs & accessing support, especially digitally excluded households

•

In August, estimated that 2.8 million UK adults had fallen behind on their energy bills (Citizens Advice)

•

Over winter, families in cold, leaky homes would face heating bills elevated on average to £124 per
month, compared with £76 per month for those in well-insulated homes*

•

Economic hardship is highly correlated with poor health. The current downturn – the deepest since the
Great Depression – threatens individual and family wellbeing, especially for the unemployed and those
experiencing wage and benefit cuts.

•

Carbon reduction programs don’t always address underlying fuel poverty
* Energy and Climate Intelligence Unit (ECIU) – August 2020

Agenda Item 10

Increased domestic energy use, due to more people spending more time at home

Appendix A

•

Greater risk of severe fuel poverty – lower
average income than owner-occupiers, and
homes tend to be less energy efficient

Page 76

Rural homes are more likely to be off the
mains gas grid. The rural premium on
living costs is 10-20%, and energy is the
largest element

Agenda Item 10

£5,827 lower annual wage than UK
average; £2,561 lower than Devon
average

Appendix A

High proportion of older houses
which are harder to insulate. Older
population than national average

Regional averages and the dispersed
nature of rural fuel-poor households
means the problem is hidden

7

Data Accuracy Note. The following slides are based on Energy Saving Trust’s ‘Home Analytics Data’ from 2018.
Consequently, this data is dated and should be used as anecdotal rather than a current analysis (Although the
situation is not likely to have improved)
Page 77

FUEL POVERTY MAP

EPC RATING (E-G) MAP

Agenda Item 10

Appendix A

OFF MAINS GAS MAP

2000

1800

87%

97%

99%

99%

99%

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%100%

75%

1400

68%

1200

Page 78

Households

96%

98%

82%

1600

1000

90%

93%

95%

98%

57%
46%

800
600
400
200
0

Local Authority

Owner Occupied

Privately Rented

Accumulative

Agenda Item 10

Appendix A

Housing Association

Source: 4th Quartile Fuel Poverty - Energy Saving Trust’s Home Analytics Data (2018)

3000

2500
84%

90%

94%

97%

99%

99%

100%

100%

78%

Page 79

Households

2000

87%

92%

96%

98%

67%

1500
54%

1000

35%

500

0

Local Authority

Owner Occupied

Privately Rented

Accumulative

Agenda Item 10

Appendix A

Housing Association

Source: 4th Quartile Fuel Poverty - Energy Saving Trust’s Home Analytics Data (2018)

91% of households in East & West Ilfracombe
ILFRACOMBE Fuel poor household %

are in the 4th quartile of fuel poverty

(two wards)

Page 80

BIDEFORD Fuel poor household %
(four wards)

73% across the house wards of Bideford are
in the 4th quartile of fuel poverty

Households with EPC E-G &

living in Fuel Poverty

34% of fuel poor households also have an
EPC rating of E-G

The regional fuel poverty %

on certain communities
Source: Energy Saving Trust Home Analytics Data 2020 (Torridge & North Devon)

Agenda Item 10

masks how clustered the impact of fuel poverty is

Appendix A

The regional average is worse than national and

11

Page 81

•

The Clean Growth Strategy set a target to upgrade as many houses to EPC Band C by
2035 “where practical, cost-effective and affordable”, and for all fuel poor households,
and as many rented homes as possible, to reach the same standard by 2030.

•

HM Government’s Statutory Target for all fuel poor households to reach:-

•

•

EPC C by 2030

•

EPC D by 2025

•

EPC E by 2020

EPC rating is important, but addressing EPC alone will
not adequately address the area’s fuel poverty
Agenda Item 10

Appendix A

12

Housing Association

Local Authority

Owner Occupied

Privately Rented

9000
8000
7000
Page 82

6000
5000
4000
3000
2000
1000

4th quartile

4th quartile

4th quartile

4th quartile

F-G

E

D

C

A-B

Agenda Item 10

4th quartile

Appendix A

0

Source: Energy Saving Trust’s Home Analytics Data (2018).
EPC Ratings TDC/NDC within ECO 4th quartile fuel poverty

EPC Rating
Domestic hygiene
Ventilation
(Fall Hazards)

Statutory target

Housing
Independent living
Behaviour factors

Page 83

Social

Fuel
Poverty
Strategy
Income

Energy

Agenda Item 10

High bills
Off mains gas
Meters & controls

Appendix A

Unemployment
High costs
Low income

Health

Extreme cold
Damp & mould
Personal hygiene
(Trips & falls)

14

NATIONAL FIGURES
Hazard

Page 84

Excess Cold
Combined Falls
Fire
Collision & entrapment
Dampness
Hot surfaces
Sanitation (personal hygiene)
Domestic hygiene
Electrical Hazards

# Cat 1 Hazards
1,325,088
2,214,747
128,590
74,054
53,349
107,168
35,222
28,355
9,204

Average repair cost
per dwelling (£)
£
£
£
£
£
£
£
£
£

4,575
834
3,632
692
7,382
2,436
1,154
1,921
2,360

Total cost to repair
(£)
£
£
£
£
£
£
£
£
£

6,061,192,123
1,845,995,931
467,038,880
51,245,368
393,822,318
261,061,248
40,646,188
54,469,955
21,721,440

Savings to the NHS
per annum if hazard Payback (years)
fixed (£)
£
848,398,538
7.1
£
459,919,694
4.0
£
25,082,026
18.6
£
15,789,110
3.2
£
15,585,129
25.3
£
15,061,744
17.3
£
4,086,230
9.9
£
3,401,754
16.0
£
1,230,900
17.6

•

BRE briefing paper highlights excess cold the top Cat 1 hazard in terms of
potential cost savings for NHS

Source: BRE – The Cost of poor housing to the NHS

Agenda Item 10

The costs, and benefits to the NHS, of reducing HHSRS Category 1 hazards to
an acceptable level (using median harm proportions and revised cost estimates)

Appendix A

•

15

NORTH DEVON (TDC+NDC)
Hazard

Page 85

Excess Cold
Combined Falls
Fire
Collision & entrapment
Dampness
Hot surfaces
Sanitation (personal hygiene)
Domestic hygiene
Electrical Hazards

#Cat 1 Average repair cost
Households
per dwelling (£)
10,573
48,796
185
107
77
155
51
1,309
13

£
£
£
£
£
£
£
£
£

4,575
834
3,632
692
7,382
2,436
1,154
1,921
2,360

Total Cost to
rep (£)

Local NHS
Saving p/a

Local Payback
(years)

£ 48,369,233 £ 6,769,137
£ 40,671,728 £ 10,133,136
£
673,475 £
36,169
£
73,896 £
22,768
£
567,896 £
22,474
£
376,453 £
21,719
£
58,612 £
5,892
£ 2,514,589 £
157,041
£
31,323 £
1,775

7
4
19
3
25
17
10
16
18

•

Excess cold potential NHS cost reduction of £6.8m p/a (7 year payback)

•

Combined falls potential NHS cost reduction of £10.1m p/a (4 year payback)

•

Excess cold 10-year NHS net saving potential is £20.3m

•

Excess cold 15-year NHS net saving potential is £54.1m

•

The payback economics stack up to address this

Agenda Item 10

Application of the BRE modelling to Northern Devon

Appendix A

•

16

Fuel poverty additionally represents a
local social injustice that needs to be addressed

•

Energy justice views fuel poverty as a
fundamentally socio-political injustice,
not just one of uneven distribution

•

Fuel poverty represents injustices, often faced
by three two groups who are regarded by policymakers
as being particularly vulnerable to fuel poverty: disabled people and low-income families
and older people living alone

Page 86

•

Agenda Item 10

Appendix A

•

Loft insulation

Energy advice

•

Healthy Homes Service

•

Green homes grant

•

Switching energy supplier

•

Ventilation

•

ECO 3

•

Change boiler

•

Damp & mould checks

•

PPM top up vouchers

•

Heating fuel type

•

Fire hazards

•

Warm homes discount

•

Cavity wall insulation

•

Whole house retrofit

Page 87

•

•

Ventilation improvements

•

Heating controls

•

Safeguarding

•

Winter fuel payment

•

Draft proofing

•

Heating method

•

Trips/falls prevention

•

Cold weather payment

•

Secondary/double glazing

•

Air source heat pumps

•

Occupational health

•

Energy debt relief

•

Ground source heat pumps

•

Priority Services Register WPD

•

Fall risk

•

Community heating systems

•

Community support

•

Income Maximisation

•

Solar PV

•

Priority Services Register

•

Solar thermal

•

Water debt support

•

Solid wall insulation

•

Radiator reflectors

•

Lighting efficiency

•

Loans

•

Chimney balloons

•

Energy efficient appliances

•

Water debt support

•

Landlord EPC enforcement

Agenda Item 10

Loft room insulation

Appendix A

•

Page 88

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A

Page 89

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A

Page 90

•

We have formed a multi-organisational group, under the OND Fuel Poverty priority, to
coordinate and work as a single, unified team

•

The group has representation from NDDH, GPs, Social Services, OND, 361 Energy,
Community nursing, North Devon Homes, Torridge District Council and North Devon
Council. We need to engage the voluntary sector as well.

•

Outcome tracking is vital; both in terms of baselining programs as well as change

•

: Confirm group as steering committee locally for Fuel poverty work and
decisions to expedite implementation

Agenda Item 10

Fuel poverty’s complex drivers mean it cuts across multiple organisational agendas

Appendix A

•

Page 91

•

We have an immediate need to help residents with Fuel Poverty

•

Therefore we need to promote existing options concurrently to developing more strategic
solutions

•

361 Energy offers free Home Energy Visits

•

Ecoflex, Better care funding referrals

•

We are working to generate awareness and support through multiple channels

•

: Create communication, training and referral system with frontline
workers to maximise level of support with existing options
Agenda Item 10

Appendix A

We are currently not meeting NG6

•

A roadmap to develop and operate an effective single-point-ofcontact service for cold homes

•

Multiple examples of successful implementation across the
country (Yorkshire, Leeds, Wigan, Liverpool, Manchester,
Knowsley)

•

361 as a local CIC already operating in the market an ideal vehicle
to deliver the service in partnership with OND

•

: Confirm NG6 goal. Decide program team to plan
service, secure funding and implement

Agenda Item 10

•

Appendix A

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) have
created Guidance and a NICE pathway for Cold Homes (NG6).

Page 92

•

Builds retrofit infrastructure for finance; supply
chain, technical expertise and householder
engagement & quality assurance

Set up a free advice on energy efficiency,
retrofit options, renewable energy and EVs

Paid assessment of home, including options,
ROI, carbon saving and more

Managed by Local Authority, potentially
using Section 106 funds

Household supported through whole
retrofit process including quality assurance

Page 93

Based on blue print ‘People Powered
Retrofit’ from Carbon Coop in Manchester

Agenda Item 10

Appendix A

EPC ratings and renewable energy options require a ‘whole home’ local approach

•

We face considerable local supply chain issues with retrofit work

•

Large-scale retrofit will not only address fuel poverty, but also create jobs and economic
stimulus

•

Can link to PAS2030 training for installers with local training institutions

Page 94

•

Agenda Item 10

: 1. Confirm works group to oversee full Business Case creation.
2. Assign resources to enable this

Appendix A

•

• Our approach to retrofit should be viewed as a piece of democratic, community
infrastructure, not just for those that can afford it

• There is a risk of an ‘energy justice divide’ if the vulnerable are left behind
Page 95

• Based on the significant NHS potential cost savings from reduced excess cold, create a
program to retrofit the vulnerable on a ‘worst first’ basis

• Potential to establish a Social Impact Bond to finance roll out

•

Agenda Item 10

Appendix A

: 1. Confirm works group to create pilot Business Case and secure funding
2. Assign resources to enable this

• Fuel poverty is mentioned twice in the joint Local Plan:• “3.35 Carbon dioxide reduction and fuel poverty are key issues for northern Devon”

Page 96

• “3.36 Fuel poverty levels in northern Devon are very high compared to local authorities in
Devon, the South West and England”
• There is no policy, recommendations or actions in the Local Plan regarding fuel poverty, especially
in the light of the Clean Growth Strategy to ensure all fuel poor households reach EPC C by 2030

• We would like to recommend this is reviewed, especially given the scale of the issue locally
• This could strengthen landlord EPC compliance and housing standards

Agenda Item 10

: Ask if this can be opened up in the Local Plan or as an addition guidance for the Local
Authority

Appendix A

•

27

1. Significant reduction on local healthcare
provision with related cost burden – as
high as £6.8m per year based on BRE
modelling
Page 97

2. Improved health outcomes for residents
3. Improved social justice and reduction in
hardship
4. Reduce costs for those living in poverty
5. Creates large-scale retrofit local jobs

8. Reduced carbon dioxide emissions,
assisting with the climate emergency
9. Ensures Northern Devon is ‘levelled up’
10. The potential to create a healthy retrofit
pilot that could be exported nationally

12. Is the morally right thing to do

Agenda Item 10

11. Supports the most vulnerable in our
community – disabled, low income families
and the elderly who live alone

Appendix A

6. Ensure income maximisation in the face of
complex systems

7. Meet statutory targets set out in Clean
Growth Strategy

Page 98

An approach that views fuel
poverty a a social and
energy justice, not just for
those that can afford it.

Local authorities have a
critical role in growing and
shaping their local retrofit
sectors to ensure that
national investment flows
through local economies,
creating social and economic
benefits beyond a reduction
in carbon emissions

Agenda Item 10

A recent report by the UK
Energy Efficiency Group
estimated that upgrading
home insulation across the
UK could translate into
150,000 new skilled and
semi-skilled jobs in the UK
by 2030 and reduce
household expenditure by
£7.5bn per year

Appendix A

Locally rooted fuel poverty
solutions offers a triple whammy
of health benefits, economic
benefit for local businesses
opportunities for local
construction firms; reduced
energy costs for low income
households, and a carbon
reduction towards our climate
net-zero goals.

1. Confirm OND Fuel Poverty group as forum to manage the issue locally
2. Create communication, training and referral system with frontline workers to maximise level
of support with existing service offering.
Page 99

3. Healthy Homes Scheme: Confirm service need & ‘Go’ decision. Decide program team to
plan service, secure funding and implement. Assign resources to enable this.

4. Local Retrofit Service: Confirm service need & ‘Go’ decision. Confirm program team to
oversee full Business Case creation. Assign resources to enable this.

Agenda Item 10

6. Seek decision on Fuel Poverty inclusion in Local Plan from the Local Authorities

Appendix A

5. Healthy Retrofit Service: Confirm pilot need & ‘Go’ decision. Confirm program team to
create pilot Business Case and secure funding. Assign resources to enable this.

30

Page 100

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A

North Devon territorial CO2 emissions estimates 2005-2018 (kt CO2) - Full dataset
Industrial and Commercial

Year
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

A. Industry
B. Industry
D. Industrial
C. Large
Industry and
and
and
and
Industrial
E. Agriculture Commercial
Commercial
Commercial
Commercial
Installations
Total
Electricity
Gas
Other Fuels
159.0
37.2
0.3
51.5
51.7
299.7
166.0
35.3
0.3
47.9
49.3
298.8
159.9
31.3
0.3
47.1
46.0
284.6
156.2
30.5
0.3
41.3
46.0
274.2
139.4
27.2
0.3
39.5
46.2
252.5
143.1
27.8
0.3
41.7
46.2
259.1
133.9
24.9
0.3
38.5
47.3
244.8
146.9
29.2
0.3
37.7
47.5
261.5
132.5
32.0
0.3
34.9
45.5
245.2
112.5
30.0
0.1
37.3
47.1
227.0
95.7
26.4
0.1
36.9
48.5
207.6
75.2
27.2
0.0
37.3
50.6
190.3
68.5
25.8
0.1
38.0
51.1
183.6
63.2
27.5
0.1
36.5
51.0
178.3

Domestic
F. Domestic
Electricity
108.2
112.0
110.7
106.0
96.8
98.8
93.6
100.5
91.2
77.0
65.9
53.4
46.7
42.3

G. Domestic
Gas
84.8
81.8
77.0
79.5
73.1
79.9
64.9
71.3
73.7
61.5
65.3
68.5
66.9
70.2

Transport

H. Domestic
'Other Fuels'
33.2
34.3
31.4
33.8
31.7
35.9
29.0
29.3
29.0
25.8
25.9
26.0
25.6
25.6

Domestic
Total
226.1
228.1
219.2
219.4
201.5
214.6
187.6
201.0
193.9
164.3
157.2
147.8
139.3
138.1

I. Road
Transport
(A roads)
108.7
104.0
105.5
103.5
100.9
100.9
95.5
93.9
92.9
93.3
97.2
104.6
106.6
104.6

J. Road
Transport
(Motorways)

K. Road
Transport
(Minor roads)
-

74.3
76.3
80.2
80.9
77.5
77.0
73.2
69.8
71.7
75.4
74.8
78.7
79.9
80.4

LULUCF ( Land Use, Land Use Change & Forestry) Net Emissions

L. Diesel
Railways
0.7
0.7
0.8
0.8
0.8
0.8
0.8
0.8
0.8
0.8
0.8
0.8
0.8
0.7

M. Transport
Other
1.2
1.2
1.2
1.2
1.2
1.2
1.1
1.0
1.1
1.1
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0

Transport
Total
184.8
182.2
187.7
186.4
180.3
179.9
170.5
165.5
166.4
170.6
173.8
185.1
188.3
186.8

N. LULUCF:
Forest
-63.1
-64.5
-65.0
-65.7
-65.7
-67.1
-67.8
-68.3
-68.9
-69.1
-69.8
-70.3
-70.4
-70.5

O. LULUCF:
Cropland
44.8
43.6
42.4
41.4
40.5
39.6
38.7
37.9
37.1
36.3
35.7
35.0
34.5
33.8

P. LULUCF:
Grassland
-30.1
-31.5
-31.9
-32.9
-33.2
-33.5
-34.0
-35.0
-36.4
-35.7
-37.6
-37.9
-39.2
-39.7

Q. LULUCF:
Wetlands

R. LULUCF:
Settlements
-

26.5
27.1
27.6
28.1
28.5
29.4
29.8
30.1
30.1
30.5
31.3
33.3
32.7
33.0

S. LULUCF:
Population
LULUCF
Per Capita
Harvested Wood
Grand Total ('000s, mid- Emissions (t)
Net Emissions
Products
year estimate)
-

-21.9
-25.3
-26.9
-29.1
-29.9
-31.6
-33.3
-35.2
-38.0
-38.0
-40.6
-40.0
-42.5
-43.4

688.7
683.7
664.5
650.9
604.5
621.9
569.6
592.8
567.5
523.9
498.0
483.3
468.7
459.8

91.1
91.7
92.4
92.8
93.0
93.3
94.0
93.8
93.8
94.0
94.2
94.6
95.4
96.1

7.6
7.5
7.2
7.0
6.5
6.7
6.1
6.3
6.0
5.6
5.3
5.1
4.9
4.8

Area (km2)
1,104.7
1,104.7
1,104.7
1,104.7
1,104.7
1,104.7
1,104.7
1,104.7
1,104.7
1,104.7
1,104.7
1,104.7
1,104.7
1,104.7

Emissions per
km2 (kt)
0.6
0.6
0.6
0.6
0.5
0.6
0.5
0.5
0.5
0.5
0.5
0.4
0.4
0.4

Page 101

Agenda Item 10

Appendix B

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Appendix C
APPENDIX C
Top 10 Fuel Poor LSOAs
There are 27 LSOAs in north Devon (out of a total of 58) that have a higher fuel
poverty rating above the 11.7% average for the area1.
The top 10 most affected areas are:
LSOA Code

E01020131

North Devon 013B

959

No. of Fuel
Poor
Households
182

E01020112

North Devon 001B

862

156

18.1

E01020098

North Devon 014B

1,020

177

17.4

E01020115

North Devon 001D

575

99

17.2

E01020100

North Devon 002B

514

88

17.1

E01020114

North Devon 001C

552

94

17.0

E01020126

North Devon 002D

790

133

16.8

E01020087

North Devon 014A

938

152

16.2

E01020101

North Devon 002C

704

114

16.2

E01020113

North Devon 003A

693

112

16.2

1

LSOA Name

No. of
Households

Dataset: Government fuel poverty statistics

Page 103

%

19.0

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Appendix D
APPENDIX D
The revised Statement of Intent
Statement of Intent - Version 2 – January 2021
Summary of changes
Government statistics detailing households that are considered fuel poor were
updated (Fuel Poverty Statistics 2020 – 2018 data).
Removal of historic Council’s corporate priorities and insertion of “Becoming focused
on delivering the best for our citizens”.
Fuel poverty households: Low income & high cost



Introduction of single person household income threshold
Confirmation of eligibility per EPC rating for certain measures

Low income & vulnerable to cold



Introduction of single person household income threshold
Updated eligibility as per latest guidance (February 2019)

Other sections updated to reflect that the Home Adaptations, Improvements and
Energy Efficiency responsible team for ECO flexibility eligibility. Officers within
Environmental Health & Housing can identify eligible householders and accordingly
updating of the referral list. Confirmation that records will be kept for 7 years after
the ECO obligation has concluded. Requirements for evidence also updated.

Page 105

Agenda Item 10
Appendix D

ECO FLEXIBLE ELIGIBILITY
STATEMENT OF INTENT
North Devon Council
January 2021
Version 2
Publication on website: northdevon.gov.uk
INTRODUCTION
The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) is a government backed scheme where
major energy suppliers are required to provide funding for energy saving measures
in homes occupied by vulnerable householders. Residents are deemed eligible for
funding if they receive certain state benefits, or if they meet the criteria set out by
their Local Authority in a Statement of Intent (this is referred to as LA Flexible
Eligibility).
North Devon Council (NDC) plans to use LA Flexible Eligibility to help residents in
fuel poverty and those at risk from cold related illnesses, improve their homes and
save energy and money on their fuel bills. This Statement of Intent sets out how
residents will be assessed and declared eligible for ECO funding in accordance with
guidance provided by the Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy
(BEIS).
According to the latest government statistics1, 11.7% of all households in North
Devon are considered fuel poor. This is higher than the average for Devon (10.7%),
the South West region (9.4%) and the whole of England (10.3%).
NDC is working to tackle poor housing and fuel poverty in the district through a
combination of: intervention, support and signposting. In providing this Statement of
Intent, we will contribute to the Council’s priorities to provide “Becoming focused on
delivering the best for our citizens”.
Please note that meeting the criteria in this Statement of Intent does not guarantee
the installation of measures. The final decision is made by the obligated energy
supplier or their agents/contractors and will depend on:
1)
2)
3)

The survey carried out and the installation costs calculated.
The projected fuel bill savings that can be achieved in the property.
Whether an obligated energy supplier has achieved their ECO target or require
further measures to meet their ECO target.

1

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fuel-poverty-detailed-tables-2020

Page 106

Agenda Item 10
Appendix D
1.

HOW THE LA INTENDS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE HOUSEHOLDS

ECO Flexibility Eligibility assistance is only available to private tenure households
(i.e. not Social Housing).
In order to be eligible for this funding, a household must fit one or more of the
following criteria:
a)
b)
c)

Living in fuel poverty - low income and high cost (“LIHC”).
Low income and vulnerability to cold (“LIVC”).
Solid wall insulation in-fill scheme (“in-fill”).

Private Renters
Please note that in private rented accommodation there are Energy Performance
Certificate (EPC) restrictions in place on certain measures. For example, funding for
loft insulation is only granted to qualifying tenants that live in a property with an EPC
in band A to E (whereas F or G rated properties are excluded). These EPC
restrictions take president over any EPC criteria listed in this Statement of Intent for
any eligible private renting tenant. There are no EPC restrictions for owner-occupied
households.
2a

Criteria for identifying households in fuel poverty – Low Income and High
Cost (LIHC)

Residents must meet the ‘Low Income’ criteria and the ‘High Cost’ criteria to be
determined eligible for funding:
Low Income



Household income (after rent or mortgage) per composition:

A single person household = £25,000
A household with 2 or more people = £30,000; and

High Cost

The property has an EPC in band E, F or G; or

The property has an EPC in band D and the property:







Has no central heating, or
Is not connected to the mains gas network, or
Has solid walls, or
Is a System Built property, or
Has non-standard cavity wall, or
Is a Park Home; or



If no EPC is available, the property must score “10 or greater” on the Property
Condition table below (i)

Page 107

Agenda Item 10
Appendix D
i)

Property Condition Table

Property Details

Type

Points Tick Box

No. of bedrooms

1
2
3+

1
2
3

1
2
3+

1
2
3

None
Up to 150mm
250mm and above

5
3
1

System built
Solid stone/brick
Cavity construction

5
3
1

External
Internal
Cavity
None

1
1
2
5

Mains gas
Oil
LPG
Electric
Solid fuel

1
2
3
5
5

No. of people living in the
property

How much loft insulation is
present?

What is the wall type?

How much wall insulation is
present?

What heating fuel is used
within the property?

Is there a central heating system
within the property and was
age is this?
Less than 10 years
old
Over ten years old
Broken system
No system
Total

Page 108

1
3
5
5

Score

Agenda Item 10
Appendix D
2b

Criteria for identifying low income and vulnerable to cold (LIVC)

Residents must meet the ‘Low Income’ criteria and the ‘Vulnerable to Cold’ criteria to
be determined eligible for funding:
Low Income

Household income (after rent or mortgage) per composition:



A single person household = £25,000



A household with 2 or more people = £30,000; and

Vulnerable to Cold
A member of the household suffers from one or more of the following health
conditions which have been diagnosed by a healthcare professional:














Cardiovascular condition
Respiratory condition (i.e. chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, childhood
asthma, etc.)
Mental health condition (moderate to severe)
Terminal illness
Dementia
Autoimmune or immunodeficiency diseases (e.g. diabetes, MS, lupus)
Supressed immune systems (e.g. cancer treatment or HIV)
A health condition made worse by cold
Has a physical disability
People who move in and out of homelessness
People with addictions
People who have attended hospital due to a fall
Recent immigrants, asylum seekers and refugees; or

A member of the household is:




Over 65 years of age, or
A pregnant women, or
A child aged 5 years old or under.

2c

Criteria for Solid Wall Insulation (SWI) “in-fill” projects

To facilitate SWI projects in a locality, households with solid walls that do not meet
the eligibility criteria set out in this Statement of Intent (2a or 2b) will be deemed
eligible for ECO funding when they are co-located with a minimum percentage of
households that do meet the eligibility criteria in this Statement of Intent.
The minimum percentage details are:



Semi-detached houses/bungalows and buildings with 2 premises – at least
50% of properties in an SWI project must be LIHC or LIVC.
Same terrace – at least 66% of properties in an SWI project must be LIHC or
LIVC.

Page 109

Agenda Item 10
Appendix D



2.

Same building – at least 66% of properties in an SWI project must be LIHC or
LIVC.
Adjacent properties – at least 66% of properties in a SWI project must be LIHC
or LIVC.
ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANOTHER LOCAL AUTHORITY

This Statement of Intent is made solely for NDC and independent from any other
local authority.
3.

JOINT STATEMENT OF INTENT

NDC is not currently part of any joint SOI or common criteria arrangement. This will
be kept under review.
4.

GOVERNANCE

The Home Adaptations, Improvements and Energy Efficiency Team at NDC will
liaise with residents and ECO providers to produce the required declaration forms to
prove a household meets the criteria in this Statement of Intent. The Head of
Service for Environmental Health and Housing (or any qualified person they elect to
delegate to), will be responsible for signing local authority declarations on behalf of
NDC.
5.

TARGETING AND IDENTIFYING ELIGIBLE RESIDENTS

NDC will work in partnership with organisations that have access to ECO funding to
identify eligible residents under this Statement of Intent. The Council may also
choose to procure delivery partners for this purpose.
The Council may support various third party marketing campaigns to recruit eligible
residents, or carry out its own marketing activities to raise awareness of the funding
opportunity. This could include targeted mailings using publically available EPC data
to locate properties that require energy saving measures.
Any marketing activity carried out or supported by the Council will need to be
officially approved and signed off by the Head of Service for Environmental Health &
Housing (or any qualified person they elect to delegate to) before implementation.
NDC will also work with social care and support organisations that work with
vulnerable residents and establish relevant referral mechanisms.
Eligible households will also be identified through routine inspections, which officers
within Environmental Health & Housing undertake.
Low income households living in energy inefficient housing will be identified in the
private rented sector through enforcement activity under the Housing Act 2004 and
landlord associations/forums.
Where possible, the Council will continue to collaborate with other Devon authorities
to develop effective partnership working and consistency across the county.

Page 110

Agenda Item 10
Appendix D
6.

REFERRALS

NDC expects referrals for LA Flexible Eligibility to come from:
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)

Residents (self-referrals).
Private sector landlords.
Other Council departments.
Social care or health organisations.
Social prescribing organisations (who determine those that may be vulnerable
or those with health conditions).
ECO providers, installers or agents.
Citizens Advice.

NDC will ensure that any referral processes used comply with the latest data
protection legislation.
EVIDENCE, MONITORING AND REPORTING
The data collected from residents will be suitable and sufficient to confirm their
eligibility. This will include:
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)

Name, address and contact details.
Proof of household income.
EPC (if LIHC).
Declaration from Health Care Professional (if LIVC); or
Other official document, i.e. birth certificate, MATB1 form.

Records will be kept of all households that are declared eligible under this Statement
of Intent until 31/3/2029. All personal data will be protected and not shared with any
unauthorised third parties.
Current guidance encourages ECO suppliers to keep the relevant Local Authority
informed of all measures installed on the basis of LA declarations made. Where
ECO providers are operating within the district, the content and frequency of
reporting will be agreed with that supplier. This will allow NDC to report to BEIS and
include relevant information in any future Home Energy Conservative Act reports.
Suitable checks and enquiries will be made to prevent and detect fraud.
7.

SIGNATURE

Signature: _________________________________________________
Jeremy W Mann; Head of Service for Environmental Health & Housing
Date: _____________________________________________________
8.

Contact Details

Mrs Wendy Slate
Service Lead – Home Adaptations, Improvements & Energy Efficiency

Page 111

Agenda Item 10
Appendix D
Environmental Health & Housing
Tel: 01271 388264 / 07810 636550
Email: wendy.slate@northdevon.gov.uk

Page 112

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

APPENDIX E (1)
THE REVISED REGULATORY REFORM ORDER POLICY

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE POLICY FOR THE BETTER CARE
FUND
Financial Assistance Policy for Better Care Fund - February 2021
Summary of changes
Section 2 – Context
Office of National Statistics (ONS) information updated relating to excess winter
deaths (Excess Winter Mortality in England and Wales 2019-20).
Section 4 – Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant
•
•
•

Updating of eligibility criteria
Confirmation of requirements to consider and process an application
Local Land Charge – updating that the Council will have regard to The Housing
Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996: Disabled Facilities Grants
(Conditions relating to the approval or payment of Grant) General Consent
2008 when deciding whether to demand payment.

Section 5 – North Devon Homes – Bathroom adaptations
•

Confirmation that NDH tenants will be given the option to either have NDH
undertake the bathroom adaptation or via the Disabled Facilities Grant process

Section 6 – Accessible Home Grants
•

•

•

Updating of the conditions, including that the disabled person must intend to
occupy the property as their only or main residence for period of five years after
the works are complete (or such shorter period as the person’s health or other
relevant circumstances permit).
Any unforeseen and additional costs will require Council approval and where
costs exceed grant maximum of £20,000, approval will need to be obtained
from Head of Environmental Health & Housing, Lead Member of Housing
and/or Head of Resources.
A local land charge will be placed on the property for the full value of the
accessible home grant.

Section 7 – Accessible Home Grant – stair lift
•
•

Updating for both internal and external stair lifts
Inclusion of conditions

Section 9 – Healthy Homes Grants
•

Inclusion of assisting an occupier with
accumulations
(hoarding) where this
Page
113
poses a risk to health and safety
1

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E
•

Updating conditions to allow tenants, licensees or occupiers (including those
living with family) to apply for immediate repairs

See appendix E(2)

Page 114
2

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

Section 10 – Home Improvement Loans
•
Updating of re-brand from Wessex Resolutions Community Interest Company
to Lendology Interest Company
Section 11 – Warm up Grants
•
Inclusion of renewable heating measures/solar PV.

APPENDIX E (2)
NORTH DEVON COUNCIL
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE POLICY FOR
THE BETTER CARE FUND

Page 115
3

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

CONTENTS
1 Introduction
1.1 Purpose
1.2 Review
1.3 Funding
2 Context
2.1 Housing and Health
2.2 Better Care Fund
3 Priorities
3.1 General
4 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants
4.1 Background
4.2 Eligibility
4.3 Conditions
5 North Devon Homes (NDH) Bathroom Adaptations
5.1 Background
5.2 Where can this grant be used?
5.3 Eligibility and test of financial resources
6 Accessible Home Grants
6.1 Background
6.2 Eligibility
6.3 Conditions
7 Accessible Home Grant - Stair lift
7.1 Background
7.2 Where can this new process be used?
7.3 What type of stair lift can be provided?
7.4 Financial assessment
8 Accessible Home Grant – Moving Application
8.1 Background
8.2 Eligibility
8.3 Conditions
9 Healthy Homes Grants
9.1 Background
9.2 Eligibility
9.3 Conditions

Page 116
4

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E
10 Home Improvement Loans
10.1 Background
10.2 Eligibility
10.3 Conditions
11 Warm up Grants
11.1 Background
11.2 Eligibility
11.3 Conditions
12 Miscellaneous
12.1 Exceptions to this Policy
12.2 Appeals and Complaints

Page 117
5

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

SECTION 1 – INTRODUCTION
1.1

Purpose

1.1.1 This policy is required under Article 4 of the Regulatory Reform (Housing
Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002. The Order provides councils
with the discretion to develop schemes to provide financial assistance to deal
with a range of housing issues.
1.1.2 This policy sets out the areas on which North Devon Council will focus Better
Care Fund resources in order to improve housing conditions across the
district whilst contributing to the delivery of the Better Care Fund, Health and
Wellbeing Board and local priorities.
1.1.3 This policy provides North Devon Council with the flexibility and discretion to
provide appropriate assistance to meet the aims and priorities set out in
section 3 below and had been developed in association with Devon County
Council and all the district councils in the county.
1.1.4 The policy covers a three-financial year period: 2019/20, 2020/21 and
2021/22
1.2 Review
1.2.1 The policy will be reviewed if any significant changes to policy or funding
occur, or at the expiry of this current policy.
1.3 Funding
1.3.1 The assistance contained within this policy is only available subject to the
availability of funding. Where funding is limited priority for spend will be given
to the Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant.

Page 118
6

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

SECTION 2 – CONTEXT
2.1 Housing and Health
2.1.1 Housing is a key determinant of health, and by promoting good quality
housing this policy can contribute to reducing health inequalities for the
residents of North Devon.
2.1.2 Flexibilities were introduced enabling councils to use government grant that
has been allocated for disabled facilities grants to be used more intelligently
to deliver adaptations for disabled people outside of the mandatory grant
regime.
2.1.3 Research has shown that there is a direct impact on the health and wellbeing of residents resulting from the homes in which they live; therefore,
poor housing can contribute to poor health.
2.1.4 Each year hazards in the home result in unnecessary injuries, episodes of illhealth, and harm to mental health and in many cases the occupiers do not
link the poor condition of their homes with a potential negative impact on their
health. The poorest housing stock can be found in the private sector, and in
some cases residents who own their own home are not able to maintain them
and as a result hazards can develop.
2.1.5 An estimated 28,300 excess winter deaths were recorded in England and
Wales in 2019/20 as reported by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) in
their document Excess Winter Mortality in England and Wales 2019-20.
Many of these people die unnecessarily as a result of living in cold homes
2.2 Better Care Fund
2.2.1 In 2015 the government introduced the Better Care Fund in an attempt to
bring health and social care together in an integrated way. The fund is a
combination of government funding from the Department of Health and the
Department for Communities and Local Government and includes the grant
allocation for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG). The 2019-20 Better Care
Fund policy framework document (maintained by Better Care Fund policy
statement 2020 to 2021) lists the conditions that the better care fund must
be used to address.
2.2.2

These are:

Condition 1: Plans to be jointly agreed – The plan to use the Better Care
Fund allocation must be jointly agreed and signed off by the Health and
Wellbeing Board, and constituent councils and clinical commissioning
groups. The local housing authority must also be involved due to the
inclusion of the Disabled Facilities Grants allocation, which forms part of the
fund.
Condition 2: NHS contribution to social care is maintained in line with
inflation. - The funding must be used to contribute to the maintenance of
adult social care services in each local authority, which also has a health
benefit. However, beyond this broad condition, the Department of Health
and Social Care (DHSC) wants to provide flexibility for local areas to
Page
119 care services is best used.
determine how this investment in
adult social
7

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

Condition 3: Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital
services, which may include 7 day services and adult social care. This
should be achieved by funding NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services,
which may also include 7-day services and adult social care, as part of the
agreed Better Care Fund plan.
Condition 4: Managing Transfers of Care - Plans should set out how local
partners will work together to fund and implement transfers of care
effectively.
2.2.3 More detail can be found in the 2017-19 Integration and Better Care Fund
Policy Framework.
2.2.4 Based on these broad conditions, Devon County Council and the District
Councils have identified an opportunity to provide additional grant and loan
products to meet these conditions and deliver against the Health and
Wellbeing Board priorities.

Page 120
8

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

1.1 SECTION 3 – PRIORITIES
3.1 General
3.1.1 In Devon, the Better Care Fund priorities aim to achieve the following
outcomes:
•
•
•
•
3.1.2

Reduced admissions to residential and nursing care homes
Reduce delayed transfers of care
Reduce avoidable emergency admissions
Increase dementia diagnosis rates
To meet these priorities this policy aims to focus on the following areas:

Objective 1 - Assist disabled residents to remain in their own homes
through supporting the provision of adaptations (so far as this is necessary,
appropriate and reasonably practicable) to prevent admissions to care and
to assist with delayed transfers where possible.
Objective 2 – Safeguard the health and well-being of vulnerable residents by
removing unnecessary hazards to health and safety in the home to reduce
avoidable emergency admissions
Objective 3 – Provide adaptations that are suitable for the future by
ensuring the scheme of works is dementia aware.
Objective 4 – Assist vulnerable people to afford to heat their homes
through appropriate energy efficiency and heating measures.

Page 121
9

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

SECTION 4 – MANDATORY DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS
4.1 Background
4.1.1 The delivery of the disabled facilities grant programme is mandatory and a
statutory function of the local housing authority. The delivery of this function is
governed by the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.
4.2 Eligibility
4.2.1 Any disabled householder seeking financial assistance with the cost of
adaptations to their home must be assessed by an Occupational Therapist
working on behalf of, or approved by Devon County Council.
4.2.2 For the purposes of the Disabled Facilities Grant a person is considered
disabled if they meet any of the following criteria:
•
•
•

4.2.3

Their sight, hearing or speech is substantially impaired
They have a mental disorder or impairment of any kind or
They are physically substantially disabled by illness, injury, impairment
present since birth or otherwise
A person aged eighteen or over shall be considered disabled if:

•

they are registered under section 29(1) of the National Assistance Act 1948
(disabled persons’ welfare), or

•

they are a person for whose welfare arrangements have been made under
that provision or, in the opinion of the social services authority, might be
made under it.

4.2.4

A person under the age of eighteen shall be considered disabled if:

•

they are on a register of disabled children maintained under
paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to the Children Act 1989, or

•

they are in the opinion of the social services authority a disabled child as
defined for the purposes of Part III of the Children Act 1989 (local authority
support for children and their families).

4.2.5 All owner-occupiers (including shared ownership), tenants, licensees or
occupiers (including those living with family) who meet the above criteria are
eligible to apply for a Disabled Facilities Grant.
4.3 Conditions
4.3.1 All grants other than those for children are subject to a test of financial
resources, which is prescribed by The Housing Renewal Grants
Regulations 1996. However, applicants who are in receipt of qualifying
pass-porting benefits will not have to undertake the test of financial
resources and will receive 100% grant (up to the grant maximum).
4.3.2 The grant maximum is £30,000 and the disabled person must intend to occupy
the property as their only or main residence for a period of five years after the
works are complete (or such shorter
period
Page
122as the person’s health or other
relevant circumstances permit).
10

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E
4.3.3 The following information will be required:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

A completed and signed application form
Evidence of financial situation
Evidence of ownership of the property or the right to reside at the property
Permission for the works to be carried out (where applicable)
A detailed schedule of works and plans for complex works that must
be agreed by the council
Any planning or building regulation approvals (where applicable)
2 Quotations for the works unless using an agreed procurement framework.

4.3.4 Only the works agreed by the council will be covered by the grant.
4.3.5 If the grant is approved there are 12 months to complete the works.
4.3.6 The works must be completed by the contractor stated on the approval
document
4.3.7 No grant works should proceed until the grant application has been processed
and all relevant planning, Building Regulation, landlord or owner approval has
been obtained.
4.3.8 If the applicant has a contribution to pay they must ensure they have funds in
place to cover their share of the costs before the work begins on site. The
Council will assess if the applicant is eligible for a discretionary Accessible
Home Grant (refer to Section 6) to cover the contribution cost.
4.3.9 Unforeseen and additional costs will only be paid for where they are
necessary to complete the adaptation and must be agreed by the council
before they are undertaken.
4.3.10 Any increase in the grant may have an impact on the charge placed
against the property (refer to 4.3.16 for information on conditions relating
to charges against the property)
4.3.11 Applicants who are successful in their application for assistance will be
required to maintain the adaptation.
4.3.12 The contract for the works is the responsibility of the applicant.
4.3.13 The grant will normally be paid direct to contractors in all but the most
exceptional cases.
4.3.14 No grant will be paid until a satisfactory invoice has been received and the
works have been carried out to the satisfaction of the Council.
4.3.15 Only works falling within the mandatory elements will be covered by the grant,
these are works to:
•
•
•
•
•

Facilitating access
Make a dwelling safe for the disabled occupier or persons residing with
him/her
Provide rooms useable for sleeping
Provide bathrooms
Page of
123
Facilitate the provision for cooking
food
11

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E
•
•
•
•

Provide heating, lighting and power
Adapt a property to enable a disabled occupier care for a dependant
Adapt the common parts
Provide access to garden

4.3.16 North Devon Council will determine the most reasonable and practicable
works following recommendations detailed on the Occupational Therapist
statement of need.
4.3.17 Where the grant is in excess of £5,000 a local land charge will be placed on the
property for the amount over £5,000 up to a maximum of £10,000, requiring
repayment of the grant becomes repayable (e.g. if the property is sold,
assignment, transfer or otherwise within a period of 10 years of the certified
date or a breach of conditions). The Council will have regard to The Housing
Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996: Disabled Facilities Grants
(Conditions relating to the approval or payment of Grant) General Consent
2008 when deciding whether to demand payment.
4.3.18 Where the cost of the work exceeds the mandatory grant limit of £30,000 the
applicant may be eligible to an Accessible Homes Grant, subject to available
funds (refer to Section 6).

Page 124
12

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

SECTION 5 – NORTH DEVON HOMES – BATHROOM
ADAPTATIONS
5.1 Background
5.1.1 North Devon Homes (NDH) has evidenced their ability to carry out bathroom
adaptations at a cost, quality and efficiency that is comparable with other local
providers.
5.1.2 This grant for bathroom adaptations for NDH tenants and is aimed at increasing
the efficiency of delivering the adaptation service for the whole community. It
provides NDH with the opportunity of undertaking ancillary works of repair or
refurbishment in a more cost-effective manner. It benefits NDH tenants as their
landlord will automatically assume responsibility for any snagging or ongoing
maintenance issues.
5.2 Where can this grant be used?
5.2.1 This grant will be offered to NDH tenants when a bathroom adaptation need has
been identified following an assessment by a Health or Social Care Occupational
Therapist. The tenant will be given the option to either have NDH undertake the
bathroom adaptation or via the Disabled Facilities Grant process (2 quotations to
be obtained).
5.3 Eligibility and conditions
5.3.1 As for mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants, refer to Section 4.

Page 125
13

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

SECTION 6 – ACCESSIBLE HOME GRANTS
6.1 Background
6.1.1 The Accessible Homes Grant enables an enhanced offer in addition to the
Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant subject to available funding. The grant
maximum is £20,000.
6.1.2 As an alternative to the adaptation of an applicant’s home, consideration will
be given to the option of re-housing to more appropriate or adapted
accommodation.
6.1.3
This grant is available in the following circumstances:
•
•
•

Where a mandatory grant has been approved but the cost of the work
exceeds £30,000.
Where there are works that may not be covered by the Disabled
Facilities Grant in relation to adapting the home and making it safe.
Where the means test identifies that a contribution is required.

6.2 Eligibility
6.2.1
•
•

•

To be eligible for this grant the applicant must meet the following:
The applicant must have applied for and be eligible for a mandatory
Disabled Facilities Grant
All applicants are subject to a means test including the parents and/or
guardians of a disabled child. Adult clients will have had been means
tested as part of the formal DFG application. In the case of a child’s
application the means test will be applied to the parents or guardians of
the disabled child before an application for a discretionary grant can be
made.
An applicant will only be eligible to apply a grant to cover their
assessed contribution in respect of a mandatory Disabled Facility
Grant where the contribution is a third or more of the applicant’s
savings.

6.3 Conditions
6.3.1 Conditions relating to the Disabled Facilities Grant as described in Section 4
also apply
6.3.2 The grant maximum is £20,000. Anything over £20,000 will not attract any
further public grant, unless in exceptional cases (refer to 6.3.10)
6.3.3 Where additional funding is required to cover either a contribution or the cost
of works over £50,000 (£30,000 from the Disabled Facilities Grant and
£20,000 from the Accessible Homes Grant), then a Home Improvement
Loan application can be made (this is only accessible to owner occupiers).
Tenants, licensees or occupiers (including those living with family) may be
eligible for a Healthy Home Grant, subject to available funds (refer to Section
9).
Page 126
14

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E
6.3.4 The disabled person must intend to occupy the property as their only or main
residence for period of five years after the works are complete (or such
shorter period as the person’s health or other relevant circumstances
permit).
6.3.5 The Disabled Facility Grant paperwork will be used to assist the applicant in
making an application for this grant.
6.3.6

Only the works agreed by the council will be covered by the grant

6.3.7

If the grant is approved there are 12 months to complete the works

6.3.8 The works must be completed by the contractor stated on the approval
document
6.3.9 No grant works should proceed until the grant application has been processed
and all relevant planning, Building Regulation, landlord or owner approval has
been obtained.
6.3.10 Unforeseen and additional costs will only be paid for where they are
necessary to complete the adaptation and must be agreed by the council
before they are undertaken. Where these costs exceed the grant
maximum of £20,000, approval will need to be obtained from Head of
Environmental Health & Housing, Lead Member of Housing and/or Head
of Resources.
6.3.11 Any increase in the grant may have an impact on the charge placed
against the property (see 6.3.17 for information on conditions relating to
charges against the property)
6.3.12 Applicants who are successful in their application for assistance will be
required to maintain the adaptation.
6.3.13 The contract for the works is the responsibility of the applicant.
6.3.14 The grant will normally be paid direct to contractors in all but the most
exceptional cases.
6.3.15 The council will only offer grant funding for those works that are
considered appropriate to meet the needs of the disabled person.
6.3.16 No grant will be paid until a satisfactory invoice has been received and the
works have been carried out to the satisfaction of the Council.
6.3.17 A local land charge will be placed on the property for the full value of the
accessible home grant which will be repayable if the property is sold,
assignment, transfer or otherwise within a period of 10 years of the certified
date or a breach of conditions.
6.3.18 Housing Association properties – where the mandatory disabled facilities
grant does not fully cover the cost of the adaptation then the client and/or
council may approach the housing association for a contribution towards the
cost.

Page 127
15

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

SECTION 7 – ACCESSIBLE HOME GRANT – STAIR LIFT
7.1 Background
7.1.1 When a stair lift (internal or external) is needed in the home, the quicker it can
be installed the safer the home will be for the person that needs it. Changes to
the way home adaptation works are funded, makes it possible for stair lifts to be
provided outside of the Disabled Facilities Grants’ process.
7.1.2 This process allows an internal or external, straight track or curved track stair
lift to be fitted more quickly, with less paperwork and no means’ test. This grant
does not cover through floor lifts.
7.1.3 Where a client requires multiple adaptations in addition to the stair lift, the other
adaptations will be considered via the Disabled Facilities Grant or Accessible
Home Grant and a means’ test undertaken.
7.2 Eligibility
7.2.1 A referral or statement of need must be received from a Social Services
Occupational Therapist or from an NHS Occupational Therapist.
7.2.2 If the applicant is a homeowner (including shared ownership) private tenant or
housing association tenant or living with family.
7.3 Conditions
7.3.1 The grant maximum is £20,000 and the disabled person must intend to
occupy the property as their only or main residence for a period of five years
after the works are complete (or such shorter period as the person’s health or
other relevant circumstances permit).
7.3.2 The applicant must have permission from the owner of the property for the work
to be carried out, prior to the commencements of works. The Council will
require an owners certificate if the property is rented.
7.3.3 The stair lift contractor will be sourced in a manner determined by the Council.
7.3.4 Only the works agreed by the council will be covered by the grant.
7.3.5 If the grant is approved there are 10-12 weeks to complete the works.
7.3.6 The works must be completed by the contractor stated on the approval
document
7.3.7 Unforeseen and additional costs will only be paid for where they are
necessary to complete the adaptation and must be agreed by the council
before they are undertaken.
7.3.8 Applicants who are successful in their application for assistance will be
required to maintain the stair lift and have it regularly serviced (annual
servicing required for warranty), once any manufacturer warranty or
extended warrant has lapsed.

Page 128
7.3.9 The contract for the works is the responsibility of the applicant.
16

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

7.3.10 The grant will be paid direct to the stair lift contractor
7.3.11No grant will be paid until a satisfactory invoice has been received and the
works have been carried out to the satisfaction of the Council.

Page 129
17

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

SECTION 8 – ACCESSIBLE HOME GRANT – MOVING
APPLICATION
8.1 Background
8.1.1 This grant may be available to assist a disabled person to move to more
suitable accommodation subject to available funding.
8.2 Eligibility
8.2.1

An applicant will be eligible for this grant where:

The applicant meets the eligibility criteria for a Disabled Facility Grant.
•
•
•

•
•

Where the Occupational Therapist and/or North Devon Council consider
re-housing to be more appropriate than adapting the existing
accommodation.
Where the landlord has refused permission for the adaptation works to be
carried out and therefore, it is no longer feasible for the occupier to remain
in the property
To be eligible for this grant the total cost incurred in the eligible
‘moving on’ expenses and any estimated eligible adaptation costs at
the ‘new’ property should not be greater than the cost of adapting the
applicant’s current home.
The ‘new’ property shall in the opinion of North Devon Council provide a
long term, sustainable home for the person for whose benefit the works
are required.
If the property is within a neighbouring authority the new authority will
need to ensure the new property is suitable. This should also be agreed
with the occupational therapist. The applicant must ensure that North
Devon Council’s Private Sector Housing Team and Occupational
Therapist have been consulted.

8.2.2
In determining the ‘reasonable expenses’ regard shall be had to the
following criteria:
•
•
•

The cost of the eligible works at the applicants existing property are not
deemed reasonable, or;
The eligible works at the applicants existing home are not technically
feasible, or;
The adaptation of the applicants existing property does not
provide a sustainable, long term solution for their housing
needs.

Page 130
18

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E
8.3

Eligibility

8.3.1 Owner Occupier - The expenses that can attract grant under this
section may include the cost of:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Any fees associated with obtaining a mortgage.
Conveyancing fees.
Land Registry Fee
Local Authority Searches
Stamp Duty
Valuation, Homebuyers or Full Structural Survey
Professional or other removal costs
Estate Agent Commission.

8.3.2 The maximum grant payable for eligible expenses under this heading for an
owner occupier is £10,000.
8.3.3 For a tenant - the expenses that can attract grant under this section may
include the cost of:
•
•
•

Letting agent fees
Rent deposit
Professional or other removal fees

8.3.4 The maximum grant payable for eligible expenses under this heading for a
tenant is £5,000.
8.4 Conditions
8.4.1 Grant assistance is only payable to an owner occupier upon the
successful completion of the purchase of the ‘new’ property and the
disabled person then occupying that property as their only and main
residence.
8.4.2 When moving to rented accommodation the applicant must obtain
permission from the landlord for any adaptations to be carried out before
the grant will be paid.
8.4.3 To qualify for this grant, the applicant must have been resident in their
current property for at least 2 years prior to making an application to
move.
8.4.4 The applicant must agree to live in the property as their only or main
residence for a period of 5 years (or such shorter period as the person’s
health or other relevant circumstances permit).
8.4.5 For owner occupiers a local land charge or a charge against the deeds will be
placed against the property for a period of 5 years.

Page 131
19

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

SECTION 9 – HEALTHY HOMES GRANTS
9.1 Background
9.1.1 The Healthy Homes grant is a flexible grant to provide urgent/essential
repairs (as determined by the Council) to the home to ensure the health,
safety and welfare of the occupier, subject to available funding. This includes
assisting an occupier with accumulations (hoarding) where this poses a risk
to health and safety and Radon remediation works.
9.2 Eligibility
9.2.1 An owner occupier must apply for a Lendology Community Interest
Company (CIC) loan first and will only be eligible to apply for this grant if a
loan is refused.
9.2.3 To qualify for this grant the applicant must be in receipt of one of the
following benefits:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Housing Benefit
Disability Living Allowance
Personal Independent Payment with the daily living component
Attendance Allowance
Guarantee Pension Credit
Income support
Council tax support (not the single person discount)
Universal Credit

9.3 Conditions
9.3.1 The maximum grant available is £5,000 over a rolling two year period.
9.3.2 For owner occupiers a local land charge will be placed on the property for the
full value of the grant which will be repayable if the property is sold,
assignment, transfer or otherwise within a period of 5 years of the certified
date or a breach of conditions.
9.3.3 For tenants, licensees or occupiers (including those living with family) the
grant may only be available to assist with immediate repairs or to deal with
hoarding and accumulations. The landlord is responsible for the general
repair of the property and the Council may require the landlord to carry out
works as appropriate.

Page 132
20

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

SECTION 10 – HOME IMPROVEMENT LOANS
10.1

Background

10.1.1 Lendology Community Interest Company (CIC) is a not-for-profit company
partnered with by North Devon Council to deliver loans to residents in the
district.
10.1.2 Lendology CIC administer loans within the requirements of this policy.
Home Improvement Loans are flexible and can be used for the following
purposes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
10.2

Home repairs and improvements
Adaptation works where grant is not available
To cover a client contribution to a grant
To cover the cost of the work over the Disabled Facilities Grant or
Accessible Homes Grant maximum.
To bring empty homes back into use
For landlords to carry out repairs or improvement to rented
accommodation
For energy efficiency improvements
Eligibility

10.2.1 This will vary and is based on the individual circumstances of each client.
Loan advisors will carry out an assessment and provide independent advice
on ethical and responsible lending the most appropriate product to suit their
needs.
10.3

Conditions

10.3.1 Conditions may vary depending on the loan product selected and the
individual circumstances of each applicant.
10.3.2 Typical 4.2% APR, loans are subject to status. Lendology CIC may insist on
loans being protected at the Land Registry by a Title Restriction. Missing
payments could affect your credit rating and ability to obtain credit in the
future.
10.3.3 North Devon Council’s current home improvement loan policy is available on
the Agenda of the Council’s Executive on NDC’s website: Northdevon.gov.uk

Page 133
21

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

SECTION 11 - WARM UP GRANTS
11.1

Background

11.1.1 These grants, up to a maximum £2,000 per property, provide top up funding
for energy efficiency measures where energy providers are part funding
energy efficiency measures under their Energy Company Obligation (ECO) or
other government sponsored scheme. The grant is subject to available
funding.
11.1.2 Works will generally include:
•
Mains gas boiler replacement,
•
Loft insulation,
•
Cavity wall insulation,
•
Non-gas boiler replacements,
•
Replacement storage heaters,
•
Internal or external wall insulation,
•
Room in roof insulation,
•
Flat roof insulation
•
Renewable heating measure/solar PV
Applicants will have to be eligible for the particular measure in line with the
relevant ECO criteria.
11.2

Eligibility

11.2.1 Applicants must have been identified through the Council’s Energy
Company Obligation flexible eligibility Statement of Intent which can be
found on the council’s website.
11.2.2 To qualify for the top up a survey must be carried out by the energy provider,
a local installer, or an agent and qualifying works identified. Provisions will
be in place to ensure value for money.
11.2.3 For owner occupiers and private landlords a maximum of up to £2,000 is
available.
11.2.4 If more than £2,000 is needed then the client should apply for a Lendology
CIC loan subject to availability and eligibility
11.3

Conditions

11.3.1

The contract for the works is the responsibility of the applicant.

11.3.2 The grant will normally be paid direct to contractors in all but the most
exceptional cases.
11.3.3 No grant will be paid until a satisfactory invoice has been received and the
works have been carried out to the satisfaction of the Council.

Page 134
22

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

SECTION 12 – MISCELLANEOUS
12.1

Exceptions to this Policy

12.1.1 North Devon Council accept that applications may be received for adaptations
not covered by the circumstances listed above which will need to be formally
determined. Any such application will be referred through the appropriate
process of the council managing the application, which may include approval
by Head of Environmental Health & Housing, Lead Member of Housing and/or
Head of Resources.
12.2

Appeals and Complaints

12.2.1 Where the applicant has a complaint about the manner in which North
Devon Council is applying this policy, then they should follow the Council’s
formal complaints process.
12.2.2 Where the complaint is in respect of works, the complaint should be made
to the contractor in the first instance, if this does not resolve the problem
then the North Devon Council should be contacted for advice.

Page 135
23

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E

APPENDIX A – ELIGIBLE WORKS
A1 Disabled Facilities Grant and Accessible Homes Grant
A1.1 An assessment by an agreed Occupational Therapist must be carried
out that recommends the type of adaptation required. Minor works are
assessed by the Occupational Therapist and may be dealt with outside
of the grant process.
A2 Facilitating access
A2.1
•
•
•
•
•
•
A2.2

Facilitating access by the disabled occupant
to and from the dwelling
to a room used or usable as the principle family room
to a room used for or usable for sleeping
to a room in which there is a lavatory
to a room in which there is a bath or shower
to a room with a wash hand basin
Such works may include:

•

Ramping and/or handrails to the main external door. This could instead
be a rear door in the case of a rear access. Only one access point will be
allowed for each dwelling. External lifts will be considered if reasonably
practicable and they are not prone to vandalism.

•

Widening the main entrance door and the doorways to the bedroom,
bathroom and living room to facilitate wheelchair access. Automatic door
opening to main entrance doors will only be allowed for persons who are
otherwise unable to open the door. Door entry systems will be considered
where the person has severe mobility problems.

•

Alterations to facilitate wheelchair access to the bedroom, bathroom
and living room. Access to other rooms may be considered where the
disabled person is also a carer.

•

Other adaptations that are necessary to facilitate access to any of the
relevant rooms by the disabled person, for example, stair lifts or vertical
lifts in some cases. Where a stair lift breaks down and it is 5-10 years old,
a manufacturers report is needed before it can be replaced. If it is over 10
years, a report may not be required.

•

Provision of hard standings (3.6 m x 4.8 m max unless exceptional
circumstances) and associated crossover for vehicle access where the
disabled person is in a wheelchair or has difficulty walking to the house.
This will only be given where existing on-street parking is considered
unsatisfactory and a marked disabled parking bay is not possible or where
it affords a more economical solution than providing additional
paths/ramping from the roadside. Provision of off-street parking on its own
is not eligible. (Please note: Being a holder of a blue badge is not an
eligibility criterion for this item).

Page 136

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E
Washing facilities
Facilitating the use of washing facilities by the disabled occupant
Adaptation of the facilities in the bathroom and toilet, including the provision of
level access showers, lever taps and specialist automated WCs. The
adaptation or provision of more than one bathroom to a house e.g. additional
ground floor wc, will only be considered if evidenced by functional need.
A3 Kitchen Facilities Facilitating the preparation and cooking of food
A3.1 Where someone other than the disabled person does and will continue to
do the cooking and preparation of meals, normally it will not be necessary
to carry out full adaptations.
However, it may be possible to carry out minor adaptations to allow the
disabled person to prepare light meals or hot drinks, typically this may
include a low-level fixed worktop with power points for a kettle/microwave.
A3.2 Full adaptations can be considered where the disabled person is the only
or main user of the kitchen. The following adaptations can be considered:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Kitchen sink, including alteration to its height or position or the type of
taps fitted to it. Powered, adjustable-height sinks will not generally be
allowed, as the provision of a second sink is a more economical solution.
Cooker point and oven-housing unit ensuring its height and position is in
a safe location and the provision of worktops on either side.
Work surfaces located beside the sink and on each side of the cooker
having a total length of approximately 1.5m, all at a suitable height for
the disabled person.
Food storage in an accessible position, usually space for a
refrigerator with power supply.
Wheelchair access, if necessary, including wider doors,
rearrangement of facilities etc.
Alterations to the kitchen door, light switches and power points, but
only if it is necessary.
Extensions or enlargement to kitchens can only be agreed where they
are absolutely necessary in order to provide turning space for a
wheelchair and if suitable space cannot be achieved by
rearrangement of the existing facilities.
The provision of cupboard and storage units on an "essential" basis.
(2x1m base units and baskets or equivalent).
Mechanical ventilation where kitchen schemes require Building
Regulation approval.

A4 Electrical work
A4.1 Alterations to the height and/or position of light switches and power points
to make them accessible to the disabled person.
A4.2 Upgrading of electrical installation where the current installation is considered
unsafe.

Page 137

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E
A5 Heating
A5.1 Heating the rooms that are in everyday use by the disabled person where a
medical need can be demonstrated. Changes to the type of heating system
will only be allowed if evidenced by medical need (e.g. change from solid
fuel to gas where applicant can no longer carry fuel) and the applicant is not
eligible for other types of grant such as Eco Flex
A5.2 Upgrading/replacing of boilers/radiators where the property has been
extended as part of the adaptation.
A6 Guarding
A6.1 Provision of laminate glass or specialist lighting or guards to fires and
around radiators where disabled children with violent behavioural
problems may harm themselves.
A6.2

Restrictors or works to windows for the safety of the disabled person.

A7 Alarms
A7.1
Provision of enhanced fire alarm systems for those with hearing
difficulties.
A8 Structural alterations
A8.1 Carrying out structural alterations where necessary to provide fixings for
disabled equipment provided by Social Services e.g. fixing for tracking
/overhead hoists.
A8.2 Storage or space for essential medical equipment as part of the adaptation
works but not as a standalone item.
A8.3 Where an adaptation is required to a listed building and additional works are
required to comply with requirements.
A8.4 Where an adaptation cannot be carried out due to disrepair issues those
repairs, within reason, may be carried out. Such works may include
replacement of rotted flooring or strengthening of the floor as part of a level
access shower installation, electrical repairs to enable works to be carried
out safely, and dealing with low water pressure. More substantial repairs that
are not directly affecting the adaptation will need to be referred to a home
improvement loan or healthy homes grant.
A8.5 Additional bathrooms or bedrooms may be allowed where they are specifically
for the disabled person and it can be demonstrated that adaptation of other
rooms or space or access to those rooms in the property is unsuitable.
Extensions will only be allowed following a detailed cost/benefit analysis of
alternative options.
A8.6 Requests are sometimes received to provide separate bedrooms where
disabled children with behavioural difficulties share a room with other siblings
and disturb their sleep. This will only be considered where it can be
demonstrated the child is prone to violent outbursts and there is risk of
physical harm to the child or to the other siblings. Families will first be

Page 138

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E
expected to re-arrange the sleeping arrangements in their home to try to
eliminate the need for extra bedrooms. If there is more than one reception
room the family will be expected to use the extra room(s) for sleeping
purposes.
A9 Garden and external access
A9.1 In cases of small terraced properties with narrow passageways or very
difficult access, effective adaptation can only proceed where it can be
reasonably and practicably carried out without having a detrimental
impact on neighbouring properties.
A9.2 Access to the garden may be given to improve an existing access to make it
safe for the disabled occupant to use. It does not include extending an
existing access e.g. creating a side access so a person can also go around
the side of a house. Generally, the most modest solution for providing
access to both the house and the garden will be considered and this can
mean that one access may be sufficient to access both the house and the
garden. Where homes have communal gardens, e.g., blocks of flats served
by a single access, grants will not normally be provided for an individual
access to the garden unless it can be demonstrated that because of the
disabled persons condition the travel distance to the garden would be
excessive and unreasonable.
A9.3 The grant will only be for providing immediate access to the garden and does
not include landscaping gardens to make them more suitable for the disabled
person to access. However, to assist a disabled person to live independently,
an allowance of 4m2 of pathway, (which may include a turning circle for a
wheelchair user), will be considered to assist access to any specific areas
enjoyed by the Provision of fencing or guarding for the safety of the disabled
person when in the garden.
Fees and feasibility works
The Accessible Home Grant may be available to cover the cost of works
associated with assessing whether an adaption is reasonable and practicable
and/or necessary and appropriate. These costs can be covered even if the
works do not go ahead, at which point a moving grant may be more suitable.
Additional Adaptations for Dementia (or related conditions)
Replacing floor coverings that cause confusion or safety issues
Replacing tiling or bathroom fittings (such as toilet seats and rails) to improve
visual perception
Changing cupboards to glass fronted doors, to enable recognition of where
items are in the kitchen
Changing lighting schemes to improve visibility around the home
Installing noise reduction measures
A10

Healthy Homes grant

A10.1 An assessment of the property may be necessary to determine the scope of
the work and does not cover the full renovation of a property. It is intended

Page 139

Agenda Item 10
Appendix E
that the grant is sufficient to make safe a defect that is considered to pose a
risk to the health, safety or welfare of the occupier.
A10.2 This could include but is not limited to the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Hoarding and accumulations – where the conditions pose a serious risk to
the safety of the occupier.
Electrical safety- where the condition of the electrical wiring could
lead to imminent risk of electrocution or fire or accidents as a result
of inadequate lighting.
Falls – where the condition of the stairs or floors are in such a state as to
provide an imminent risk of a fall in the home.
Cold – where the heating is inadequate or lacking, and the condition of the
doors and windows are contributing to the home being cold in the winter
and there is a risk of falls or other ill effect from cold temperatures.
Dampness – damp conditions so significant that a roof is failing and
water is visibly entering the property. Rising damp, condensation or
minor leaks may not be covered by this grant.
Structural collapse- where a structural part of the building is in such a
state as to constitute an imminent risk.
Amenities – the lack of a functioning basic amenity such as a toilet,
bath, wash hand basin or kitchen sink.
Hot water – where there is no hot water available for the occupier due to
a fault with a boiler or hot water tank.

A10.3 This list is not exhaustive and each case will be assessed based on its
individual circumstances.
A11

Home Improvement Loan

A11.1 The loan will cover those works covered by this policy and any other works
specified by North Devon Council.

Page 140

Agenda Item 10
Appendix F
APPENDIX F
North Devon Council Equality Impact Assessment

Page 141

Agenda Item 10
Appendix F
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Service Area:
Head of Service:
Lead Officers(s):
Date of Assessment:
Person responsible for
completing the assessment:
E-mail address:

Environmental Health & Housing Service
Jeremy W Mann
Jeremy W Mann and Wendy Slate
17th February, 2021
Jeremy W Mann

Name of policy/function/projects/service area to be assessed:
Measures to increase home energy efficiency and reduce fuel poverty.
Brief description of proposal to be assessed:
Home improvement grants/loans.
Domestic energy advisory service.
Enforcement of improvements in private rented accommodation.
Proposed implementation date of project/proposal:
April/May 2021.
Brief description of the anticipated outcomes of the proposal:
Provision

Marketing

ECO (Flex).

Regulatory Reform
Order.

Current
Arrangement

Proposed
Arrangement

Comment

Targeted promotion
of the ECO3 scheme.
The latest NDC Revised Statement of
Statement of
Intent.
Intent was
approved in 2018.

Widen the availability
of Better Care Funding
to promote home
energy efficiency.

Page 142

This document sets
out the criteria that
NDC intends to use
to identify
households who will
qualify under flexible
eligibility for ECO
assistance.
Better Care Funding is
passported to NDC from
DCC. The proposal will
not limit the availability
of grants for mandatory
Disabled Facilities Grants.

Agenda Item 10
Appendix F
Provision

Current
Arrangement

Proposed
Arrangement

Comment

Domestic energy
advice service.

Provision of new
energy advisory
service to residents
who are at most risk
of fuel poverty.

Enforcement of
housing standards
in the private rented
sector.

Develop a team who
HHSRS, MEES, EPC,
are empowered to use HMO licensing.
all the regulatory
provisions, which are
available to improve
energy efficiency.

Impact:
Age

Positive/Negative/
Negligible

Observations

Young
people.

Positive

Protecting young people from the
potential impacts of climate and fuel
poverty.

Older
people.

Positive.

Older people are particularly susceptible
to negative health and wellbeing issues
linked to cold indoor temperatures.

Disability

Positive/Negative/
Negligible

Observations

Physically
disabled
applicants.

Positive.

People who spend a larger part of their
time at home due to restricted mobility or
chronic conditions, will be more impacted
by poor housing conditions.

Gender

Positive/Negative/
Negligible

Observations

Males/
Females.

Negligible.

The proposals apply equally irrespective
of gender.

Marriage

Positive/Negative/
Negligible

Observations

Marriage or
civil
partnerships.

Negligible.

The proposals apply equally, irrespective
of the marital status or civil partnership
status of any applicant.

Page 143

Agenda Item 10
Appendix F
Race

Positive/Negative
Negligible

Observations

Ethnic
minority
people.

Negligible.

The assistance is aimed at everyone
regardless of ethnic origin.

Pregnancy/
Maternity

Positive/Negative/
Negligible

Observations

Pregnancy.

Positive.

Improved housing standards will
particularly benefit people who spend a
larger part of their time at home, e.g.
pregnant mothers and those caring for
babies and young children.

Religion

Positive/Negative/
Negligible

Observations

Different
religious
groups.

Negligible.

The approaches are designed to assist
everyone regardless of religion, belief or
non-belief.

Sexual
orientation

Positive/Negative/
Negligible

Observations

People with
different
sexualities.

Negligible.

The proposals are aimed at helping
everyone.

Consideration of Alternatives:
The interventions proposed, aim to assist those people who are most vulnerable to
the impacts of fuel poverty and target areas which have the greatest fuel poverty
gaps. The intended action provides, therefore, highly targeted and more universally
available resources.
Consultation:
The proposals were shared with the Council’s Climate Action Team and One
Northern Devon partners.
Funding Considerations: Refer to paragraph 5 of the main report
Date approved by Head of Service:
Reporting and Publication:
Equality Impact Assessment will be published on North Devon Council’s
website.

Page 144

Agenda Item 10
Appendix F
The completion of an Equality Impact Assessment is an ongoing process.
Impacts will be continually reviewed during projects and the decision making
process and the Assessment will be updated accordingly and published.
A further assessment will also be undertaken between 6 to 12 months
following the implementation of the policy, project, decision or service change
has been implemented.
Please also confirm the date on which you will be re-considering the
project/report and submitting a further EIA, if applicable.
Monitoring Arrangements:
Briefly describe the monitoring arrangements/systems that will be put in place
to monitor the effects of this proposal.
Refer to paragraphs 4.7 – 4.8 of the main report.
Date approved by Head of Service:
Corporate and Community Services Uses Only: Date of publication to NDC
Website:

Page 145

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Open
NORTH DEVON COUNCIL

REPORT TO:

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE

Date:

12 April 2021

TOPIC:

PROPOSED EXTENSION OF EXISTING POLICY
DEROGATIONS DUE TO COVID-19

REPORT BY:

PUBLIC PROTECTION MANAGER

1 INTRODUCTION
1.1

The purpose of this report is to detail a recommendation from the Council’s Licensing and
Community Safety Committee made on the 9 February 2021. The recommendation is for
a continued extension of derogations approved by the Chief Executive in March 2020, in
respect of the Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy. Extensions
are being proposed due to the continuation of effects on business from Covid-19.

1.2

The areas of policy for which continued derogations are sought relate to the maximum
age of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles, and fees.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1

That Strategy and Resources Committee approve the recommendation made by Licensing
and Community Safety Committee of the 9 February 2021. Namely, that the following
derogations from the current North Devon Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire
Licensing Policy are made:

2.1.1 Derogation to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy with respect of
maximum vehicle age:
The Council will if a hackney carriage or private hire licence is surrendered and
provided that an application is received for a further grant of the same vehicle up until
the 1st July 2021, waive the following policy requirement (Section 3.5).
‘Officers are not empowered to refuse an application for a licence. Accordingly where
an application for the grant of a hackney carriage licence is made when the vehicle in
question is more than 5 years old, the application must be referred to the Licensing
Sub-Committee for consideration.
The presumption is that licences will not be granted for vehicles over 5 years old, but
each application will be considered on its own merits. Factors such as the condition of
the vehicle, and the mileage will be relevant.’
2.1.2 Derogation to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy in respect of fees
(Section 16.3):

Page 147

Agenda Item 11
If an individual wishes to surrender a licence until its expiry, due to concerns over
transporting passengers etc., then re-applies, the Council allow them the pro-rata fee
(according to the licence period remaining) off a future licence application (for the same
licence only), if made up until the 1 July 2021.

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 Covid-19 continues to have unprecedented effects on the health of the UK
population, which in turn is having sustained effects on the hackney carriage and
private hire licensed trade.

3.2

To support the licensed hackney carriage and private hire community.

4 REPORT
4.1 Covid-19 has hit many businesses hard, including that of the hackney carriage and
private hire licensing trade.
4.2 There are two areas of the existing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing
Policy which require repeated consideration in light of the sustained impacts of
Covid-19.
Maximum Age of Vehicles
4.3 The Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016 cites:
‘Officers are not empowered to refuse an application for a licence. Accordingly
where an application for the grant of a hackney carriage licence is made when the
vehicle in question is more than 5 years old, the application must be referred to the
Licensing Sub-Committee for consideration.
The presumption is that licences will not be granted for vehicles over 5 years old,
but each application will be considered on its own merits. Factors such as the
condition of the vehicle, and the mileage will be relevant.’
4.4

Covid-19 has impacted the taxi and private hire trade. Vehicle proprietors have
requested to surrender vehicle licences in light of lack of trade, and in order to
cease working to protect themselves.

4.5

Members of the trade were concerned by the above policy and whether they would
be able to licence their hackney carriage vehicles again if they are in excess of 5
years old.

4.6

As such, the Chief Executive took an urgent decision in March 2020 to make a
temporary derogation to the above policy. This was at a time prior to Licensing and
Community Safety Committee be hosted virtually. A decision of the committee to
make recommendations for ongoing derogations is now appropriate.

4.7

In terms of a derogation the Council provided assurance to vehicle proprietors that
if a licence was/is surrendered, and provided an application was/is received for a

Page 148

Agenda Item 11
further grant of the same vehicle in 2020/21, then this Policy requirement would be
waived.
4.8

Due to the continued situation with Covid-19 it is suggested that this derogation be
extended until the 1 July 2021, at which point the Council will review the
circumstances once again.

Licence Fees for hackney carriage vehicles, drivers and operators
4.9

Akin to the above, queries also arose in terms of fees for hackney carriage
vehicles, drivers and operators, and whether if licences were surrendered (due to
implications of Covid-19) the Council would refund fees. Fees in this instance are
locally set, and are substantial in terms of their cost.

4.10 The Chief Executive in making an urgent decision in March 2020, determined that
if an individual wished to surrender a licence until its expiry, due to concerns over
transporting passengers etc., and then they re-applied, the Council would allow
them the pro-rata fee (according to the licence period remaining) off a future
licence application (for the same licence), if made in the 2020/2021 financial year.
4.11 Due to the sustained impacts of Covid-19 the recommendation as part of this
report is that the policy of not making fee refunds (Section 16.3 of the Council’s
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy) be extended in the same way
as that outlined in paragraph 4.10 above, and up until 1 July 2021, at which point
this position will be reviewed.

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1

There is no additional workload associated with this report.

5.2

Now the Government has provided the roadmap for the easing of lockdown, there is likely
to be a minimal impact on the taxi and private hire licensing budget, however due to the fact
that the number of drivers wishing to surrender their licences or their vehicle or operator
licences, exact figures are unknown.

5.3

In light of the fact that it is not proposed to make any immediate refunds, there will be no
impact until such time as any subsequent application is made to the Council, (when a
reduced fee would be received).

6 CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
Article or Appendix
and paragraph
Part 3, Annex 4

Referred or
delegated power?
Delegated

7 STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
7.1

This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under the
provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.

Page 149

Agenda Item 11
8 BACKGROUND PAPERS
8.1

The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:


North Devon Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2016
The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of the report.

9 STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
9.1

The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate Councillors
and officers.

Author: Katy Nicholls
Date: 10/03/21

Page 150

Agenda Item 12
NORTH DEVON COUNCIL
REPORT TO:

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE

DATE:

12th APRIL 2021

TOPIC:

HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION: AMENITY
STANDARDS, MINIMUM ROOM SIZING AND LICENCE
CONDITIONS

REPORT BY:

PUBLIC PROTECTION MANAGER AND GRADUATE
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. North Devon Council is responsible for the licensing of Houses in Multiple
Occupation (HMOs) in the district. This includes all homes with five or more
occupants from two or more households, who share amenities and facilities.
There are an estimated 1,100 HMOs in North Devon, of which approximately
290 fall under the Part 2 mandatory licensing scheme1.
1.2. HMOs are an important part of the housing stock in North Devon as they offer
an affordable form of accommodation to a wide range of occupants. They are
deemed higher risk accommodation as they often home vulnerable people,
and are not always fit for purpose, as many properties were not originally built
to be subdivided and housed by multiple occupants. They can also be poorly
managed and maintained by a small number of rogue landlords.
1.3. To combat the issues raised above, the legislation surrounding HMOs allows
the Council to impose licence conditions and locally adopted standards on
amenities within properties. The current conditions and amenity standards
adopted are from a Devon Wide document published in 2011.
1.4. The purpose of this report is to recommend the approval of a set of updated
licence conditions, amenity standards and room sizes under the new HMO
licensing regime.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That the Strategy and Resources Committee:
1

BRE Dwelling Level Housing Stock Modelling and Database for North Devon Council Report, May 2019

Page 151

Agenda Item 12

2.1.1. Consider the draft Amenity Standards and Minimum Room Sizing
requirements in Appendix D.
2.1.2. Consider the proposed Licence Conditions in Appendix B.
2.1.3. Instruct the Graduate Environmental Health Officer to undertake a six
week period of consultation on the above documents, and provide
feedback on the results of the consultation exercise.
2.1.4. Consider the period of licence for HMOs.

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. To consider the new documents set out under the new HMO licensing
regime, and to provide a comparison against older standards and conditions.
3.2. To implement a new set of amenity standards and minimum room sizes
specific to the housing market within North Devon.
3.3. To ensure the protection of safety and wellbeing of residents and vulnerable
persons who reside in HMOs.
3.4. The current standards are not up to date and in line with the most current
legislation.
3.5. Recommendations pertaining to radon gas, lead in drinking water and
sustainability/energy efficiency have been included in the amenity standards
document, these are areas that were not included before.
3.6. The new licensing regime aims to incorporate additional sustainability
measures in line with the Government’s targets to reduce all greenhouse gas
emissions to net zero by 2050, and also the Council’s Carbon Reduction
Plans.
3.7. The addition of energy efficiency recommendations will also help to address
fuel poverty in North Devon by making homes more fuel efficient, and in turn
reducing fuel bills.

Page 152

Agenda Item 12

4. REPORT
4.1. The Housing Act 2004 introduced the mandatory licensing of HMOs and a
system of assessing housing conditions based on risk, known as the Housing
Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS). The licensing of HMOs ensures
that the Council can mitigate risk and regulate high risk accommodation.
4.2. The Council currently has 43 licensed HMOs across the district. These are
mainly properties which were licensed before the three-storey rule came into
effect. The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed
Description) (England) Order 2018 removed the original three-storey rule for
HMOs set out under the Housing Act 2004. Both nationally and locally, this
has resulted in an increase in the number of properties which now fall under
the mandatory licensing scope for Part 2 HMO licences. It is estimated that
there are around 250 additional HMOs in North Devon which now fall under
the new licensing regime1. These are all properties which are yet to be
licensed by the Council and would be impacted by the proposed new HMO
licensing regime.
4.3. Schedule 4 of the Housing Act outlines the conditions local authorities must
impose on licence holders as part of this process. Whilst Section 67 of the
Act allows local housing authorities to impose additional conditions on
properties which fall under the scope of mandatory licensing. The current
licence conditions used by the Council were last updated in 2011, and solely
relate to those conditions imposed under Schedule 4 of the Act, see
Appendix A. They do not take into account conditions which could be set
under S67, for example those relating to mitigating anti-social behaviour.
Such conditions would be beneficial in a number of licensed properties in the
district, especially those with high numbers of anti-social behaviour related
complaints associated with them. A summary of the proposed conditions are
contained in Appendix B.
4.4. Mandatory licensable properties have a set of prescriptive standards
Council’s must apply when setting the number of occupants permitted in a
property. These are national minimum standards relating to personal washing
facilities and sanitary conveniences etc. Section 65 (2) of the Housing Act
2004 gives the local housing authority power to set higher standards over
and above the prescribed standards set by legislation. These standards can
be set to reflect local housing conditions providing they do not fall below
national standards.

Page 153

Agenda Item 12
4.5. The Council has previously adopted higher standards from the Devon Wide
Amenity Standards document in 2011, see Appendix C. However, this
document has not been updated or revised since its original distribution.
North Devon Council is one of the few Council’s remaining who utilise the
guidance, as other local authorities in Devon have since published their own
standards. This document does not take into consideration the mandatory
conditions set out under The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation
(Mandatory Conditions of Licences) England Regulations 2018, or the
removal of the three-storey rule as mentioned above. Thus, it is proposed to
implement a new set of amenity standards and minimum room sizes specific
to North Devon, to reflect the changes in legislation and the local housing
market within the last decade. A summary of the proposed standards are
contained in a document in Appendix D.
4.6. The standards local authorities can implement are ‘locally set’, meaning that
they are not prescribed in statute. When setting the locally adopted
standards, the Council should have regard to the impacts on licence holders
and managers. The implementation of both the new licence conditions and
the locally set standards must be practicable and reflect the licensable
population, and must not unreasonably disadvantage landlords. Additionally,
they must be directly related to the needs of the HMO occupants, and should
be readily enforceable by the Council. The new conditions and standards
would use those currently set out in the 2011 documents as a foundation, but
also include updated provisions to ensure the standards represent the current
housing market in North Devon. The document also takes into consideration
the standards set by other local authorities, see Appendix E.
4.7. At present the Council uses the prescribed minimum room size standards
under The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions
of Licences) England Regulations 2018; and previously awarded landlords 18
months from 1st October 2018 to comply with these standards. There were
proposals to consult stakeholders on the implementation of higher minimum
room size standards in 2019/20. This has also been included as part of the
licensing review process, see Appendix D. New recommended minimum
room sizes have been drafted based on the national space standards relating
to affordable accommodation.
4.8. Following the adoption of the proposed licence conditions, amenity standards
and minimum room sizing, all new licences issued will be subject to the
updated conditions and standards. A licence holder’s failure to comply with
the new conditions and standards will result in a breach of licence conditions.

Page 154

Agenda Item 12
4.9. The licensing review process aims to improve housing standards, and reduce
the high number of Category 1 and 2 hazards in the licensable community, as
alluded to in the BRE Report. Refining the standards in HMOs would also
improve public health and wellbeing; two areas which have been of particular
significance throughout the pandemic. For example, the draft plan outlines
areas which are of a particular public health concern in North Devon. This
includes advice pertaining to radon gas and lead in drinking water, and gives
recommendations to licence holders on how to mitigate the impacts of these
hazards in their property.
4.10.
Moreover, the new licensing regime aims to incorporate additional
sustainability measures in line with the Government’s targets to reduce all
greenhouse gas emissions to net zero by 2050, and also the Council’s
Carbon Reduction Plans. This has been outlined in the draft ‘Amenity,
Minimum Room Sizing and Management Standards Document’ by
recommending licence holders and managers implement more sustainable
measures in their homes. It also outlines the benefits of improving energy
efficiency for both landlords and tenants. It is estimated 12.7% private rented
dwellings in North Devon are estimated to have an EPC rating below band E1
and up to 12% of properties in the district are classified as fuel poor2. Thus,
this also helps to address fuel poverty in North Devon by making homes
more fuel efficient, and in turn reducing fuel bills.
4.11. On the 4th September 2018 the Executive approved the adoption of a 2 year
licencing regime. North Devon Council’s current HMO licences last for 5
years. HMO licences can, however, be awarded for a period of 1, 2, 3, 4 or 5
years. From the 1st October, 2018, it was proposed that all HMO licences will
be for 2 years. However, due to the significant volume of applications and the
resource implications of renewals every 2 years, it has been determined the
licence period of renewal remains 5 years at this time.
Consultation
4.12. A consultation will be undertaken with key stakeholders including estate
agents, management companies and landlords with large property portfolios.
A list of potential stakeholders has been obtained from the Housing Options
Team, so this will be used alongside any other stakeholders identified
throughout the review process.
4.13. A period of six weeks has been elected for consultation in line with the
Cabinet Office guidance.
2

Sub-regional Fuel Poverty in England, 2020 (2018 data)

Page 155

Agenda Item 12

4.14. Emails will be sent out where possible, but letters will be distributed in other
instances depending on the availability of contact information.
4.15. Feedback to committee is expected six weeks following this meeting.
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. Resource requirements for the processing of the consultation and
amendments to documentation etc., will be covered within existing staffing
resources.

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT

6.1. There are two positive implications (relating to the age and disability
characteristics) as a result of this report. The remaining characteristics are
anticipated to be neutrally impacted. Please see the corresponding Equality
Impact Assessment for further details.

7. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT

Article or Appendix
and paragraph

Referred or
delegated power?

Part 3, Annexe
1(1)(h)

Delegated

8. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY

8.1. This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS

9.1. The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:

Page 156

Agenda Item 12


BRE, May 2019, BRE Dwelling Level Housing Stock Modelling and
Database for North Devon Council Report



Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, April 2020,
Sub-regional Fuel Poverty in England, 2020 (2018 data)



Cabinet Office, July 2012, Consultation Principles: Guidance



Housing Act 2004



The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory
Conditions of Licences) England Regulations 2018



The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed
Description) (England) Order 2018



The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and
Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006



The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and
Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Amendment) (England)
Regulations 2012

10. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE

10.1. The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all

appropriate Councillors and Officers.

Authors: Katy Nicholls, Public Protection Manager and Tanisha Rowswell,
Graduate Environmental Health Officer
Date: 08 March 2021

Page 157

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Appendix A
MANDATORY CONDITIONS – HMO

These conditions are specified in Schedule 4 of the Housing Act 2004 and
apply to licences under Parts 2 and 3 of the Act.
The conditions can be expressed as follows:

1) If gas is supplied to the house, the licence-holder shall produce to the
local housing authority annually for their inspection a gas safety
certificate obtained in respect of the house within the last 12 months.

2) The licence-holder shall keep electrical appliances and furniture made
available by him in the house in a safe condition.

3) The licence-holder shall supply the authority, on demand, with a
declaration by him as to the safety of the appliances and furniture
referred to in (2).

4) The licence-holder shall ensure that smoke alarms are installed in the
house and that they are kept in proper working order.

5) The licence-holder shall supply the authority, on demand, with a
declaration by him as to the condition and positioning of the smoke
alarms.
6) The licence-holder shall supply to the occupiers of the house a written
statement of the terms on which they occupy it.
7) The licence-holder shall comply with the Management Regulations and
Codes of Practice as detailed in Appendix B of the Statement of
Licensing Policy included in the licence application pack.
8) A copy of the licence and relevant contact details as required in
Appendix B of the Statement of Licensing Policy shall be displayed at
all times in a communal area.

Page 159

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
NORTH DEVON COUNCIL
HOUSING ACT 2004
HOUSE IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION CONDITIONS

Appendix B

These conditions apply to property No: XXXX relating to House in
Multiple Occupation located at XXXX (‘the property’) shown in red on the attached plan.
The Licensee shall observe and perform the conditions herein contained.
1 Written Statement
1.1 The licence holder must supply to the occupiers of the house a written statement of the
terms on which they occupy it.
2 Anti-Social Behaviour
2.1 The licence holder must issue new tenants/occupiers with a tenancy agreement that
includes clauses that will allow the licence holder to take reasonable steps to tackle antisocial behaviour.
2.2 The licence holder must take all reasonable steps to deal with anti-social behaviour related
events perpetrated by occupiers and/or visitors of the property. The reasonable steps
should be appropriate and proportional.
2.3 The licence holder must take all reasonable steps to ensure that the property is not used
for illegal or immoral purposes.
2.4 The licence holder must ensure that the property is inspected on a regular basis to assess
if there is evidence of anti-social behaviour; this should be increased to more frequent
visits if anti-social behaviour has been established.
3 Waste Disposal
3.1 There should be suitable facilities for the storage and disposal of household waste and
recycling. The licence holder must comply with arrangements set out in the “Amenity,
Minimum Room Sizing and Management Standards Document”.
3.2 Waste storage and disposal must be in accordance with the Council’s waste and recycling
collection requirements.
4 Gas Safety
4.1 The licence holder must comply with the current statutory requirements for gas safety, and
supply to the Council, annually, a gas safety certificate obtained in respect of the property
within the last 12 months. Any defects in the report must be resolved.
4.2 On the expiry of the report, a new report must be supplied to the Council within 1 month of
the previous reports expiry date.

Page 161

1

Agenda Item 12
Appendix B

5 Electrical Safety

5.1 The licence holder must comply with the current statutory requirements for electrical
installation, and supply to the Council on demand a current electrical installation condition
report (less than 5 years old). Any defects in the report must be resolved.
5.2 The licence holder must ensure that every electrical installation in the house is in proper
working order and safe for continued use.
5.3 On the expiry of the report, a new report must be supplied to the Council within 1 month of
the previous reports expiry date.
6 Furniture Safety
6.1 Where applicable, the licence holder must keep electrical appliances and furniture made
available by him in the house, in a safe condition. Worn or dangerous furniture or fittings
must be replaced.
6.2 The licence holder must supply to the authority, on demand, a declaration verifying the
safety of the appliances and furniture.
6.3 All furniture must comply with The Furniture and Furnishings (Fire) (Safety) Regulations
1988 (as amended) and any succeeding legislation.
7 Fire Fighting and Safety
7.1 Full compliance with the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 is a requirement of
this Licence, which includes undertaking a fire risk assessment and implementing the
required controls. The Fire Risk Assessment and resulting precautions must be reviewed
annually and supplied to the Council on demand.
7.2 The licence holder must have regard to the LACoRS “Housing - Fire Safety, Guidance on
fire safety provisions for certain types of existing housing” document. For flats, licence
holders must also have regard to the Local Government Association “Fire safety in
purpose built block of flats” guidance.
8 Smoke and Carbon Monoxide
8.1 The licence holder must ensure that a smoke alarm is installed on each storey of the
house on which there is a room used wholly or partly as living accommodation.
8.2 The licence holder must ensure that a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room in
the house which is used wholly or partly as living accommodation and contains a solid fuel
burning combustion appliance
Note: Solid fuel includes coal, wood, etc.
8.3 Any such alarm must be tested at the start of a tenancy and at suitable regular intervals
thereafter, and kept in proper working order.

Page 162

2

Agenda Item 12
8.4 The licence holder must supply the Council, on demand, with a Appendix
declarationB by him as to
the condition and positioning of such alarms.
8.5 The licence holder must supply on demand a satisfactory certificate of inspection and
testing of any such alarms.
9 Amenity Standards and Minimum Room Sizing
9.1 The licence holder must comply with the provisions set out under the “Amenity, Minimum
Room Sizing and Management Standards Document”. This document sets out the
mandatory requirements for HMOs, and locally implemented standards. It is the
responsibility of the licence holder and/or manager to ensure they are complying with this
document.
9.2 The licence holder must comply with the minimum room sizes set out under the “Amenity,
Minimum Room Sizing and Management Standards Document”. It is the responsibility of
the licence holder and/or manager to ensure they are complying with this document.
10 Energy Efficiency
10.1 The licence holder must comply with The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property)
(England and Wales) Regulations 2015 and any succeeding legislation.
10.2 An up to date and current Energy Performance Certificate should be provided to the
Council upon demand.
10.3 Steps should be taken by the licence holder to improve the energy efficiency and
sustainability of the property.
11 Food Safety
11.1 Where food or drink is provided to tenants, the provider must register with this authority
as a food business.
12 Property Maintenance
12.1 The property must be maintained in good repair. Facilities and equipment must be kept in
a safe condition and good working order. Worn or dangerous fittings must be replaced.
12.2 All doors and windows provided in the house must be maintained with appropriate
security measures.
13 Management
13.1 The licence holder shall comply with the “Amenity, Minimum Room Sizing and
Management Standards Document”. It is the responsibility of the licence holder and/or
manager to ensure they are complying with this document.

Page 163

3

Agenda Item 12

13.2 The licence holder must ensure that any person involved in, or becoming involved in the
ownership or management of the property after the licence dateAppendix
must be aBfit and proper
person, and must supply the Council on demand with a completed fit and proper person
declaration for each person.

13.3 The licence holder must notify the Council in writing of any change to the name, address
or any other contact details of the licence holder, manager or any other person involved in
the management of the property, within 1 month of any change.
13.4 The licence holder must ensure that tenants have 24 hours direct access to all heating,
toilet, personal washing and cooking facilities and equipment.
14 Notices
14.1 A copy of the licence and relevant contact details of the licence holder and manager shall
be displayed at all times in a communal area of the property.
15 General
15.1 The licence holder must ensure there are no sharing of bedrooms, and that the property
is not being used as sleeping accommodation by no more than the maximum number of
persons specified on the licence.
15.2 The licence holder must notify the Council in writing if the occupation of the property is in
excess of the maximum number of persons permitted on the licence within 1 month.
15.3 The licence holder must supply to the Council on demand the names and room numbers
of all occupants in the property.
15.4 The layout of the property (including room numbers) must not be altered without first
gaining written permission from the Council. Requests to alter the layout should be made
in writing, and should include a full description of the proposed changes.
15.5 The licence holder must notify the Council in writing if there are any proposed changes to
the mode of occupation, as there may be a requirement to revise the existing conditions
and/or numbers of persons specified on the licence.

Date: XXXX
Signed:

HEAD OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH AND HOUSING SERVICES

Page 164

4

Agenda Item 12
Houses in Multiple Occupation Licence ref: XXXX

Appendix B

NOTES
It is provided by the Housing Act 2004, as follows:Grant or refusal of licence
64(1)Where an application in respect of an HMO is made to the local housing authority under section 63, the
authority must either—
(a)grant a licence in accordance with subsection (2), or
(b)refuse to grant a licence.
(2)If the authority are satisfied as to the matters mentioned in subsection (3), they may grant a licence either—
(a)to the applicant, or
(b)to some other person, if both he and the applicant agree.
(3)The matters are—
(a)that the house is reasonably suitable for occupation by not more than the maximum number of households or
persons mentioned in subsection (4) or that it can be made so suitable by the imposition of conditions under section
67;
[F1(aa)that no banning order under section 16 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 is in force against a person
who—
(i)owns an estate or interest in the house or part of it, and
(ii)is a lessor or licensor of the house or part;]
(b)that the proposed licence holder—
(i)is a fit and proper person to be the licence holder, and
(ii)is, out of all the persons reasonably available to be the licence holder in respect of the house, the most
appropriate person to be the licence holder;
(c)that the proposed manager of the house is either—
(i)the person having control of the house, or
(ii)a person who is an agent or employee of the person having control of the house;
(d)that the proposed manager of the house is a fit and proper person to be the manager of the house; and
(e)that the proposed management arrangements for the house are otherwise satisfactory.
(4)The maximum number of households or persons referred to in subsection (3)(a) is—
(a)the maximum number specified in the application, or
(b)some other maximum number decided by the authority.
(5)Sections 65 and 66 apply for the purposes of this section.
Licences: general requirements and duration
68 (1)A licence may not relate to more than one HMO.
(2)A licence may be granted before the time when it is required by virtue of this Part but, if so, the licence cannot
come into force until that time.
(3)A licence—
(a)comes into force at the time that is specified in or determined under the licence for this purpose, and
(b)unless previously terminated by subsection (7) or revoked under section 70 [F1or 70A], continues in force for
the period that is so specified or determined.
(4)That period must not end more than 5 years after—
(a)the date on which the licence was granted, or
(b)if the licence was granted as mentioned in subsection (2), the date when the licence comes into force.
(5)Subsection (3)(b) applies even if, at any time during that period, the HMO concerned subsequently ceases to be
one to which this Part applies.
(6)A licence may not be transferred to another person.
(7)If the holder of the licence dies while the licence is in force, the licence ceases to be in force on his death.
(8)However, during the period of 3 months beginning with the date of the licence holder’s death, the house is to be
treated for the purposes of this Part and Part 3 as if on that date a temporary exemption notice had been served in
respect of the house under section 62.
(9)If, at any time during that period (“the initial period”), the personal representatives of the licence holder request
the local housing authority to do so, the authority may serve on them a notice which, during the period of 3 months
after the date on which the initial period ends, has the same effect as a temporary exemption notice under section
62.

Page 165

5

Agenda Item 12

(10)Subsections (6) to (8) of section 62 apply (with any necessary modifications) in relation to a decision by the
Appendix
B exemption notice.
authority not to serve such a notice as they apply in relation to a decision not to serve
a temporary
Offences in relation to licensing of HMOs

72 (1)A person commits an offence if he is a person having control of or managing an HMO which is required to be
licensed under this Part (see section 61(1)) but is not so licensed.
(2)A person commits an offence if—
(a)he is a person having control of or managing an HMO which is licensed under this Part,
(b)he knowingly permits another person to occupy the house, and
(c)the other person’s occupation results in the house being occupied by more households or persons than is
authorised by the licence.
(3)A person commits an offence if—
(a)he is a licence holder or a person on whom restrictions or obligations under a licence are imposed in accordance
with section 67(5), and
(b)he fails to comply with any condition of the licence.
(4)In proceedings against a person for an offence under subsection (1) it is a defence that, at the material time—
(a)a notification had been duly given in respect of the house under section 62(1), or
(b)an application for a licence had been duly made in respect of the house under section 63,and that notification or
application was still effective (see subsection (8)).
(5)In proceedings against a person for an offence under subsection (1), (2) or (3) it is a defence that he had a
reasonable excuse—
(a)for having control of or managing the house in the circumstances mentioned in subsection (1), or
(b)for permitting the person to occupy the house, or
(c)for failing to comply with the condition,as the case may be.
(6)A person who commits an offence under subsection (1) or (2) is liable on summary conviction to [F1a fine] .
(7)A person who commits an offence under subsection (3) is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding
level 5 on the standard scale.
[F2(7A)See also section 249A (financial penalties as alternative to prosecution for certain housing offences in
England).
(7B)If a local housing authority has imposed a financial penalty on a person under section 249A in respect of
conduct amounting to an offence under this section the person may not be convicted of an offence under this
section in respect of the conduct.]
(8)For the purposes of subsection (4) a notification or application is “effective” at a particular time if at that time it
has not been withdrawn, and either—
(a)the authority have not decided whether to serve a temporary exemption notice, or (as the case may be) grant a
licence, in pursuance of the notification or application, or
(b)if they have decided not to do so, one of the conditions set out in subsection (9) is met.
(9)The conditions are—
(a)that the period for appealing against the decision of the authority not to serve or grant such a notice or licence
(or against any relevant decision of [F3the appropriate tribunal]) has not expired, or
(b)that an appeal has been brought against the authority’s decision (or against any relevant decision of such a
tribunal) and the appeal has not been determined or withdrawn.
(10)In subsection (9) “relevant decision” means a decision which is given on an appeal to the tribunal and confirms
the authority’s decision (with or without variation).
Part 3 Appeals against licence decisions
Right to appeal against refusal or grant of licence
Schedule 5, 31 (1)The applicant or any relevant person may appeal to [F3the appropriate tribunal] against a
decision by the local housing authority on an application for a licence—
(a)to refuse to grant the licence, or
(b)to grant the licence.
(2)An appeal under sub-paragraph (1)(b) may, in particular, relate to any of the terms of the licence.
Right to appeal against decision or refusal to vary or revoke licence

Page 166

6

Agenda Item 12

32 (1)The licence holder or any relevant person may appeal to [F4the appropriate tribunal] against a decision by
Appendix B
the local housing authority—
(a)to vary or revoke a licence, or
(b)to refuse to vary or revoke a licence.
(2)But this does not apply to the licence holder in a case where the decision to vary or revoke the licence was
made with his agreement.
32A (1)The right of appeal under paragraph 31(1)(a) does not apply where a licence is refused because of
section 66(3A) or 89(3A) (person with banning order not a fit and proper person).
(2)The right of appeal under paragraph 32(1)(a) does not apply in relation to the revocation of a licence required
by section 70A or 93A (duty to revoke licence in banning order cases).]
Time limits for appeals

33 (1)Any appeal under paragraph 31 against a decision to grant, or (as the case may be) to refuse to grant, a
licence must be made within the period of 28 days beginning with the date specified in the notice under paragraph
7 or 8 as the date on which the decision was made.
(2)Any appeal under paragraph 32 against a decision to vary or revoke, or (as the case may be) to refuse to vary
or revoke, a licence must be made within the period of 28 days beginning with the date specified in the notice
under paragraph 16, 21, 24 or 28 as the date on which the decision was made.
(3) [F6The appropriate tribunal] may allow an appeal to be made to it after the end of the period mentioned in
sub-paragraph (1) or (2) if it is satisfied that there is a good reason for the failure to appeal before the end of that
period (and for any delay since then in applying for permission to appeal out of time).

Page 167

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C

Devon Wide Guidance
House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Standards
North Devon District Council

June 2011

This document was produced by a consortium of Devon private sector housing managers –
the Devon Private Sector Housing Group
1

Page 169

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C

Devon Wide Guidance
HMO Standards
These standards have been designed to assist landlords and developers to improve
and maintain HMOs to a reasonable standard. There is considerable diversity in the
way that HMOs are occupied and in the health and safety risks that may be present.
This advice therefore suggests standards that are appropriate for a wide range of the
most common types of HMO.
The advisory standards are flexible and can be adapted to suit different
circumstances. They cover both licensed and non-licensable HMOs.
HHSRS assessment applies to all HMO’s
Licensed HMO’s
The exception is in regard to licensed HMOs where national minimum HMO
standards must be complied with and in particular the level of bathroom, WC and
wash hand basin provision. A Housing Health and Safety Rating (HHSRS)
assessment will be carried within the 5 years of an HMO Licence being issued.
As part of the HMO licensing process, the council can discuss with landlords any
variations from the standards that may be appropriate for a particular HMO.
Information Sources:www.northdevon.gov.uk
The standards may be revised from time to time. To ensure that these standards are
current, please check with your council’s website.
Further information about standards for privately rented houses is available on the
council website including mandatory licensing and the Housing Health and Safety
Rating System (HHSRS).
www.lacors.gov.uk
A good source of information regarding decisions by the Residential Property
Tribunal and codes of practice for private sector housing matters can be found for
Environmental Health Practitioners on the LACORS website. Since July 2010
LACORS in now known as Local Government (LG) Regulation.
www.communities.gov.uk
A good source of information regarding Private Sector Housing matters for the
public/landlords and tenants.

Contact Details
2

Page 170

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C
Enquiries about HMOs can be made to the private sector housing service – See end
of guidance document for details.
WHAT IS A HOUSE IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION?
The Housing Act 2004 redefines a HMO as a building or part of a building (i.e. flat)
which:







Is occupied by persons not forming a single household and/or;
Two or more households occupy and share one or more basic amenities
(or lack such amenities);
Is occupied by more than one household and is a converted building not
entirely comprising of self-contained flats;
Comprises entirely of self-contained flats and the conversion does not
comply with the Building Regulations 1991 and less than 2/3 of the flats
are owner occupied;
The HMO is occupied as the only or main residence;
Rents are payable or other consideration is provided in respect of at least
1 of those occupying the HMO.

ARE ANY BUILDINGS EXEMPT?
Yes – the following are exempt from the HMO definition:







Building occupied by only two people who do not form a single household;
Buildings managed by specified educational establishments, Local
Housing Authorities, Registered Social Landlords, Police, Fire, Health
Authority or regulated by other legislation such as residential care homes
etc;
Buildings occupied by religious communities;
Buildings predominantly owner occupied, including residential landlords
where the owner occupier (and family members) occupies the building (or
flat) with no more than 2 other persons;
Buildings converted into self-contained flats, where the conversion meets
1991 Building Regulations.

WHAT IS A SINGLE HOUSEHOLD?
A single household includes members of the same family either by blood, marriage,
including same sex partnerships or other recognised means such as adoption or
fostering. As an example, four friends sharing a student dwelling will be classed as
four individual households and therefore a HMO.
EXPLANATION OF CATEGORIES OF HMOs
The number of amenities and the health and safety standards that are appropriate
for an HMO are related to the differing needs of different types of occupiers. These
standards take this into account and suggest different standards for different
categories of HMOs as described below:
3

Page 171

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C

Category A HMOs
The essential feature of this type of HMO is that the occupiers tend to live completely
independently of each other.
Commonly these HMOs comprise parts that are rented as individual lettings with
exclusive use of certain rooms. Occupiers may share washing, WC and kitchen
facilities, but do not usually have a communal living or dining room . Individuals or
households may have a letting agreement that specifies the part(s) of the
accommodation that they may occupy.
Typical examples are:
 Single room bedsits – may have exclusive use of, or may share, personal
washing, WC and kitchen facilities
 Flatlets – multi-room lettings sharing some personal washing, WC and
kitchen facilities.
 Non – self contained conversions.
 Buildings converted into 2 or more self-contained flats where the
conversion did not comply with Part B of the Building Regulations 1991
(Fire protection facilities and means of escape)
 Category A HMO’s may or may not need to be Licensed depending on the
number of storeys, occupants and whether facilities are shared.
Category B HMOs
The essential feature of these types of HMO is that the occupiers tend not to live
completely independently of each other and there is some element of communal
occupancy.
Occupiers will share personal washing, WC and kitchen/dining facilities and will often
have a communal living room.
Each occupier may have a separate tenancy, or may be on a group/joint contract ,
commonly students or young professional adults.
Larger category B HMO’s may require to be Licensed.
Hostels
These are HMOs that are generally referred to as hostels, guest houses, or bed &
breakfast accommodation which provide accommodation for people with no other
permanent place of residence.
The category includes hostel and bed and breakfast establishments used by local
authorities for housing homeless people, or similar establishments which provide
accommodation for single people whose only financial support is state benefit and
who would otherwise be homeless, or foreign language students (discuss with your
4

Page 172

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C
local authority) and migrant workers living in this type of accommodation for 3
months or more.

Category A and B HMO’s
Shared Personal Washing & WC Facilities

CATEGORY A HMO &
Facility
CATEGORY B HMO
Bathroom
The provision of
baths/WC’s will be
agreed with the LA

WC
Wash hand basins

1 per 5 occupiers
5 occupiers 1 bathroom and a separate WC with WHB (the WC can be
contained within a second bathroom where practicable.)
Student shared houses may not require a separate WC (speak to your
Local Authority)
For 6 – 10 occupiers 2 bathrooms and 2 separate WC’s with WHB
All bathrooms to possess:- a WC (unless agreed separate provision as
above), WHB and Bath or fixed Shower supplying adequate cold and
constant hot water
1 per 5 occupiers
See above for further ratios
In licensable HMOs 1 WHB to be provided within each letting where it is
reasonably practicable. It will be the responsibility of the landlord to
demonstrate that is not reasonably practicable for WHB to be provided in
each room. Regard should be had to the age and character of the HMO,
the size and layout of each room and its existing provision for WHBs toilets
and bathrooms.
A wash hand basin must be provided with every WC
Each WHB to be provided with adequate supply of cold and constant hot
water

Kitchen Facilities
FACILITY

CATEGORY A

CATEGORY B

Cooker

1 per 5 occupiers/small households.
The addition of a microwave oven
with a grill will allow the facilities to
be used by up to 7 persons.
For 7 to 10 persons 2 cookers must
be provided

1 for up to 5 occupiers. The addition
of a microwave oven will allow the
facilities to be used by up to 7
persons.
If there are more than 7 occupants,
2 cookers must be provided, for use
by up to 10 occupants.

Sink and drainer
Dishwasher not to
replace a sink

1 person bedsit with exclusive use
of kitchen facilities, 2 ring burner,
oven and grill or 2 ring burner and
combined microwave and grill
2 person bedsit with exclusive use
of kitchen facilities. 4 ring burner,
oven and grill
1 per 5 occupiers/small households.

1 for up to 5 occupiers.

If there are more than 7 occupants,
2 sinks and drainers must be
provided, for use by up to 10

5

Page 173

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C
occupants.
Adequate no. of
suitably located
electrical power
points
(adjacent to worktop)
Worktops
Dry food storage

4 single sockets or 2 double
sockets are required for every 5
occupiers/small households.
Additional sockets are needed for a
cooker or refrigerator and washing
machine.
2m x 0.6m per 5 occupiers/small
households.
Double wall unit or single base unit
3

(0.16m ) for each occupier/small
household. Storage in communal
areas to be lockable.
Refrigerated storage

Extractor fan
Fire door to shared
kitchen
Fire blanket

Storage space for
crockery & kitchen
utensils
Layout of
kitchens/cooking
areas and position of
facilities

3

Standard sized fridge (0.15m ) with
adequate freezer compartment per
occupier/small household.

4 single sockets or 2 double
sockets per 5 occupiers. Additional
sockets are needed for a cooker or
refrigerator and washing machine

2m x 0.6m per 5 occupiers.
Single wall unit per occupier
3

(0.08m )

3

Standard sized fridge (0.15m ) per
5 occupiers. Separate standard
sized freezer should be provided
per 5 occupiers.

If no freezer compartment in the
fridge, separate freezers should be
provided. Storage in communal
areas to be lockable.
To be provided
30 minute self closing fire door set
with cold smoke seals and
intumescent strip
To be supplied and wall mounted,
but not to be sited immediately
adjacent to or over a cooker
Adequate cupboard and/or drawer
space

To be provided
30 minute self closing fire door set
with cold smoke seals and
intumescent strip
To be supplied and wall mounted,
but not to be sited immediately
adjacent to or over a cooker
Adequate cupboard and/or drawer
space

Regard to be had for the safe use of
the equipment provided and the
access into and out of the
kitchen/cooking area.
Particular care should be taken
where 2 sets of facilities are
required in one room/area

Regard to be had for the safe use of
the equipment provided and the
access into and out of the
kitchen/cooking area.
Particular care should be taken
where 2 sets of facilities are
required in one room/area

NOTES
No kitchen facility should be more than one floor distant from the users of that
facility. This will not apply if a communal living space or dining space is available on
the same floor, or is not more than one floor away from the kitchen.
No personal washing or WC facility should be more than one floor distant in the case
of a category A HMO, or two floors distant in the case of a category B HMO, from the
users of those facilities.
A small household is one that consists of no more than 2 persons.

6

Page 174

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C

Space Standards
ROOM(S)
One room unit for one
person

CATEGORY A

CATEGORY B

2

13 m including kitchen facilities for
exclusive use.
2

8 m where separate shared kitchen
One room unit for a
co-habiting couple

2

20.5 m including kitchen facilities
for exclusive use.

2

13 m including kitchen facilities for
exclusive use.
2

8 m where separate shared kitchen
and lounge
Not applicable

2

15m where separate shared
kitchen
Two or more roomed
unit for one person

Kitchen – 4.5m

2

Not applicable

Living / kitchen 11m
Living room – 9m
Bedroom – 8.0m

2

2

2

Bed/living room 10m
Two or more roomed
unit for two persons
living as a single
household

Kitchen – 7 m

2

Not applicable

Living / kitchen -15m
Living room – 12m
Bedroom – 10m

2

2

2

Bed/living room 14m
Shared kitchens

2

2

2

7m for up to 5 occupants.
2

Bedroom/study

10m for 6 – 10 occupants.
Not applicable

2

7m for up to 5 occupants.
2

10m for 6 – 10 occupants.
2

10m except where a separate
communal living room is provided in
which case the bedroom may be
8.0m

Dining/kitchen

2
2

Not usually applicable.

11.5 m for up to 5 occupants.
2

19.5m for 6 – 10 occupants.
Communal living
room

2

Not usually applicable.

12 m for up to 5 occupants.
2

16.5 m for 6 – 10 occupants.

7

Page 175

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C

Space Standards for self-contained units not sharing any facilities
with the exception of common means of access and egress
ROOM(S)
One room one person
unit with bathroom
containing WC
separated by lobby
One room unit for a
co-habiting couple
with bathroom
containing WC
separated by lobby
Two or more
habitable roomed unit
for one person with
bathroom containing
WC separated by
lobby

CATEGORY A

CATEGORY B

2

13 m including kitchen facilities for
exclusive use.

2

20.5 m including kitchen facilities
for exclusive use.

Kitchen – 4.5m

2

Not applicable

Living / kitchen 11m
Living room – 9m
Bedroom – 8.0m
Kitchen – 7 m

2

2
2

2

Not applicable

Living / kitchen -15m
Living room – 12m
Bedroom – 10m

Not applicable

2

Bed/living room 10m
Two or more
habitable roomed unit
for two persons living
as a single household

Not applicable

2

2

2

Bed/living room 14m

2

Measurement of rooms
Rooms sizes are calculated by taking wall to wall measurements directly above the
height of the skirting board.
Areas which can only be used for access (e.g. some “L” shaped rooms with a narrow
area in front of a doorway) are excluded. Also excluded are all parts of rooms
located below sloping ceilings etc where the maximum ceiling height is less than
1.5m.

8

Page 176

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C

Standards for Hostels
Shared Personal Washing, WC and Kitchen Facilities
(There maybe a preference for single sex facilities where shared, check with your
local authority)

Bathroom
WC
Wash hand basin

Cooker

Sink and drainer

1 per 5 occupiers 1 bathroom and a separate WC (where practicable) with
WHB
1 per 5 occupiers and separate WC (where practicable)
In licensable HMOs 1 WHB to be provided within each letting where it is
reasonably practicable. It will be the responsibility of the landlord to
demonstrate that is not reasonably practicable for WHB to be provided in
each room.
Regard should be had to the age and character of the HMO, the size and
layout of each room, and its existing provision for WHBs toilets and
bathrooms.
A wash hand basin must be provided with every WC
1 cooker for up to 5 persons/small households + microwave oven or other
alternative form of cooker.
2 cookers for up to 10 persons and + microwave ovens or other alternative
form of cookers.
1 cooker per additional 5 persons thereafter + microwave ovens or other
alternative form of cookers
1 sink for up to 5 person.
2 sinks for up to 10 persons and
one sink per additional 5 persons thereafter.

Space Standards for Hostels
ROOM(S)

1 person
2 persons

MINIMUM ROOM SIZE

2

8.0m if communal area provided.
2

10m if communal area provided.
2

14m if no communal area.
Kitchen facilities
located within the
letting
Shared kitchens (for
use by occupants)
Kitchen/dining rooms

2

Add 3m to each of the room sizes given above
2

7m for up to 5 occupants.
2

10m for 6 – 10 occupants.
2

11.5m for up to 5 persons.
2

19.5 m for 6-10 persons.
Lounge/dining area

2

12m for up to 5 persons.
2

16.5m for 6-10 persons.
Dining space to be in close proximity to kitchen.

9

Page 177

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C

Standards applicable to all HMO’s

Basic Fire Safety

Fire precautions

All units of accommodation and communal areas shall be fitted with
appropriate automatic fire detection, emergency escape route lighting, fire
fighting equipment (portable) and fire precaution equipment as identified by
a comprehensive fire risk assessment.
Generally,the Council is guided by the standard of fire safety and
emergency lighting described in the document “Housing - Fire Safety”
published by LACORS (July 2008). A copy of this can be downloaded from
the LG Regulation website www.lacors.gov.uk.
All properties will be expected to meet the appropriate standards for
structural resistance to the spread of smoke and fire.
All kitchens must have a suitable sited fire blanket and adequate provision
of fire doors and automatic fire detection throughout the property as
required by LACORS Fire Safety Guidance.
Typically HMO’s of 3 or more storeys will require:Grade A LD2 - A fire detection and alarm system which incorporates
Control and Indicating equipment with remote back up power supply
(usually includes a panel in the hallway). The system serves individual lets
and common parts and is interlinked. An alternative design option, where
there is a need to manage the avoidance of false alarms from one dwelling
unit affecting all occupiers, may be to install more than one alarm system of
differing grades in different parts of the premises (mixed system).
In HMO’s of 2 storeys or less:Grade D LD3 - A system of 240 volt mains powered smoke alarms, each
with an integral standby supply that may be a single detector or two or more
linked detectors. Additional heat detection in high risk rooms.
An HHSRS assessment will also be carried out to determine the risk from
fire.

Fire detection testing

Gas supply

Space heating

Where considered appropriate, and following consultation with the Fire &
Rescue Authority, the Council may require additional precautions.
Grade A systems must be tested by a competent person, i.e. someone
with “the necessary training, expertise, and with the access to the requisite
tools, equipment and information and capable of carrying out” the tests for
fire detection and alarm (BS5839) and emergency lighting (BS5266). In
practice, a reputable alarm installation company will be able to carry out
these tests and provide an annual certificate.
Grade D and battery systems can be tested by the owner or manager.
However, the manufacturer’s instructions must be followed in these tests.
If you provide any gas appliances you must have an annual inspection
carried out by a competent person (an engineer recognised by GAS SAFE
as being competent to undertake such testing.) You must keep copies of the
original current certificate for inspection and should provide all tenants with
a copy.
Each unit of accommodation must be provided with satisfactory fixed
heating.
Satisfactory heating will comprise a whole house system of heating, capable
of economically achieving an internal temperature of 21°C in habitable

10

Page 178

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C

Electrical Installation

Artificial Lighting

Electrical Appliances

Furniture

Natural Lighting

Ventilation

Electricity, gas and
water supplies

rooms and 18°C in non-habitable rooms and circulation spaces when the
external air temperature is 0°C.
Appropriate systems include gas, oil or economy 10 wet radiator systems,
economy 10 or 7 electric heating or any other appropriate technology that is
able to meet the standard above. In the instance of electric heating it may
be necessary to further improve the thermal performance of the structure to
achieve the appropriate standard.
The output of the system needs to reflect the thermal characteristics of the
accommodation which include the heat losses through walls etc, draughts
and the volume of the room.
An HHSRS assessment will be carried out to determine the risk from cold
and where this is unacceptable improvement will be required. Assessment of
this takes account of the heating supplied, its control, and the thermal
characteristics of the property.
Portable paraffin oil heaters and appliances using liquefied petroleum gas
(LPG) are a fire and explosion hazard and their use is prohibited. They also
create excess moisture and therefore increase the likelihood of condensation
problems and associated mould growth.
All electrical installations must be inspected periodically and test carried out
to BS7671 by a competent person (eg an engineer recognised by NICEIC or
ECA as being competent to undertake such testing). The certificate will
state when the next inspection is required and therefore when the certificate
expires. You should keep an original current certificate available for
inspection every 5 years.
Adequate artificial lighting shall be provided in all areas sufficient for:
(a) the safe use of the accommodation (including external and common
areas)
(b) the maintenance of its cleanliness and the carrying out of normal
domestic activities.
Time switches will only be allowed to operate lighting in common landings,
passages and staircases if they are programmed to stay on long enough to
allow for a person to safely climb stairs and enter accommodation. Such
switches to be operable on each level.
There should be suitably located light switches that when operated allow the
safe passage of residents and visitors within the building.
If you provide any portable electrical appliances (e.g. fridges, freezer,
microwave, kettle, etc.) these should be inspected annually by a competent
person (eg an engineer recognised by NICEIC or ECA as being competent
to undertake such testing).
Unless all the appliances are less than one year old, you should keep an
original current certificate available for inspection.
If you provide any furniture to which the Furniture and Furnishings
(Fire)(Safety) Regulations 1988 apply (e.g. beds, sofas, curtains) it must
comply with the regulations.
Where practicable every habitable room should be provided and maintained
a clear glazed window, and/or a door with clear glazing, opening directly to
the external air and having a glass area equal to at least one-tenth (1/10th)
of the floor area
All glazing to windows in bathrooms and WC’s shall be obscured where
considered necessary by the Council.
Where practicable all habitable rooms should be ventilated direct to the
external air by a window, the openable area of which shall be equivalent to
at least one twentieth of the floor area (1/20th).
All kitchens, bathrooms, WC’s should comply with the above standard, but
where this is not practicable mechanical ventilation meeting current Building
Regulations shall be provided.
The supplies of electricity, gas (where provided) and water to each letting
shall be sufficient to carry out normal domestic activities. Where landlord’s

11

Page 179

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C
submeters are provided, the charge for the power used shall be within the
limits set by the maximum retail price of electricity and gas.
Where lighting, heating, ventilation, kitchen, hot water, electrical sockets or
alarm systems are provided for the shared use of all, or several,
households, then:

Water Supply

Refuse Storage

Minimum Standards
of Security

• These services shall be available at all times, and sufficient for the
needs of the users in the function being carried out and
• The electricity and gas (where provided) shall be provided from
quarterly meters. Normally these will be landlords’ meters. However,
in the case of some, smaller, shared housing, metering may be the
collective responsibility of all the occupiers.
Each property should be provided with piped cold water of potable quality
supplied at an adequate pressure. To maintain water quality any storage
tank supplying water shall be suitably covered.
Each occupier to be able to access the above.
Refuse storage facilities must be provided sufficient for the needs of the
house and of a type acceptable to the local authority and in a manner that
shall not prejudice the means of escape in case of fire (and in accordance
with its recycling requirements).
This should normally be in the ratio of one standard bin or equivalent per
household. This provision is additional to any refuse storage containers
provided in shared kitchens.
All containers should be located on hardstanding with suitable access for
cleansing of the area and removal of containers.
Managers are also responsible for ensuring that a nuisance or health risk
does not arise from refuse problems; such a problem is evidence of failure
to provide adequate “facilities”, and may give rise to enforcement action by
the Council.
The standards listed are those currently identified by Secured by Design
under the 'Police Preferred Specification' scheme. Additional standards will
be added if and when appropriate.
Door and lock standards: BS 3621, 2007 thief resistant locks – key
egress.
The minimum standard for locks on external or entrance doors to be
acceptable to the Association of British Insurers (ABI) and the police
service. The effectiveness of the lock also depends on the quality of the
door, frame and other hardware which is not tested by this standard and
which may fail before the lock.
Window standards: BS 7950, 1997 specification foe enhanced security
performance of casements, tilt/turn windows for domestic
applications.
BS 7950 must be supported by performance standards relevant to the
materials used:
 BS 4873, 2005 Specification for aluminium windows.
 BS 7412, 2007 Specification for plastic windows made from PVC-U
extruded hollow profiles.
 BS 644-1, 2003 Wood windows. Specification for factory assembled
windows - various types.
 BWF:TWAS Timber window accreditation scheme.
 BS 6510, 2005 Specification for steel windows, sills, window boards
& doors.
 LPS 1270 (Draft) Burglary resistance of security glazing and glazing
films. Based on LPS 1175, this standard enables specifiers to select
glazing films that offer resistance to manual attack equivalent to the
building products in which the glass or film is to be used.

12

Page 180

Agenda Item 12
Appendix C

General Management
The person having control of the house must ensure the following:

All services, furnishings, fixtures and fittings are maintained in good, sound,
and clean condition.



The structure is kept in good order



All communal areas of the interior are regularly cleaned and redecorated as
necessary



All yards, boundary walls, fences, gardens and outbuildings are maintained in
a safe and tidy condition



Satisfactory arrangements for the disposal of refuse and litter have been
made



At the commencement of all tenancies the lettings are clean, in a satisfactory
state of repair and decoration, and comply in all respects with these
standards.



All staircases and multiple steps should be provided with suitable handrails



All tenants should fulfil their tenancy obligations

Planning Permission and Building Regulation Approval
These standards have been adopted without prejudice to other legislation applicable
to HMO’s and residential accommodation generally. Alterations or extensions
carried out to a building in order to comply with these standards will continue to
require any necessary Planning Permission and/or Building Regulation approval.

Contact:

Private Sector Housing Team

Telephone: 01271 388870
Email:

customerservices@northdevon.gov.uk

Writing:

Private Sector Housing Team, Environmental Health & Housing, North
Devon Council, Civic Centre, Barnstaple EX31 1EA

Authority:

North Devon District Council

13

Page 181

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D

Amenity, Minimum Room Sizing and
Management Standards Document
Standards Applicable to all Licensable Part 2
HMOs – Revised March 2021

Introduction
This document sets out the amenity standards, minimum room sizing and
management standards for landlords, licence holders and managers
operating licensable Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) in North Devon.
Please note these are minimum standards, and it is expected properties will
meet or exceed these requirements.
If the standards outlined in this document are not reasonably practicable
based on the age and layout of your property, please contact us and we will
discuss alternative options with you.
What is an HMO?
The Housing Act 2004 defines a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) as a
building or part of a building (e.g. a flat) which:




Two or more households occupy, and share one or more basic amenity
(toilet, bathroom, cooking facilities).
Is a converted building not entirely comprising of self-contained flats.
Is converted into self-contained flats, but the conversion does not
comply with the Building Regulations 1991, and less than 2/3 of the
flats are owner occupied.

An HMO could be:






A house split into separate bedsits,
A shared house or flat, where the sharers are not members of the
same family,
A hostel,
A bed-and-breakfast hotel that is not just for holidays, or,
Shared accommodation for students.

What is a household defined as?
A household is defined as persons who are all members of the same family
(that are related to one another as a couple, parent, grandparent, child,
grandchild, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece or cousin. Stepchildren and half
blood relatives are also included).

Page 183

1

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D
The property must also be used as the tenants' only or main residence, and
used solely or mainly to house tenants.
Mandatory licensing of HMOs
From April 2018, all HMOs with five or more occupants from two or more
separate households, who share a bathroom, toilet or kitchen are required to
be mandatorily licenced by law. The introduction of this legislation removed
the three-storey rule, meaning all properties which are less than three-storeys,
and meet the above criteria, are now required to be licensed as Part 2 HMOs
by the Council.
The new legislation also include the implementation of national minimum
sleeping room sizes and waste disposal provision requirements.
A Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) assessment will be
carried out by an officer at the Council within 5 years of a property obtaining
an HMO licence. The assessment highlights any deficiencies or hazards in a
property and scores them according to their likelihood of risk. If a deficiency
corresponds to a Category 1 or 2 hazard, action will be required to remove the
risk.
Exemptions to HMO licensing


A property with 2 persons forming 2 households,



An owner occupied property with 2 lodgers,



Buildings controlled by:
o
o
o
o
o

Public bodies,
Registered social landlords,
Educational establishments,
Religious establishments, and
Buildings provided for specific use and covered by defined
legislation (e.g. prisons, children’s homes, immigration centres
etc.).

Planning permission
If you have any queries relating to planning permission or building
classifications please contact the planning department who will assist you with
your queries.
Further information
Further information in relation to HMOs, including information pertaining
specifically to landlords of HMOs and tenants living in HMOs can be found on
our website.

Page 184

2

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D
Heating
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. Regulation 8
and Schedule 3
Applies to: Bedrooms and bedsits, and bathrooms.
Prescribed standards:


Each unit of living accommodation in an HMO must be equipped with
adequate means of space heating, and kept in proper working order.

Locally agreed standards:


The heating is capable of maintaining an internal temperature of 21°C
when the outside temperature is -1°C;



The heating is capable of being controlled by the occupier;



Heating should be suitable and permanently fixed;



Each shower or bathroom should have a heating appliance.

Justification:


Adverse health impacts are known to begin after the internal
temperature of the house falls below 19°C, and a healthy indoor
temperature is 21°C. Therefore, it is important the heating is suitable
and occupiers have access to these controls.



The heating should be fixed to reduce the likelihood of fire.



Fixed heating also reduces the likelihood of hazards associated with
excess cold and excess heat, as it reduces the likelihood of areas of
extreme temperature in the property. This also reduces hazards
associated with damp and mould by reducing the incidence of
condensation and the prevalence of cold surfaces.

Personal washing facilities and WC’s
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. Regulation 8
and Schedule 3 (2) as amended by the Licensing and Management of Houses
in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007.
Applies to: Wash hand basins, baths, showers and WC’s

Page 185

3

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D
Prescribed standards:


Where there are four or fewer occupiers sharing those facilities there
must be at least one bathroom with a fixed bath or shower and a toilet
(which may be situated in the bathroom);



Where there are five or more occupiers sharing those facilities there
must be:
o One separate toilet with wash hand basin with appropriate
splash back for every five sharing occupiers, and;
o At least one bathroom (which may contain a toilet) with a fixed
bath or shower for every five sharing occupiers.



Where there are five or more occupiers of an HMO, every unit of living
accommodation must contain a wash hand basin with appropriate
splash back;



All baths, showers and wash hand basins in an HMO must be
equipped with taps providing an adequate supply of cold and constant
hot water;



All bathrooms in an HMO must be suitably and adequately heated and
ventilated;



All bathrooms and toilets in an HMO must be of an adequate size and
layout;



All baths, showers, toilets and wash hand basins in an HMO must be fit
for the purpose;



All bathrooms and toilets in an HMO must be suitably located in or in
relation to the living accommodation in the HMO.

Locally adopted standards:


Bathrooms should not be more than two-storeys away from any
bedroom and accessible from communal areas;



Bathrooms must have mechanical ventilation to the outside air in
addition to any window(s);



Ventilation should not be obstructed;



Bathrooms and toilets must have a layout satisfactory to the Council;



Bathrooms must have a sufficient fixed heating source.

Page 186

4

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D
Reference table for prescribed standards:

Number of occupiers

1-4

5

6-10

11-15

15+

Number of bathrooms and WCs
1 x bathroom containing a fixed bath/shower
1 X WC (WC may be contained in a bathroom, or
in a separate compartment with its own wash hand
basin)
1 x bathroom containing a fixed bath/shower
1 x WC in a room containing a wash hand basin
(this WC may be contained in a second bathroom)
2 x bathrooms containing fixed baths/showers
2 x WCs in rooms containing wash hand basins
(one of the WCs may be contained within the
bathrooms)
3 x bathrooms containing fixed baths/showers
3 x WCs in rooms containing wash hand basins
(two of these WCs may be contained within the
bathrooms)
4 x bathrooms containing fixed baths/showers
4 x WCs in rooms containing wash hand basins
(three of these WCs may be contained within the
bathrooms)

If reasonably practicable, wash hand basins are to be provided in each
individual unit of accommodation. It is up to the landlord to demonstrate it is
not reasonably practicable in every room, and the Council will assess this
based on ease of installation and cost. As an alternative, a wash hand basin
should be provided within each shared bathroom and compartment containing
a toilet.
All rooms containing a toilet must also contain a wash hand basin.
Justification:


A sufficient number of amenities reduces the number of hazards
associated with sanitary and personal hygiene.



Ventilation extracts and reduces moisture-laden air contributing to
damp and mould.



Excess cold is reduced by ensuring bathrooms are sufficiently heated.

Page 187

5

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D


An appropriate bathroom layout reduces hazards associated with the
position and operability of amenities etc.

Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food (shared
facilities)
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. Regulation 8
and Schedule 3 (3)
Applies to: Shared kitchens
Prescribed standards:
Where all or some of the units of accommodation within the HMO do not
contain any facilities for the cooking of food:


There must be a kitchen, suitably located in relation to the living
accommodation, and of such layout and size and equipped with such
facilities so as to adequately enable those sharing the facilities to store,
prepare and cook food.



The kitchen must be equipped with the following equipment, which
must be fit for the purpose and supplied in a sufficient quantity for the
number of those sharing the facilities:
o Sinks with draining boards;
o An adequate supply of cold and constant hot water to each sink
supplied;
o Installations or equipment for the cooking of food;
o Sufficient number of electrical sockets;
o Worktops for the preparation of food;
o Cupboards for the storage of food or kitchen and cooking
utensils;
o Refrigerators with an adequate freezer compartment (or, where
the freezer compartment is not adequate, adequate separate
freezers);
o Appropriate refuse disposal facilities;
o Appropriate extractor fans, fire blankets and fire doors.

Locally adopted standards:
Shared Kitchen Facilities

1-5 occupants

1 x oven with grill
1 x 4 ring hob
1 x microwave

Page 188

6

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D

6-10 occupants

Cooking
appliances

2 x ovens with grills
2 x 4 ring hob
1 x microwave
3 x ovens with grills
3 x 4 ring hob
1 x microwave or,

11-15 occupants
2 x ovens with grills,
3 x 4 ring hob and,
2 x microwaves with grills
4 x ovens with grills
4 x 4 ring hob
2 x microwave or,
15+ occupants
3 x ovens with grills,
4 x 4 ring hob
3 x microwaves with grills
1-5 occupants

1 x sink with drainer and tiled
splashback, with constant hot and cold
water

6-10 occupants

2 x sinks with drainers and tiled
splashback, with constant hot and cold
water

11-15 occupants

3 x sinks with drainer and tiled
splashback, with constant hot and cold
water

15+ occupants

4 x sinks with drainers and tiled
splashback, with constant hot and cold
water

Sinks and
drainers

1-5 occupants

1 x 150L refrigerator and,
1 x 150L freezer or,

6-10 occupants

1 x combined fridge-freezer
2 x 150L refrigerators and,
2 x 150L freezers or,

11-15 occupants

2 x combined fridge-freezers
3 x 150L refrigerators and,
3 x 150L freezers or,

Fridge
freezers

15+ occupants

3 x combined fridge-freezers
4 x 150L refrigerators and,
4 x 150L freezers or,

Page 189

7

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D
4 x combined fridge-freezers
Ovens should not be located under windows or next to
doors or thoroughfares.
Layout
No living accommodation should be more than two-storeys
away from the shared kitchen.

Worktops

Fixed worktops with a smooth impervious surface for food
preparation, minimum size 500mm x 2000mm per every 5
occupiers.

Electrical
sockets

There should be an adequate number of electrical sockets
to allow for every main appliance (e.g. oven, fridge/freezer,
microwave, washing machine etc.), plus 1 socket for every
occupant.

Food
storage unit

Ventilation
Waste
storage
Fire blanket
and fire
doors

Each occupant should have access to a double food
storage cupboard (minimum capacity 0.16m3) and drawer
space.
Each kitchen should have a mechanical extractor fan in
addition to an openable window.
Waste storage facilities must comply with the requirements
below.
Each kitchen must be provided with 1 fire blanket.
Kitchens should have fire doors with 30/60 minute fire
resistance.

If hostels provide all main meals, the kitchen facilities are to be provided for
every 10 occupants and the ovens can be replaced with microwaves.

Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food (individual
use facilities)
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other
Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006. Regulation 8
and Schedule 3 (3)
Applies to: Individual use kitchens
Prescribed standards:


Where a unit of living accommodation contains kitchen facilities for the
exclusive use of the individual household, and there are no other

Page 190

8

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D
kitchen facilities available for that household, that unit must be provided
with:
o
o
o
o
o

Adequate appliances and equipment for the cooking of food;
A sink with an adequate supply of cold and constant hot water;
A work top for the preparation of food;
Sufficient electrical sockets;
A cupboard for the storage of kitchen utensils and crockery; and
a refrigerator.

Locally adopted standards:
Individual Kitchen Facilities

1 person bedsit

1 x oven and grill
1 x 2 ring hob

2 person bedsit

1 x oven and grill
1 x 4 ring hob

1 person bedsit

1 x sink with drainer and tiled splashback
with constant hot and cold water

2 person bedsit

1 x sink with drainer and tiled splashback
with constant hot and cold water

1 person bedsit

1 x 150L refrigerator with a freezer
compartment

2 person bedsit

1 x 150L refrigerator with a freezer
compartment

Cooking
appliances

Sinks and
drainers

Fridge
freezers

Worktops

Fixed worktops with a smooth impervious surface for food
preparation, minimum size 500mm x 1000mm.

Electrical
sockets

There should be an adequate number of electrical sockets to
allow for every main appliance (e.g. oven, fridge/freezer,
microwave, washing machine etc.), plus 1 socket for every
occupant.

Food
storage unit

Each occupant should have access to a double food storage
cupboard (minimum capacity 0.16m3) and drawer space.

Justification:


An appropriate layout ensures users can safely move around the area
and prepare food sufficiently. Additionally, it reduces hazards
associated with the position and operability of amenities etc.

Page 191

9

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D


The sufficient location of appliances (ovens especially) reduces the
incidence of hazards associated with fire, carbon monoxide, and
flames and hot surfaces etc.



An adequate number of appliances ensures users can prepare and
cook food, and it also reduces the likelihood of food safety related
hazards.



A satisfactory number of electrical sockets reduces the likelihood of
sockets being overloaded, reducing the likelihood of electrical hazards
and fire.



Waste storage facilities mitigate hazards relating to domestic hygiene,
pests and refuse.

Mandatory Requirements in HMOs
Space standards
The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of
Licences) (England) Regulations 2018, regulation 2
Applies to: Sleeping accommodation and shared kitchens
Prescribed standards:
 6.51m2 for one person over 10 years of age.
 10.22m2 for two persons over 10 years of age.
 4.64m2 for one child under the age of 10 years.
 Where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by
persons aged over 10 years only, it is not used as such by more than
the maximum number of persons aged over 10 years specified in the
licence;
 Where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by
persons aged under 10 years only, it is not used as such by more than
the maximum number of persons aged under 10 years specified in the
licence;
 Where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by
persons aged over 10 years and persons aged under 10 years, it is not
used as such by more than the maximum number of persons aged

Page 192

10

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D
over 10 years specified in the licence and the maximum number of
persons aged under 10 years so specified;
 The licence holder must notify the local housing authority of any room in
the HMO with a floor area of less than 4.64 square metres;
 Any room in the HMO with a floor area less than 4.64 square metres
must not be used as sleeping accommodation;
 A reference to a number of persons using a room in an HMO as sleeping
accommodation does not include a person doing so as a visitor of an
occupier of the HMO.
 A room is used as sleeping accommodation if it is normally used as a
bedroom, whether or not it is also used for other purposes;
 Any part of the floor area of a room in relation to which the height of the
ceiling is less than 1.5 metres is not to be taken into account in
determining the floor area of that room for the purposes of this
paragraph;
 Space standards do not apply to an HMO which is managed by a charity
registered under the Charities Act 2011 and which:
a) Is a night shelter, or
b) Consists of temporary accommodation for persons suffering or
recovering from drug or alcohol abuse or a mental disorder.
Locally adopted standards:
Shared house type HMO
Type of room
Bedroom shared house

Shared kitchen

Number of occupiers

Minimum size

1 person over 10yrs

6.51m2

2 people over 10yrs

10.22m2

1 child under 10yrs

4.64m2

The kitchen must adequately fit the number of
appliances/facilities required per occupant as
stated above, there must also be room for
occupants to sufficiently move around the
kitchen to prepare food. Where practicable an
area for dining should also be provided within the
kitchen.

Page 193

11

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D
Shared living room (only
required if there is
insufficient space for
dining in the kitchen)

2m2 per every occupant (up to 6 occupants)
1m2 per every additional occupant (7 occupiers
or more) (e.g. 8 occupants would require 14m2
living space)

Bedsit type HMOs
Type of room

Number of occupiers

Minimum size

Bedsit and living room
with separate kitchen

1 person

9m2

2 people

14m2

Separate kitchen

Bedsit room with
kitchen and living space

The kitchen must adequately fit the number of
appliances/facilities required per occupant as
stated above.
1 person

14m2

2 people

19m2

Separate bedroom sizes must comply with the minimum room sizes above for
shared accommodation.
Justification


A sufficient room size and layout encourages occupants to eat and
store food in the kitchen and dining areas, reducing the likelihood of
hazards relating to pest infestations in individual rooms.



A sufficient layout and size also reduces the number of hazards
associated with the position and operability of amenities etc., flames
and hot surfaces, falls on the stairs, and falls between levels (as
occupants are less likely to carry hot food through the house).



Larger rooms allow for more space and privacy, and for the storage of
clothes and other items. Additionally, more people are now working
from home so may require additional space for office equipment.

Waste Disposal
The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of
Licences) (England) Regulations 2018
Applies to: Waste provisions
Prescribed standards:

Page 194

12

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D


The licence holder must comply with any scheme provided by the local
housing authority to the licence holder and which relates to the storage
and disposal of household waste at the HMO.

Locally adopted standards:
Type
Recycling

Specification
Indoor food caddy 1 x 7 litre per every 5 occupants
Food recycling bin 1 x 23 litre per every 5 occupants
Green or black recycling box 1 x 55 litre per every 5
occupants
Blue recycling box 1 x 55 litre per every 5 occupants
Brown bag 1 x every 5 occupants
Green bag 1 x every 5 occupants

Refuse

Wheeled bin or equivalent 1 x 240 litre per every 5
occupants

Please note: Adequate internal (in a non-habitable room) or external storage
must be provided to ensure waste for recycling can be stored for 7 days, and
waste for landfill/incineration, can be stored for up to 14 days.
An optional garden waste collection service is also available for £36 a year.
Justification


Encourages recycling, which reduces the pollution caused by waste
and promotes sustainable consumption.



Enables the disposal of waste to reduce the likelihood of hazards
relating to domestic hygiene, pests and refuse.

HMO Management
The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations
2006. For section 257 HMOs, similar duties are set out in the Licensing and
Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions)
(England) Regulations 2007
Applies to: Managers of HMOs
Prescribed standards:
Manager duties


Duty of manager to provide information to occupier.

Page 195

13

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D

o Name, address and any telephone contact numbers are made
available to each household in the HMO;
o Such details are clearly displayed in a prominent position in the
HMO.


Duty of manager to take safety measures.
o All means of escape from fire are maintained and kept free from
obstruction, and maintained in good order and repair;
o Firefighting equipment and fire alarms are kept in good repair;
o All fire escape notices are clearly visible to occupiers;
o All such measures must be taken to protect occupants from
injury.



Duty of the manager to maintain water supply and drainage.
o Water supply and drainage must be maintained in a good, clean
and working condition;
o Any tank cistern or similar receptacle used for the storage of
water used for drinking or other domestic purposes should be
suitably covered, and maintained in a clean and working
condition;
o Water fittings must be protected from frost damage;
o The water supply must not be interrupted at any time.



Duty of manager to supply and maintain gas and electricity.
o Updated gas certificates to be provided to the council within 7
days of a request. Gas safety inspections must carried out by a
recognised engineer;
o Periodic electrical inspections carried out to statutory
requirements by a competent person every 5 years;
o Updated electrical safety certificates specifying the results of the
test must be provided to the council within 7 days;
o The gas and electricity supply must not be interrupted at any
time.



Duty of the manager to maintain common parts, fixtures, fittings and
appliances.
o All common parts must be maintained in a good decorative
repair, in a safe and working condition and be kept clear from
obstruction;
o Handrails and banisters are supplied and kept in good repair;
o Stair coverings are safely fixed and kept in good repair;
o All windows and ventilation is kept in good repair;
o Common parts must be fitted with adequate light fittings, fixtures
and appliances, and kept in good repair and in working order;

Page 196

14

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D
o Outbuildings, yards and forecourts must be maintained and in
good condition and order;
o Gardens are kept in a safe and tidy condition;
o Boundary walls, fences and railings are kept in safe repair;
o Any such part of the HMO not in use is kept clean and free from
refuse and litter.


Duty of the manager to maintain living accommodation.
o Living accommodation and furniture supplied are in a clean
condition and kept in good repair;
o Internal structures are kept in good repair;
o Any fixtures, fittings or appliances are kept in good repair and
working order;
o Every window and means of ventilation are kept in good repair.



Waste storage facilities are provided.
o Sufficient bins or suitable receptacles are provided that are
adequate for the requirements of each household;
o Waste disposal must be in accordance with the Council’s policy.

Please note: The manager of the property must be fully conversant with the
above legislation.
Tenant duties
Every occupier of the HMO must:


Conduct themselves in a way that does not hinder or frustrate the
manager in the performance of his duties;



Allow the manager, for any purpose connected with the carrying out of
any duty imposed on him by these Regulations, at all reasonable times
to enter any living accommodation or other place occupied by that
person;



Provide the manager, at his request, with any such information as he
may reasonably require for the purpose of carrying out any such duty;



Take reasonable care to avoid causing damage to anything which the
manager is under a duty to supply, maintain or repair under these
Regulations;



Store and dispose of litter in accordance with the arrangements made
by the manager; and

Page 197

15

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D


Comply with the reasonable instructions of the manager in respect of
any means of escape from fire, the prevention of fire and the use of fire
equipment.

The manager of the HMO should advise tenants of their duties outlined
above.

Miscellaneous recommendations
The following notions are not prescribed in statue or locally set. They are
areas landlords are recommended to look at implementing for best practice, in
order to improve the property for both themselves and their tenants. They will
not routinely form a part of the licence conditions.
Minimum Bedroom Sizes
Whilst there are prescribed standards set by The Licensing of Houses in
Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of Licences) (England)
Regulations 2018, the Council recommends landlords work towards providing
accommodation that fits the minimum room sizes set out below:
Shared house type HMO
Type of room
Bedroom shared house

Number of occupiers

Minimum size

1 person over 10yrs

7.5m2

2 people over 10yrs

11.5m2

1 child under 10yrs

6.0m2

These room sizes have been developed in accordance with the minimum
technical housing standards for affordable accommodation.
There is evidence to suggest there is an association between space and
wellbeing, and thus it is proposed that landlords work towards these
standards as best practice to promote positive tenant mental health and
wellbeing.

Energy Efficiency
Since 1 April 2018, there has been a legal requirement that all properties let
on new tenancies (including renewals) must hold an EPC Band E. Moreover,
this has been a requirement since 1 April 2020 on all privately rented
properties (even where there has been no change in tenancy).
We recommend licence holders take reasonable steps in improving the
energy efficiency of their properties, and work towards improving the EPC

Page 198

16

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D
towards Band C where practicable. This can be beneficial for both landlords
and their tenants as:


Properties cost less to heat, making them more attractive to potential
tenants and cheaper for landlords who include bills as part of their
tenancy agreement. Properties with an EPC Band C cost around £300
less per annum to heat than those at Band D, and around £740 less
than Band E properties.



The property is less likely to have deficiencies contributing towards
Category 1 and 2 hazards under the HHSRS. For example, less
condensation is likely to occur if the property can be kept warm,
meaning a reduction in redecoration and maintenance costs.



Property value can increase with a higher EPC Band by as much as
14%.



Reduces fuel poverty, and ensures homes meet the Fuel Poverty
(England) Regulations 2014 requirement of a Band C rating by 2030.

Additionally, in line with meeting the government target to bring all
greenhouse gas emissions to net zero by 2050, sustainable measures should
be encouraged (e.g. water saving initiatives, upgrading appliances, lagging of
pipework, efficient fabrication of buildings, LED lighting replacements,
recycling facilities etc.).
More information on the financial and environmental impacts of sustainable
homes can be found in this report by the Environment Agency.
Details on how to apply for a Green Homes Grant can be accessed on the
Government website. Please note these grants must be redeemed and
utilised by March 2022.

Lead in drinking water
Exposure to lead in drinking water is one of the 29 HHSRS hazards and can
be harmful to health, especially for babies and young children. Therefore, it is
recommended that the licence holder or manager checks the water pipes in
the property to ensure that there are no lead pipes or fittings present. The
licence holder or manager should use the table below created by South West
Water to check for lead pipework. The best places to check are under the
stairs, behind the kitchen cupboards and in basements.
If you come across lead piping this should be changed. In the short term, you
should encourage tenants to run the tap for approximately two minutes every
morning, or after periods when the property has been left vacant. To ensure
water isn’t wasted, this water could be collected and used for other purposes
(e.g. water plants or washing cars).

Page 199

17

Agenda Item 12
Appendix D
Material
Lead

Appearance

Suitable

Dull grey on the outside
Easily scratched to reveal shiny silver
underneath
Dull sound when tapped

No

Copper

Dull brown on the outside
Hard
Bright copper when scratched
Ringing sound when tapped with a coin

Yes

Iron

Dark grey or brown or rusty
Very hard and not easily scratched
Ringing sound when tapped with a coin

Yes

Grey, blue or black

Yes

Plastic

More information pertaining to lead in drinking water can be found on the
South West Water website.

Radon Levels
High levels of radon can cause lung cancer, especially for smokers or exsmokers. Radon produces radioactive particles that are breathed in overtime
and can damage lung tissue. Thus, it is also noted as one of the 29 hazards
assessed by the HHSRS.
Certain geological conditions can lead to above average levels of radon,
including those found in parts of North Devon. Public Health England have
designated certain areas of the country as radon prone areas. These are
1km2 areas with properties which have a 1% chance or more of having a
radon concentration at or above 200 Bq m -3. It is recommended radon levels
should be reduced in homes where the annual average is more than 200 Bq
m-3.
As best practice, we recommend licence holders check whether their property
is located in a radon prone area using the interactive map on the Public
Health England website, and making tenants aware of the risks from radon.
Properties most at risk include those with subterranean storeys. If your
property has any subterranean storey utilised for living accommodation, and is
in a radon prone area; we recommend you order a radon report for your
property, and carry out the necessary mitigation and remediation actions.
More information about radon and how to mitigate the impacts of radon in
your property can be found by visiting the Public Health England website.

Page 200

18

Agenda Item 12
Appendix E

Amenity Standard Examples for Shared Facilities in HMOs
Amenity standards to review:


Bristol City Council Room Size and Amenity Standards for Licensable
Houses in Multiple Occupation.
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/0/Room+Size++Amenity+
Standards+%281%29.pdf/5842275f-2af0-ee00-fd1a-ea4e3d24c08a



Reading Borough Council – Guide to Amenity Standards applicable to
Houses in Multiple Occupation that require a Licence.
https://images.reading.gov.uk/2019/11/Guide_to_amenity_standards_a
pplicable_to_HMOs_that_require_Mandatory_Licensing_CURRENT_S
ep18.pdf



Torridge District Council - Guidelines on requirements for all types of
HMOs. https://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=19603&p=0



Torbay Council - House in Multiple Occupation Standards.
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/14995/hmo-amenity-standards.pdf

Reasons for choosing the above four examples:
Bristol City Council and Reading Borough Council – best practice examples.
Torridge District Council and Torbay Council – local examples.

Page 201

Space heating
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England)
Regulations 2006. Regulation 8 and Schedule 3
Item standard applied to: individual bedrooms and bedsits, all shower rooms and bathrooms.
Prescribed standards:


Each unit of living accommodation in an HMO must be equipped with adequate means of space heating, and kept in proper
working order.

Page 202

Agenda Item 12

Appendix E

Space
heating

Page 203

Torridge DC

Torbay C

A fixed and efficient heating
appliance(s) capable of
maintaining a temperature of
21oC with an outside temp of
-1oC in each unit of living
accommodation (electrical
appliances must have a
dedicated socket).

The heating appliance is
capable of maintaining an
internal temperature of 19 °C
when the outside temperature
is -1 °C (incl bathrooms).
Bathrooms with externals walls
should have heating.

All rooms must be capable of
being economically heated to
a temperature of 21oC when
the outside temperature is 1ºC using only the fixed
space heating installation.

-

Heating should
be available at all times and
be under the control of the
occupier

The heating appliance is
controllable by the occupier,
either directly or by the use of
features such as thermostatic
radiator valves. It is important
that occupiers have control of
temperature in their individual
rooms.

All occupiers must be able to
control the heat output of the
space heating installation
provided within their units of
accommodation.

-

-

Heating appliances should be
permanently fixed (not
portable) to reduce the risk of
fire.

All fixed space heating
provided in the house must
be available at all reasonable
times throughout the year
and be kept in good repair
and proper working order.

-

Agenda Item 12

Reading BC

Appendix E

Bristol CC

Personal washing facilities and WC’s
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England)
Regulations 2006. Regulation 8 and Schedule 3 (2) as amended by the Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple
Occupation (Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007
Item standard applied to: wash hand basins, baths, showers and WC’s.


Where there are four or fewer occupiers sharing those facilities there must be at least one bathroom with a fixed bath or
shower and a toilet (which may be situated in the bathroom).



Where there are five or more occupiers sharing those facilities there must be:
o One separate toilet with wash hand basin with appropriate splash back for every five sharing occupiers and,

Page 204

o At least one bathroom (which may contain a toilet) with a fixed bath or shower for every five sharing occupiers;



All baths, showers and wash hand basins in an HMO must be equipped with taps providing an adequate supply of cold and
constant hot water.



All bathrooms in an HMO must be suitably and adequately heated and ventilated.



All bathrooms and toilets in an HMO must be of an adequate size and layout.



All baths, showers, toilets and wash hand basins in an HMO must be fit for the purpose.



All bathrooms and toilets in an HMO must be suitably located in or in relation to the living accommodation in the HMO.

Agenda Item 12

Where there are five or more occupiers of an HMO, every unit of living accommodation must contain a wash hand basin with
appropriate splash back.

Appendix E



Bristol CC
Bathrooms
Shared
facilities: 1 - 5 persons = 1
bathroom baths/showers and toilets.

For 5 occupants there
should be an additional toilet
and 2 complete bathrooms.

Page 205

Torbay C

Bathrooms

Bathrooms

Bathrooms

For 1-4 persons using
communal facilities, there
must be: at least one
bathroom containing either a
fixed bath or shower and one
toilet.

Shared bathroom facilities
should be shared by no more
than five people. All
bathrooms must contain a
fixed bath or shower.

1 to 5 persons = 1 WC and 1
bath/shower (if there is only 1
WC it must be separate from
the bathroom)

-

6 to 7 persons = 2 WCs and
2 baths/showers (WC’s can
be contained in bathrooms)

-

8 – 10 persons = 2 WCs and
2 baths or showers (at least 1
WC must be separate)

-

11-15 persons = 3 WCs and
3 baths/showers (at least 2
WCs must be separate).

For 5 people using communal
facilities, there must be: at
least one bathroom containing
either a fixed bath or shower
and a toilet in a separate
compartment with a wash
hand basin.
6-10 persons using communal
facilities, there must be at
least two bathrooms
containing either a fixed bath
or shower; and two separate
toilets in rooms containing
wash hand basins.
11-15 persons using
communal facilities, there

Agenda Item 12

11-15 = 3 baths/showers
and toilets and 1 separate

Torridge DC

Appendix E

6-10 persons = 2
baths/showers and toilets
and 1 separate toilet. 3
complete bathroom
accepted.

Reading BC

toilet. 4 complete bathrooms
accepted.

must be at least three
bathrooms containing either a
fixed bath or shower; and
three separate toilets in rooms
containing wash hand basins.

Page 206

For 20 – 4 baths/showers
and 2 toilets. There should
be 6 complete bathrooms or
5 and 1 separate toilet.

-

Wash hand basins
To be provided either within
each individual unit of
accommodation or within
each shared bathroom and
compartment containing a
toilet. Within each room and
compartment containing a
toilet.

-

-

Wash hand basins

Wash hand basins

Wash hand basins

If reasonably practicable, each
bedroom or bedsit within the
HMO must contain a wash
hand basin (unless there is a
sink).

Bathrooms that contain a WC A wash hand basin must be
must also contain a washprovided with every separate
basin.
WC.

As an alternative:

Agenda Item 12

5-10 occupiers – at least one
bathroom should contain a
wash hand basin

Appendix E

1-4 occupiers – the bathroom
should contain a wash hand
basin

In licensable HMOs 1 WHB is
to be provided within each
unit where it is reasonably
practicable. It will be the
responsibility of the landlord
to demonstrate that is not
reasonably practicable for
WHB to be provided
in each room. Regard should
be had to the age and
character of the HMO, the
size and layout of each room
and its existing provision for
WHBs toilets and bathrooms.

11-15 occupiers – at least two
of the bathrooms should
contain a wash hand basin
For the avoidance of doubt,
any room containing a toilet
must also contain a wash
hand basin.

Page 207

Facilities

Facilities

-

A bath must be of minimum
dimensions 1700 mm x 760
mm or a shower of minimum
dimensions 800 mm x 800
mm.

-

-

Baths or showers and wash
hand basins should be
properly sealed into wall
surfaces and have 300mm of
tiled splash back.

A two course tiled splash back
is to be provided to baths and
wash hand basins. Any
shower cubicles provided
should have fully tiled walls or
be self-standing cubicles.

-

-

All facilities should be
located in rooms of an
adequate size and layout
within 2 floors of any
bedroom and accessible
from communal areas unless
provided as en-suite facilities

These facilities shall be not
more than two floors distant
from any user and should
provide enough space to
change and dry.

-

No personal washing facility
should be more than one
floor distant from the users of
those facilities.

Agenda Item 12

Facilities

Appendix E

Facilities

for the exclusive use of that
occupant.

Page 208

Shared bathrooms should be
cleaned thoroughly on a
regular basis. Arrangements
should be in place to ensure
the bathroom is kept clean.
Shared toilets should be
cleaned thoroughly on a
regular basis. Arrangements
should be in place to ensure
the toilet is kept clean.

Bathrooms to have
mechanical ventilation to the
outside air at a minimum
extraction rate of 15
litres/second in addition to
any window(s). Each toilet in
a separate compartment is
required to have a window
equivalent to 1/20th of the
floor area or mechanical
ventilation extracting at a
minimum extraction rate of 6
litres/second. Ventilation
should not be obstructed
externally.

A suitably located extractor fan
or an openable window
(opening to outside) must be
present.

All bathrooms must have
flooring that is non-slip, easy
to clean and water resistant,
there must be a form of fixed
heating, wet areas must be
properly tiled and there must
be a form of ventilation which
vents to outside air.

-

Agenda Item 12

The walls and floor of any
bathroom or shower room
should be reasonably smooth
and non-absorbent and
capable of being readily
cleaned. Baths, showers and
toilets shall not be provided in
rooms containing facilities for
the storage, preparation and
cooking of food.

Appendix E

Facilities should be inside
the building.

Facilities for the storage, preparation and cooking of food (shared facilities)
The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England)
Regulations 2006. Regulation 8 and Schedule 3 (3)
Item standard applied to: shared kitchens
Prescribed standards:
Where all or some of the units of accommodation within the HMO do not contain any facilities for the cooking of food:

Page 209



There must be a kitchen, suitably located in relation to the living accommodation, and of such layout and size and equipped
with such facilities so as to adequately enable those sharing the facilities to store, prepare and cook food.



The kitchen must be equipped with the following equipment, which must be fit for the purpose and supplied in a sufficient
quantity for the number of those sharing the facilities:

Agenda Item 12

Sinks with draining boards,
An adequate supply of cold and constant hot water to each sink supplied,
Installations or equipment for the cooking of food,
Sufficient number of electrical sockets,
Worktops for the preparation of food,
Cupboards for the storage of food or kitchen and cooking utensils,
Refrigerators with an adequate freezer compartment (or, where the freezer compartment is not adequate, adequate
separate freezers),
o Appropriate refuse disposal facilities,
o Appropriate extractor fans, fire blankets and fire doors.

Appendix E

o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Shared
kitchen
facilities

Page 210

Bristol CC

Reading BC

Torridge DC

A sink with constant hot and
cold water, a draining board
and tiled splash back for up
to 5 occupants

A sink on base unit supplied
with an integral drainer;
constant hot and cold water,
trapped drainage and tiled
splashback shall be provided
for every six persons sharing
the kitchen. To avoid cross
contamination of food, a wash
hand basin shall not be used
in place of a sink.

A sink with draining board, Sink and drainer 1 per 5
a constant supply of hot
occupiers/unit
and cold water and proper
provision for drainage;

A cooker with a 4 ring hob,
oven and a grill for up to 5
occupants or within an
individual unit of
accommodation (a
27litre microwave with oven
and grill will be acceptable
as a second cooker).

A cooking appliance with four
rings or burners, oven and grill
(or equivalent) shall be
provided in a ratio of one for
every three persons using the
facilities. Where 3-6
occupants are using the
kitchen, it is acceptable to
provide a suitably sized
combination microwave oven
(to include grill/convection
cooking option), rather than
the second cooker. It is not

A four-ring standard
cooker (or a separate
four-ring hob and oven), a
microwave, a kettle, a
toaster, a refrigerator and
a freezer (or combined
fridge/freezer appliance)
per 5 occupants

(Sinks with
draining
boards, an
adequate
supply of
cold and
constant hot
water to each
sink
supplied)
(Installations
or equipment
for the
cooking of
food)

Torbay C

A cooker is an oven and grill
with 4 ring hob up to 5
occupants 1 cooker
6-7 occupants 1 cooker and
1 microwave oven with grill
8-10 occupants 2 cookers

Agenda Item 12

Appendix E

acceptable to provide a
microwave as the only
appliance for cooking.

(Electrical
sockets)

Page 211

(Worktops for
the
preparation
of food)

There should be a
sufficient number of
electrical sockets to allow
all appliances to be safely
plugged in, with at least
one spare double socket;

Electrical power points 4
single sockets or 2 double
sockets per 5
occupiers/unit. The above
excludes sockets for a
cooker, refrigerator and
washing machine.

Fixed worktop(s) with a
smooth impervious surface
for food preparation,
minimum size 500mm x
1000mm for up to 5
occupants or within an
individual unit of
accommodation.

A fixed worktop of impervious
material, minimum dimensions
of available worktop space 50
cm x 200 cm should be
provided for food
preparation in every six
persons sharing the kitchen;

Work surfaces for the
preparation of food, there
should be at least 2.5
metres of worktop
space in total that is clear
and uncluttered;

Worktops 2m x 0.6m per 5
occupiers

A 0.3m3 dry goods storage
cupboard other than a sink
base unit per occupier either
in each occupant's room or
in a shared kitchen.

A food storage cupboard
(minimum capacity 0.16 cubic
metres) per person

Storage cupboards for
food and cooking
equipment should be
lockable, there should be
at least 2 x 500mm
cupboards per household;
ideally at least one base

Cupboards Double wall unit
or single base unit (0.16m3)
for each occupier/unit.
Storage in communal areas
should be lockable.

Agenda Item 12

Two 13 amp electric sockets,
in addition to any serving
major appliances set at a
convenient height and safe
position should be provided
for every six persons sharing
the kitchen.

Appendix E

(Cupboards
for the
storage of
food or
kitchen and
cooking
utensils)

Four suitably positioned
electric sockets are required
plus one per major
appliance (ie a cooker
microwave,
refrigerator/freezer, washing
machine etc.).

unit and one wall unit if
possible.

Page 212

Two worktop height
refrigerators with freezer
(Refrigerators compartments or 1 worktop
with an
height fridge and 1 worktop
adequate
height freezer per 5
freezer
occupiers or a worktop
compartment) height refrigerator with a
freezer compartment within
each individual unit of
accommodation.

Refrigerator (minimum
capacity 0.15 cubic metres
(150 litres) with an adequate
freezer compartment for every
three persons using the
facilities.

A fridge/freezer per 5
occupants.

Refrigerated storage
Standard sized fridge (73120 litre) with adequate
freezer compartment per
occupier/unit. Individual
fridges can be sited in the
bedroom if the room is
large enough. If no freezer
compartment in the fridge,
separate freezers should be
provided.

Agenda Item 12

Appendix E

(Appropriate
extractor
fans, fire
blankets and
fire doors)

Page 213
(Waste
disposal)

Mechanical ventilation to the
outside air at a minimum
extraction rate of 60
litres/second or 30
litres/second if the fan
is sited within 300mm of the
centre of the hob. This is in
addition to any windows.

A suitably located extractor
fan.

A mechanical extractor
fan or cooker hood which
vents to outside air.

-

-

A fire blanket should be
provided. There shall be a
suitable fire door between
shared kitchens and the
means of escape from the
building.

An approved fire blanket
fixed to the wall adjacent
to the cooking facilities

-

-

-

Non-slip and easy to clean Storage in communal areas
floor.
should be lockable.
Appropriate receptacles
for waste and/or refuse
disposal facilities

-

Agenda Item 12

Appendix E

Provisions for household
Appropriate refuse disposal
waste and recycling disposal facilities.
both within the unit of
accommodation and
outside.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13

North Devon Council
Report Date: 12th April 2021
Topic: Review of North Devon Council (Off Street Parking Places) Order
Report by: Acting Parking Manager
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Each year the Off Street Parking Order is reviewed to ensure compliance and
correctness for use.
1.2 Each year the conditions and charges are considered by Strategy &
Resources Committee
1.3 Each year the conditions and charges have been considered by Strategy &
Resources Committee to maintain compliance and suitability.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1 Strategy & Resources Committee to accept the changes requested by
parishes and include the amendments into the Off Street Parking Order.
2.2 Braunton Parish Council
Approve and adopt the charges and regulations for Caen Street and
Chaloners Road car parks as described in 5.1 and shown Appendix 1.
2.3 Combe Martin Parish Council
No changes to the charges and regulations for Cormelles car park, High
Street coach/car park, Holdstone Down, Hollands Park, Kiln car park or The
Parade.
2.4 Instow Parish Council
No changes to the charges and regulations for Instow Marine car park.
2.5 Lynton & Lynmouth Town Council
Lynton & Lynmouth Town Council have requested the adoption in North
Devon (Off Street parking Places) Order amendments to the scale of charges
and regulations for Off Street Parking places within their management control
as follows:
1. Add condition to Manor Gardens, as shown in Appendix 1
2. Add Manor Foreshore car park to schedule, as shown in Appendix 1

2.6 South Molton Town Council

Page 215

Agenda Item 13

No changes to the charges and regulations for Sheep Pen car park, Central car
park, Coach Park, Lorry Wash, New Road, Southley Road, East Street or
Pannier Market.
2.7 North Devon Council
Strategy & Resources Committee to accept changes to charges and regulations
for North Devon Council car parks and include the amendments into the Off
Street Parking Order as described below and shown in Appendices
2.8 Members consider the change to the charging structure of the Pier,
Ilfracombe as set out below

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
1.1 To update Off Street parking Order to reflect current needs of Parish, Town
and District Councils following the annual review.
4. REPORT
The report is divided between Parish requests and amendments to current order
for correctness and North Devon Council requests amendments to current order
for correctness.
Parish Council Amendments
Braunton Parish Council
Braunton Parish Council have requested the adoption in the North Devon (Off Street
Parking Places) Order for amendments to scale of charges and regulations for Off
Street parking places within their management control as follows:
1. Change the scale of charges for Caen Street car park, as shown in Appendix 1,
from C48 ‘means first 30 minutes 20p, up to 1 hour 60p, up to 2 hours £1.20, up
to 3 hours £2.00 and each additional hour thereafter 50p’ to C48 ‘means first 20
minutes 20p, up to 1 hour 70p, up to 2 hours £1.40, up to 3 hours £2.20 and each
additional hour thereafter 50p’.
2. Change the scale of charges for Chaloners Road car park, as shown in
Appendix 1, from C48 ‘means first 30 minutes 20p, up to 1 hour 60p, up to 2
hours £1.20, up to 3 hours £2.00 and each additional hour thereafter 50p’ to C48
‘means first 20 minutes 20p, up to 1 hour 70p, up to 2 hours £1.40, up to 3 hours
£2.20 and each additional hour thereafter 50p’.

Page 216

Agenda Item 13

North Devon Council Amendments
Request is made to Strategy & Resources Committee to accept and adopt within the
North Devon (Off Street Parking Places) Order for amendments to scale of charges
and regulations for Off Street parking places within the management control of North
Devon Council, as follows:
Barnstaple
1. To accept and adopt the addition of condition for Bear Street, Belle Meadow,
Bicton Street, Brynsworthy, Castle Quay, Cattle Market, Cattle Market
Motorcycle Area, Chivenor Cross, Commercial Road, Congrams Close,
Coronation Street, Fairview, Litchdon Street, Loverings Court, Magdalene
Lawn, Mill Road, North Walk, Pathfield Lawn, Paiges Lane, Lower Pilton,
Lower Pilton reserved, Portland Buildings, Portland Building Reserved,
Portmarsh lane, Mill Road, Queen Street, Queen Street Motorcycle Area,
Richmond Walk, Rolle Quay, Rolle Quay Reserved, Rugby Club, Seven
Brethren Short Stay, Seven Brethren Long Stay, Seven Brethren Van Park,
Seven Brethren Lorry Park, Silver Street, Tarka, Tuly Street, Barnstaple Bus
Station, Albert Lane, Museum, Bickington, Millennium Green, Bakery Way,
Church Lake and Swimbridge and Croyde, as shown in Appendix 1, N8
‘means no parking in designated electric vehicle charging bays unless the vehicle
is an electric vehicle, and the vehicle is connected to the electric vehicle charging
point and is being charged’. This will enable installation of an electric vehicle
charging point at these locations, if required, without the need for a separate
amendment to the Off Street Parking Order and payment for fees to advertise the
amendment.
Ilfracombe
1. To accept and adopt the addition of condition for Adelaide Terrace,
Bicclescombe, Brookdale, Brookdale Coach & Lorry, Croyde, Cove, Hele,
Hillsborough, Hillsborough Coach & Lorry, Jubilee Gardens, Jubilee
Gardens Museum, Larkstone Lane, Marine Drive, Oxford Grove, Oxford
Grove Reserved, Pier, Quay Head, Sea Front and Wilder Road as shown in
Appendix 1, N8 ‘means no parking in designated electric vehicle charging bays
unless the vehicle is an electric vehicle, and the vehicle is connected to the
electric vehicle charging point and is being charged’. This will enable installation
of an electric vehicle charging point at these locations, if required, without the
need for a separate amendment to the Off Street Parking Order and payment for
fees to advertise the amendment.

2. To accept and adopt the condition N32 for Seafront, Ilfracombe

Page 217

Agenda Item 13

N32 ‘means no parking all year except by specific arrangement with NDDC’.
Lynton and Lynmouth
1. To accept and adopt the removal of conditions from Manor Garden Roadway,
as shown in Appendix 1, V8 ‘means parking for general public prohibited’
2. To accept and adopt the addition of condition from Manor Garden Roadway, as
shown in Appendix 1,
V15 ‘means no lorries or coaches
V17 ‘means no motorhomes’
3. To accept and adopt the addition of condition N8 for Bottom Meadow,
Bottom Meadow Coach, Lorries & Mobile Homes, Upper Valley of the
Rocks, Cross Street, Esplanade, Lower Lyndale, Lower Lyndale
Coaches, Lorries and Mobile Homes, Manor Gardens Roadway, Old
Cemetery, Upper Lyndale, Valley of the Rocks car park, Upper Valley of
the Rocks Picnic Area and Watersmeet as shown in Appendix 1, N8
‘means no parking in designated electric vehicle charging bays unless the
vehicle is an electric vehicle, and the vehicle is connected to the electric
vehicle charging point and is being charged’. This will enable installation of an
electric vehicle charging point at these locations, if required, without the need
for a separate amendment to the Off Street Parking Order and payment for
fees to advertise the amendment.
4. To accept and adopt the addition of Manor Foreshore car park as shown in
Appendix 1, V7 ‘means solo motorcycles, motorcars, quad bikes and
motorcycle combinations, motor vehicles not exceeding 3,500 kg unladen
weight (excluding caravans and trailers)’. V15 ‘means no lorries or coaches’.
V17, ‘means motor homes’. H9, ‘means 10:00-17:30’. D7 ‘means 01/07 –
31/08 +28 ad hoc days. C52, ‘means £3.30 for 3 hours, £4.40 for 4 hours,
£5.00 all day’.
South Molton
1. Rename permits to South Molton Central Car Parks for clarification purposes.
The permit does not allow customers to park in any of the other car parks in
South Molton and managed by North Devon Council.
Mortehoe
1. To accept and adopt the addition of condition from Mortehoe Residents Car
Park, as shown in Appendix 1,
V16 ‘Means no camping’

Page 218

Agenda Item 13
2. To accept and adopt the addition of condition to Marine Drive Woolacombe as
shown in Appendix 1,
V22 ‘Means no horse boxes’
N25 ‘means no overnight sleeping’.
3. To accept and adopt the removal of conditions from Meadow Playing Fields, as
shown in Appendix1,
C26 ‘means from 1st April to 31st October – 1 hour – 50p; 2 hours - £1.00; 3 hours
£2.00 and 4 hours £3.00. Overnights £25.00’
4. To accept and adopt the addition of condition to Mortehoe Car Park N8 ‘means
no parking in designated electric vehicle charging bays unless the vehicle is an
electric vehicle, and the vehicle is connected to the electric vehicle charging point
and is being charged’. This will enable installation of an electric vehicle charging
point at these locations, if required, without the need for a separate amendment
to the Off Street Parking Order and payment for fees to advertise the
amendment.
Pier Car Park, Ilfracombe
1. As well as the above changes, a request has been received via local ward
members for changes to be made to the charging structure for Pier Car Park,
Ilfracombe. Officers will report of the specific changes required to the order at
Committee but the suggestion is that the charging structure change to long
stay with a tariff of £5.00 for 5 hours and £10.00 for all day.
2. Officers have concerns about introducing these proposed changes now as the
works toe the Water Sports Centre are already likely to cause issues. It is
also unclear what impact these changes would have on income levels as it
represents a reduction in the hourly rate or on traffic levels in the vicinity of the
Pier.
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
1. The change to Barnstaple and Ilfracombe car parks to allow for electric
charge points to be installed if and when required, will have minimal impact on
current income for this location. This is due to there being a mid to high
capacity of available parking bays at present in Barnstaple. The intention is to
allow parking in these bays whilst charging an electric vehicle for free for the
first year to encourage usage and create awareness. A fee would be charged
for the parking bays from the financial year 22/23, once we have identified the
demand for these bays. The Electric Charge Points are installed at no cost to
the council.
2. The change to the Manor Garden Roadway car park will potentially increase
income for Lynton and Lynmouth Town Council and in turn to NDDC.

Page 219

Agenda Item 13

3. The change to Mortehoe will have little to no impact on NDDC financially.

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1 (There are not any equalities implications anticipated as a result of this report.
7. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
7.1 Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph: 1
7.2 Delegated power
8. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
8.1 This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS
9.1 None
10. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all
appropriate Councillors and Officers:
Lena Haydon, Acting Parking Manager

Appendix 1
Car Park (Barnstaple)

Current OSPO
Condition

Bear Street, Belle
Meadow, Bicton Street,
Brynsworthy, Castle
Quay, Cattle Market,
Cattle Market Motorcycle
Area, Chivenor Cross,
Commercial Road,
Congrams Close,
Coronation Street,
Fairview, Litchdon Street,
Loverings Court,
Magdalene Lawn, Mill
Road, North Walk,

Change Requested
Add N8
No parking in designated
electric vehicle charging
bays unless the vehicle is
an electric vehicle, and
the vehicle is connected
to the electric vehicle
charging point and is
being charged

Page 220

Agenda Item 13
Pathfield Lawn, Paiges
Lane, Lower Pilton, Lower
Pilton reserved, Portland
Buildings, Portland
Building Reserved,
Portmarsh Lane, Mill
Road, Queen Street,
Queen Street Motorcycle
Area, Richmond Walk,
Rolle Quay, Rolle Quay
Reserved, Rugby Club,
Seven Brethren Short
Stay, Seven Brethren
Long Stay, Seven
Brethren Van Park, Seven
Brethren Lorry Park,
Silver Street, Tarka, Tuly
Street, Barnstaple Bus
Station, Albert Lane,
Museum, Bickington,
Millennium Green, Bakery
Way, Church Lake and
Swimbridge and Croyde
Riverfront

Car Park (Braunton)
Caen Street (Main and
overflow areas)

Chaloners Road

Car Park (Ilfracombe)

Add N32
Means no parking all year
except by specific
arrangement with NDDC
Current OSPO
Condition
C48

Change Requested

First 30 mins 20p
Up to 1 hour 60p
Up to 2 hours £1.20
Up to 3 hours £2.00
Each additional hour 50p

First 20 mins 20p
Up to 1 hour 70p
Up to 2 hours £1.40
Up to 3 hours £2.20
Each additional hour 50p

C48

C48

First 30 mins 20p
Up to 1 hour 60p
Up to 2 hours £1.20
Up to 3 hours £2.00
Each additional hour 50p

First 20 mins 20p
Up to 1 hour 70p
Up to 2 hours £1.40
Up to 3 hours £2.20
Each additional hour 50p

Current OSPO
Condition

Change Requested

Page 221

C48

Agenda Item 13
Jubilee Gardens – theatre
Reserved

Remove from Schedule

Adelaide Terrace,
Bicclescombe, Brookdale,
Brookdale Coach & Lorry,
Croyde, Cove, Hele,
Hillsborough,
Hillsborough Coach &
Lorry, Jubilee Gardens,
Jubilee Gardens
Museum, Larkstone Lane,
Marine Drive, Oxford
Grove, Oxford Grove
Reserved, Pier, Quay
Head, Sea Front and
Wilder Road
Seafront

Merged into P&D bays,
no longer reserved for
theatre
Add N8

Add N32
Means no parking all year
except by specific
arrangement with NDDC

Pier Car Park,
Ilfracombe

C2, C3

Car Park (Instow)

Current OSPO
Condition

Remove C2
Remove C3
Add C53
Change Requested

Parade

Add N8

Marine Car Park

Add N8

Car Park (Lynton &
Lynmouth
Manor Garden
Roadway, Lynmouth

Current OSPO
Condition
V7, V8
C7

Change Requested
Remove V8
Add V15
Add V17

D2
H6
N15
Bottom Meadow, Bottom
Meadow Coach, Lorries &
Mobile Homes, Upper
Valley of the Rocks,
Cross Street, Esplanade,

Add N8

Page 222

Agenda Item 13
Lower Lyndale, Lower
Lyndale Coaches, Lorries
and Mobile Homes,
Manor Gardens
Roadway, Old Cemetery,
Upper Lyndale, Valley of
the Rocks car park, Upper
Valley of the Rocks Picnic
Area and Watersmeet
Manor Foreshore,
Lynton

V7, V15, V17
C52
D7

Car Park (South Molton)

Current OSPO
Condition

H9
Change Requested

Sheep Pen (short stay),
Central (long stay), Coach
Park and Lorry Wash
Car Park (Mortehoe)
Current OSPO
Condition
Mortehoe
Mortehoe Residents Car
Park
Marine Drive,
Woolacombe

Add N8

Meadow Playing Fields

Remove C26

Change Requested
Add N8
V16
V22
N25

Appendix 2: Permits
Area
Lynbridge Car Park
South Molton

Permit
Motorcars – Lynbridge
Car Park
South Molton car parks

Page 223

Change Requested
Remove Permit
Rename ‘South Molton
Central’

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14

North Devon Council
Report Date: 12th April 2021
Topic: Littering Strategy Implementation
Report by: Service Manager, Operational Services and Environmental Protection
Service Lead
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. This paper seeks to provide Strategy and Resources Committee with a
proposal to progress the implementation of the Council’s Litter Strategy – as
adopted by Full Council on 1st Feb 2021 (and attached as Appendix A to this
report) by supporting the implementation of a working group to identify litter
problem areas and possible solutions.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. It is recommended that the Strategy and Resources Committee agree the
setting up of a working group in order to identify litter problem areas and
problem litter behaviours and to identify suitable mitigation measures along
with a plan for their implementation.
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. To ensure actions identified in the Litter Strategy are reviewed and
progressed.
3.2. To ensure the same standards of cleanliness are maintained across the
district.
4. REPORT
4.1. North Devon is a beautiful and popular location, visited regularly be residents
and visitors alike. It is our intention to ensure high levels of cleanliness are
maintained.
The increase in new developments across the District means we need to
ensure our resources are allocated accordingly.
4.2. The newly adopted Litter Strategy (attached as Appendix A to this report),
aligns with the Councils priority to protect and enhance the environment of
North Devon.
4.3. The national “Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse” (attached as Appendix B
to this report) defines and shows examples of graded levels of street
cleanliness, how they are classified and expected response times.

Page 225

Agenda Item 14
4.4. A working group needs to be established to ensure the objectives within the
Strategy are adopted in line with the national Code of Practice – to enable the
Council to allocate its’ resources accordingly.
4.5. It is recommended that Strategy and Resources Committee Members
determine who should be on this group - but suggested that it should be lead
by Councillor Netti Pearson. There will also be appropriate officer
representation/support on the working group.
4.6. The working group will also work with the Plastic Free North Devon
Consortium on wider littering/environmental issues.
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. It is anticipated at this stage that the work identified in this report will be able
to be undertaken with existing resource.
5.2. The working group will investigate options available to improve the
environment which could involve schedule changes, working patterns,
staffing levels and vehicle requirements, signage, comms or CCTV, which
could involve further resource implications.
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. There are no equalities implications anticipated as a result of this report.
7. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
7.1. Part 3, Annexe 1 (1), (i)
8. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
8.1. This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS
9.1. The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
-

Litter strategy (Appendix A)
Code of practice on Litter and Refuse (.gov website)

9.2. The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of
the report.
10. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers.

Page 226

Agenda Item 14
Appendix A

Litter Strategy for North Devon
Our Vision and Aims
We want North Devon to be a great place to live, with clean water and air, and
beautiful countryside to enjoy with towns and villages that are prosperous, vibrant,
and welcoming.
The environment in which people live has a profound impact on their quality of life. In
surveys the public have consistently identified local environmental factors as being
one of the most important factors in their wellbeing. When our towns, villages and
countryside are blighted by litter, our ability to enjoy our local environment is reduced
and so too is our wellbeing.
We need to reduce the amount of litter that ends up in our rivers and seas: PlasticFree North Devon are leading the way in addressing the issue of plastic litter around
our coastline and in our hedgerows, but it is important that we all play our part in
stopping people dropping litter in the first place.
One of the Council’s corporate priorities is to protect and enhance the environment
of the area. Earlier this year we adopted an Environmental Policy and this Litter
Strategy forms part of an overall environmental strategy underpinned by that policy
that seeks to deliver that corporate priority:
“Protect, conserve and enhance our District’s high quality natural environment and
diversity whilst improving our parks and open spaces, public rights of way, and green
corridors”
“Support the community in the reduction of waste and adherence to the principles of
the waste hierarchy”
Our strategy makes direct reference to the Government Litter Strategy for England,
published in 2017 HM Government Litter Strategy for England April 2017
(publishing.service.gov.uk) The Government have also published a 25-Year
Environment Plan where their stated intention is:
“…to be the first generation to leave the natural environment of England in a better
state than we found it.” Our nation’s future prosperity will greatly depend on how well
we manage our environment.
Our strategy has also been influenced by and supports guidance issued by WRAP
“Binfrastructure – The right bin in the right place”. We intend to apply best practice in
education, enforcement, and infrastructure to deliver a substantial reduction in litter
and littering behaviour. Good infrastructure and clear expectations, supported by
proportionate enforcement, helps reinforce social pressure to do the right thing. Our
strategy therefore addresses cleaning as well as focusing on influencing behaviour.

Page 227

Agenda Item 14
Appendix A
Dealing with litter places a significant burden on the District Council, with an annual
cost to the local tax-payer which would be better spent improving other local
services. Living in a littered environment makes people feel less safe in their
communities, and less likely to venture out which in turn affects mental and physical
health. It is in all our interests to tackle this problem, to make littering socially
unacceptable, to make it easy for people to do the right thing, and remove any
possible excuse for anti-social behaviour.
An environment that looks cared for encourages a sense of civic pride and also
encourages local investment.
The strategy aims to:




change the behaviour of people who feel it is acceptable to drop litter by
sending clear messages
make it easy to dispose of litter, provide the appropriate facilities in the right
places, and collect litter in a timely fashion
improve enforcement by exercising council powers to deal with anyone who
drops litter

Changing Behaviour
We want to create a culture where it is totally unacceptable to drop litter. This means
generating strong and lasting social pressure against littering, making it socially
unacceptable to drop litter.
This requires education: from national or District-wide campaigns to constant
reminders through messages and logos in all kinds of places. The messages may
vary, aimed at raising public awareness or targeted at specific groups of people:
children, young adults, drivers, consumers of food etc.
Objective 1
To have in place effective procedures to ensure that litter problems do not build up
and to create a culture where it is totally unacceptable to drop or leave litter lying in
the environment (ref Litter and the Law: Appendix A).
We will:





Allocate areas to zones for monitoring and management
Provide an easy system for the public to report instances of littering
Initiate targeted awareness campaigns
include dog-fouling in our definition of litter and promote ways of dealing with
it.
Dog waste can be bagged and deposited in dog bins or in litter bins

Objective 2
To build a knowledge base that informs and directs practice, drives all activity, and
maximises our effectiveness.
We will:


Examine the causes of littering

Page 228

Agenda Item 14
Appendix A
o This will help us deal with littering problems at source


ask businesses to think about designing their products and packaging in ways
which will reduce litter and will promote locally exemplar businesses.
o Packaging should be recyclable by default and state clearly methods of
disposal.



look for new ways to encourage more recycling and reducing litter.
o From large scale media campaigns to the use of small-scale messages
and logos in all kinds of places we will communicate visually and
verbally.

Objective 3
To establish partnership working with organisations, communities, schools, and
businesses, to extend the capacity for action to address the problems of litter.
We will:


work with partners to run anti-litter campaigns.
o As part of the Plastic-Free North Devon Consortium we are already
well-placed to engage in creative campaigns.



help people to clear up litter in their local areas.
o We regularly work with litter-picking volunteers and help with
equipment. Initiatives include setting up community litter groups with
their own twitter accounts and WhatsApp groups to keep an eye on
their local patch.



make sure that we support schools and other organisations in teaching about
litter.
o Many schools already take part in beach cleans and children are
certainly well informed about plastic pollution.



encourage businesses to work with others to deal with local litter problems
o It is in the interests of businesses in a tourism area to keep places free
of litter; this applies especially with takeaway outlets. We will consider
what powers we have to ensure that businesses take more
responsibility for resulting litter and will campaign for greater powers if
needed.

Making It Easy to Dispose of Litter
North Devon Council’s priorities include improving and promoting our natural
environment. Litter and fly-tipping can deter visitors from spending time in an area
and businesses may also be put off moving to areas affected by litter.
Objective 4
To establish a system of ongoing audit and review to ensure our provision for litter
collection and containment is efficient and effective.

Page 229

Agenda Item 14
Appendix A
We will:









have a baseline description of our public place infrastructure, bins, litter,
disposal behaviour and public perception
monitor the placement effectiveness and condition of bins
refurbish bins in a timely fashion
review schedules for emptying bins and ensure means of adapting where
extra or fewer collections are needed.
o The emptying of litter and recycling bins must be sufficiently frequent to
ensure that no litter bin or its contents becomes a nuisance or gives
reasonable grounds for complaint.
create a public realm which looks cared for, with well-maintained street
furniture, clear informative anti-litter signage, landscaping features in good
condition, and bins where they are needed, properly oriented, clean, and
easily accessible to all users.
make it as easy as possible for people to dispose of their rubbish properly
o Around a third of people will be deterred from using a litter bin if it is
dirty or damaged. Moreover, if a bin is overfull, people cannot use it,
and litter from the bin can start to fall and litter the streets. People may
also be tempted to place their litter beside, rather than into, a bin which
is full, dirty or damaged.
o The recent pandemic has also made some of the public wary about
coming into contact with public litter bins.
o Waste management can have a significant impact on litter and
fly-tipping. If waste is left out for collection for long periods of time,
especially in plastic sacks rather than bins, it can inadvertently lead to
an increase in litter, e.g. sacks may be broken into by animals; people
may start to leave their litter amongst the waste awaiting collection; a
perception that the street is already affected by litter and waste may
lead to an increase in littering behaviour.

Objective 5
To expand the concept of recycling beyond the domestic collection with greater
provision for recycling on the go.
We will:


Increase receptacles in public spaces
o We want to support people being able to recycle more and to
encourage people to recycle ‘on the go’. Standard litter bins often do
not provide people with the opportunity to separate different types of
waste materials for recycling, something which is already done as part
of the kerbside recycling service.
o There are many things to take into account when considering the
options for a Recycle on the Go (RotG) solution, e.g

Page 230

Agenda Item 14
Appendix A






locating units in areas of highest footfall, where most waste is
likely to occur - people are often not prepared to walk far to
recycle.
using high-profile areas – locating units near information points
or transport facilities (such as railway stations, bus stops and
tube stations).
the types of litter commonly dropped will vary depending on the
area involved and so receptacles will be tailored to the needs of
the location

encourage business support for recycling
o This could include promotion, or sponsorship of bins.

Objective 6
To practically engage citizens who feel empowered to share their ideas and get
involved in positive processes to address litter problems.
We will:
 work with organisations to make sure they have the right facilities to get rid of
litter.
o Businesses have a key role to play in helping to tackle the problem and
we want to work with them to do so. We would encourage businesses
to recognise the benefits to their own business, and to the economic
health of the area, of helping to ensure that the streets remain clean
and attractive to customers, and the potential negative impact on their
business of litter outside their premises.
o Studies have found that about half of smokers would not walk more
than 10 paces to use a bin, but also that many smokers did not notice
bins that had been placed in convenient locations for their use


work with communities to decide where bins should be placed, what types to
use and how many are needed.
o Research into littering behaviours has consistently found that many
litterers - around one in four people, including a particularly large
segment of young adults and one in six chewing-gum litterers - blame
their behaviour on a (perceived or real) lack of bins. Observational
research has also confirmed that littering rates increase the further
people are from a bin.
o We will consider all relevant guidance when taking decisions on the
type and position of litter bins
o Bin technology now makes it possible to install bins that sense when
they are full or nearly full. Trials conducted by North Devon Council and
other evidence of their use indicates that they can lead to a 50%
reduction in collections, and sometimes more, because the sensor
removes the need to check on a bin to see whether it needs emptying.
It is important to balance the number and types of bin provided with the
costs of maintenance. Different styles of bin may be more appropriate
to target the different types and quantities of litter that occur in different
locations.

Page 231

Agenda Item 14
Appendix A
o We will identify different types of bins to use with a view to influencing
behaviour. Trials of a special bin for cigarette butts on the Council’s
own premises, which embraces “nudge” techniques, have shown a
reduction in that type of littering.
o Consultation with dog owners should identify the location for dog waste
bins that may be required in addition to litter bins.

Improving Enforcement
Littering, and associated environmental offences like dog fouling, blight our
communities and impose avoidable costs on the public purse, drawing money away
from priorities such as social care and education. Education and awareness
measures will help to embed a culture which views littering as an undesirable act
which creates an avoidable problem. However, in order to change behaviour
effectively we also need to back up this social message with appropriate and
proportionate enforcement.
Objective 7
To actively pursue opportunities to increase the enforcement capability and the
related deterrent effect.
We will:






take enforcement action (issue of a fine or prosecution) when we have
evidence against the offender to a criminal standard of proof (“beyond
reasonable doubt”).
issue fixed penalties for small-scale fly-tipping offences
o There may be a fine line between littering and small-scale fly-tipping,
although fly-tipping is often associated with a desire to avoid the
legitimate costs of waste-disposal . The deposit of a single black plastic
sack of rubbish should usually be considered a fly-tipping offence,
rather than littering.
o A fixed penalty notice will not be an appropriate sanction for operators
in the waste management industry, repeat offenders or those
responsible for large-scale fly-tipping or the fly-tipping of hazardous
waste. We will continue to use existing prosecution powers, which may
lead to unlimited fines or imprisonment.
promote transparency and accurate reporting of enforcement action against
littering, so that offenders know they will be punished if they are caught.
o Research has found that “people who have seen or heard about fixed
penalty notices being issued via local media are significantly more
likely to think they are effective” and that “attitudes to enforcement are
greatly shaped by the degree to which an individual sees them as a
threat – and many do not think it is likely they will be fined for
environmental offences”
o public awareness of responsible enforcement activity and the
seriousness with which these offences are viewed may also help to

Page 232

Agenda Item 14
Appendix A




reinforce the social norm against littering and other environmental
‘incivilities’.
acknowledge people who are doing the right thing
continue working with stakeholders to tackle fly-tipping and litter hotspots

Objective 8
To promote and affirm the achievements of enforcement officers and increase their
profile, visibility and presence, alongside the accountability of perpetrators.
We will:.



communicate with the public the enforcement actions that will be taken.
create roles that can be undertaken by community organisations, e.g. National
Trust rangers.

Objective 9
To build a strong sense of community where people care about the locations
they regularly use or visit:
We will:


support and encourage people sharing their experience of what works to reduce
littering
o We understand that community priorities and expectations vary, and that
different communities face different challenges in developing their own
solutions to local litter problems. A range of different tools and
approaches will be needed in order to tap into their enthusiasm and
energy, and help willing volunteers access opportunities to get involved.

Focus on what works
We spend thousands of pounds per year on tackling litter, and we need to choose
the most cost-effective combination of approaches to tackle the particular litter
problems facing our communities. That means that we need to make continuous
improvements in our understanding of ‘what works’. We need to try out and evaluate
new ways of doing things, and we also need to test and refine existing approaches.
Even where we do know for sure that certain approaches do work in a particular
context, we still need to consider whether they are cost-effective or practical for
widespread or long-term implementation.
Interventions based on the theory that people behave better when they think they are
being watched have been successful in encouraging socially desirable behaviours in
other contexts, such as encouraging people to pay into an honesty box and
preventing bicycle theft. Keep Britain Tidy combined this insight with their own
research which showed that dog-fouling offences tended to take place at night-time
or in areas that are not overlooked, such as alleyways. Incidents also tend to
increase in the winter under the cover of darkness. They designed posters with

Page 233

Agenda Item 14
Appendix A
glow-in-the-dark images of eyes combined with different messages encouraging
people to clean up after their dog, or report fouling to the council. The posters were
tested in dog-fouling ‘hotspots’ in 120 target sites and dog-fouling incidents were
monitored in the surrounding areas. All versions of the posters were found to be
effective and delivered an average reduction of 46% in fouling.
Nudge-type interventions are often small changes that are relatively cheap to
implement, compared to traditional behaviour-change tools like large-scale
campaigns or enforcement. For example, there is no difference in cost between
using positive social norm messages (e.g. “be part of a clean community”) rather
than negative instructions (e.g. “don’t drop litter”), yet nudge theory suggests that
positive messages should be more effective.
We will be imaginative in our approach and will be confident about trying different
ideas, learning from others as we develop our action plans: see Appendix B for the
strategy in tabular form.

Appendix A
Litter and the Law
Litter is controlled under the legislative framework of the Environmental Protection
Act 1990, which was amended by the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act
2005.
A Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse, most recently updated by Defra in 2019,
“seeks to encourage duty bodies to maintain their land within acceptable cleanliness
standards”. Duty bodies are: principal litter authorities; appropriate Crown authorities;
designated statutory undertakers; governing bodies of educational institutions; local
authorities in respect of any relevant highway for which they are responsible;
Secretary of State in respect of motorways and certain other highways.
It is an offence to drop or leave litter and not pick it up. It applies to all land that is
open to the air, including land covered with water and privately owned land. A person
found guilty of dropping litter can be fined up to £2500 in a magistrate’s court. Most
offences can be dealt with through serving a Fixed Penalty Notice on the perpetrator
by an authorised body such as a local authority or police force.
Litter is most commonly understood to be materials, often associated with smoking,
chewing gum, or eating and drinking on the move, that are improperly discarded
whether deliberately or inadvertently by members of the public, or that are spilt
during business operations as well as waste management operations.
Note: Whilst dog-fouling is a separate offence from littering, it is included in this litter
strategy because it can be deposited in standard litter bins as well as specific dog
bins.

Page 234

Agenda Item 14
Appendix A
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/834331/pb11577b-cop-litter1.pdf

Appendix B
Strategy at a glance

AIM

To change the
behaviour of people
who feel it is
acceptable to drop
litter by sending clear
messages

To make it easy to
dispose of litter,
provide the
appropriate
facilities in the
right places, and
collect litter in a
timely fashion

To improve
enforcement by
exercising
council powers
to deal with
anyone who
drops litter

Objective

To create a culture where it
is totally unacceptable to
drop or leave litter lying in
the environment

To establish a system
of ongoing audit and
review to ensure our
provision for litter
collection and
containment is
efficient and effective

To actively pursue
opportunities to
increase the
enforcement
capability and the
related deterrent
effect

Activity






Objective

Activity

Targeted awareness
campaigns
Educational
programmes
Community
engagement
‘Nudge theory’

To build a knowledge base
that informs and directs
practice, drives all activity,
and maximises our
effectiveness




Examining causes of
litter
Improved mapping





Bin placement
monitoring
Bin
refurbishment
Location
appraisal

To expand the concept
of recycling beyond the
domestic collection
with greater provision
for ‘recycling on the
go’



Transferable
principles
explained

Page 235



Targeted
action –
Hotspots
 Targeted
action –
Offending
groups
 Extended
delegations
To promote and
affirm the
achievements of
‘enforcement officers’
and increase their
profile, visibility and
presence, alongside
the accountability off
perpetrators.
 High visibility
patrols

Agenda Item 14
Appendix A



Objective

Activity

Enhanced
reporting/recording
What works
elsewhere

To work with ‘partners’ to
extend the capacity for
action to address the
problem of litter





Enhanced networks
Extended
partnerships
Business
connections




Increased
receptacles in
public space
Recycling on
the go

To practically engage
and support citizens
who feel empowered
to share their ideas
and get involved in
positive processes to
address litter problems




Related
business
support
Litter Picking
Adopt a space

Page 236



PR for
enforcement
action
 Role for
community
activists
To build a strong
sense of community
identity where
people care about the
locations they
regularly use or visit
and affirm positive
social norms
 Challenge
 Report
 Change

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Code of Practice
on Litter and Refuse

April 2006
Modified in September 2019

Page 237

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Department for Environment,
Food and Rural Affairs
Nobel House
17 Smith Square
London SW1P 3JR
Telephone 020 7238 6000
Website: www.defra.gov.uk
© Crown copyright 2006
Copyright in the typographical arrangement
and design rests with the Crown.
This publication (excluding the logo) may be
reproduced free of charge in any format or
medium provided that it is reproduced accurately
and not used in a misleading context. The material
must be acknowledged as Crown copyright with
the title and source of the publication specified.
Further copies of this publication are available from:
Defra Publications
Admail 6000
London
SW1A 2XX
Tel: 08459 556000
This document is also available on the Defra website.
Published by the Department for Environment, Food
and Rural Affairs. Printed in the UK, April 2006, on
material containing 80% post-consumer waste and
20% Elemental Chlorine Free pulp.
Product code PB11577b

Page 238

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Contents
Introduction

5

Part 1: Code of practice on litter
and refuse

9

Part 2: Advisory standards for graffiti
and fly-posting
37
Part 3: Legislation to support the
code of practice

41

Annex A: Comparisons between
code of practice on litter and
refuse land use categories and
BV199 land use definitions

52

Part 1A - Effective enforcement has been added separately (September
2019) - see www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-onlitter-and-refuse

Page 239
3

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Page 240

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Introduction
1.0 Codes of Practice on
Litter and Refuse
1.1 The Environmental Protection Act
1990 imposes duties under section 89(1)
and (2) on certain landowners and
occupiers (referred to throughout as ‘duty
bodies’ and described in detail at section
3.2) to keep specified land clear of litter
and refuse, and on local authorities and
the Secretary of State to keep clean public
highways for which they are responsible.
This document provides a practical guide
to the discharge of these duties.
1.2 This is the third Code of Practice on
Litter and Refuse. The first was published
in January 1991 by the Secretary of State
under section 89(7) of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990. It was substituted
by a Code dated 1st June 1999 published
by the Department for Environment,
Transport and the Regions. These versions
were both applicable to England, Scotland
and Wales. This third revision replaces
the previous Code. It is the result of an
extensive research programme and review
overseen by a Stakeholder Advisory
Group. It applies to England only.

1.3 Part 1 contains a Code of Practice
(referred to throughout as ‘the Code’)
issued under section 89(7) of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990.
Where land is defaced by litter and refuse
and action alleging dereliction of the
section 89 duty is taken in court under
section 91 or 92 of the Act, this Code is
admissible in evidence in the proceedings.
1.4 It seeks to encourage duty bodies
to maintain their land within acceptable
cleanliness standards. The emphasis
is on the consistent and appropriate
management of an area to keep it clean,
not on how often it is cleaned.
1.5 Previous Codes have referred to the
issue of practicability. This Code seeks
to outline in more detail what might
be considered by a court of law to be
practicable on different types of land.
However, it will be for the court to agree
what is appropriate in a particular instance.
1.6 Part 2 contains advisory standards for
graffiti and fly-posting. Such defacement,
even if partially removed, has an adverse
affect on the quality of the environment
and can lead to an increase in crime. Even
Page
241
if all of the
litter and
refuse were cleared,

1.5A Part 1A (as inserted by
modification in 2019)
contains guidance on the
proportionate and effective
use of enforcement action
against littering and related
offences. Appropriate,
effective and proportionate
use of enforcement powers
will help all duty bodies to
comply with their duties to
keep relevant land clear of
litter and refuse, and to keep
relevant highways clean. A
balanced approach to
enforcement should strike the
balance between national
consistency, local
circumstances, and fairness
and effectiveness.
5

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B
the public would perceive the area to be
defaced if graffiti and/or fly-posting were
still present. In recognition of this Central
Government extended the cleanliness
indicator (BV199), reported annually by
local authorities, to include these elements
from April 2005. Whilst these standards
do not form part of their statutory duties,
it is recommended that all duty bodies, in
managing the litter and refuse on their
land, seek also to manage these issues.
1.7 Part 3 contains details of the
legislative framework that surrounds
this Code of Practice.
1.8 Good practice to assist land managers
in the discharge of this duty is available
through www.cleanersafergreener.gov.uk.
1.9 It is envisaged that this document
can and should also act as a guide to
other managers of land that are not
subject to the section 89 duty, such as
registered social landlords and arms-length
management organisations, in the
management of the land for which
they are responsible.

2.0 Why you should be
interested in this code
2.1 The quality of the local
environment is important to people.
Local environmental quality has several
dimensions. These include:

Page 242
6

• how places look and are perceived;
• how safe and happy people feel about
living in an area; and
• how attractive areas are to workers,
visitors and existing and new
business investors.
Achieving and sustaining a high local
environmental quality is important for all
land managers, whether you are a business,
a transport operator, a local authority, a
landlord or an individual householder.
2.2 High local environmental
quality helps to:
• secure quality, long term
commercial investors;
• attract and retain workers with
scarce skills;
• meet landowners’ and tenants’ legal
obligations and liabilities;
• attract good, long-term tenants,
minimising voids and repairs costs;
• deter anti-social behaviour and some
criminal activities;
• secure the approval of electors, for
whom local environmental quality is a
fundamental test of an administration’s
efficiency and effectiveness; and
• create environments that are more
easily maintained and less subject
to vandalism.

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B
2.3 Your land can contribute to, and
is affected by, litter on others’ land.
This country is made up of a patchwork
of abutting areas of land owned,
tenanted and managed by a myriad of
public and private agencies and
individuals. Unmanaged litter and refuse
from your land moves, blows or flows
onto the land of others, and theirs onto
yours. Government, through this code,
is encouraging good land management
through the awareness of circumstances
that will lead to increased litter and
refuse at particular times.
2.4 Powers are available to require
others to clear their land of litter. The
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment
Act 2005 has extended a range of
enforcement powers for local authorities
to compel businesses, private land owners,
occupiers and managers to recognise their
role in contributing to the quality and
appearance of the local environment.

Local authorities have new powers to
serve a Litter Clearing Notice on any land,
requiring the occupier, or failing that, the
owner, to clear litter from that land. If
the notice is not complied with they can
enter the land, clean up and then reclaim
their costs (Part 3 contains further details
on legislation). Duty bodies may find it
helpful to encourage voluntary groups to
assist in cleaning areas.
2.6 The Environmental Protection Act
1990 gives a person the right (under
section 91) to take legal action to require
a duty body to remove litter on its land
where this falls below the acceptable
standard set out in the Code for longer
than the period specified. If the
Magistrates’ Court is satisfied that the
duty body is in dereliction of its duty
under section 89, it may make a Litter
Abatement Order, requiring the duty
body to clean up.

2.5 Government encourages the
public to take more responsibility.
Under the Clean Neighbourhoods and
Environment Act 2005, enforcement
powers have been extended and widened
to help tackle problems such as the
leaving of litter, dog fouling and a range
of environmental crimes such as fly-tipping
and graffiti.

Page 243
7

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Page 244

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Part 1: Code of practice
on litter and refuse
Issued under section 89(7) of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990.

4.0 Who do these duties affect?

3.0 What are the duties?

• Principal litter authorities;

3.1 Section 89(1) of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 places a duty on
certain bodies to ensure that their land
(or land for which they are responsible)
is, so far as is practicable, kept clear of
litter and refuse (defined in 5.0 below).
3.2 Section 89(2) places a further duty
on the Secretary of State in respect of
motorways and a few other similar public
highways, and on local authorities in
respect of all other publicly maintainable
highways in their area, to ensure that
the highway or road is, so far as is
practicable, kept clean. This is in
addition to the section 89(1) requirement
and therefore means removal of detritus
as well as litter and refuse (all defined in
5.0). The removal of detritus is deemed
to be practicable from metalled surfaces
only. It is recommended, but not a duty,
that detritus (see 5.0) is also removed
from other hard surfaces.

4.1 These duty bodies are:

• Appropriate Crown authorities;
• Designated statutory undertakers;
• Governing Bodies of designated
educational institutions;
• Local Authorities as respects any
relevant highway for which they
are responsible; and
• The Secretary of State as respects
any trunk road that is a special road
and any other relevant highway or
road for which he is responsible;
definitions of which are provided in section
86 of the Environmental Protection Act
1990. Defra has published guidance on
Part 4 of the Environmental Protection Act
1990 and these definitions are covered in
detail in that document (can be viewed at:
www.defra.gov.uk/environment/localenv/
index.htm)
4.2 These duties relate to the duty
body’s relevant land and relevant
highways/special roads, definitions of
which are
provided
in section 86 of the
Page
245
Environmental Protection Act 1990.
9

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Figure 1 – Example of the designation of litter clearance responsibilities
by land type under the Environmental Protection Act 1990
© Crown copyright. All rights reserved Defra 100018880 2005.

Page 246
10

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B
Again, further information on these
descriptions is available in Defra’s
guidance on Part 4 of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 (can be viewed at:
www.defra.gov.uk /environment/
localenv/index.htm)
4.3 These duties are not transferable.
If a duty body contracts a private company
or another agency, for example a cleansing
contractor or a parish council, to carry
out cleansing on its behalf, the duty
body remains responsible if the land is
not maintained to acceptable standards.
Similarly, within Business Improvement
Districts, the duty body for that land is
still responsible for ensuring that the
statutory requirements are met.
4.4 Previously, the duties also related
to relevant land within a Litter Control
Area, as defined under section 90 of
the Environmental Protection Act 1990.
The Clean Neighbourhoods and
Environment Act 2005 repealed this
section and instead a Litter Clearing
Notice may be served under section 92(A)
of the 1990 Act on any land, requiring
the occupier or, if unoccupied, the owner,
to clear that land of litter and take steps
to prevent its reoccurrence of littering.
For further details see Part 3.
4.5 Figure 1 provides an example of the
land areas for which different duty bodies
are responsible.

5.0 What comprises litter
and refuse?
5.1 The 1990 Act does not provide a
comprehensive definition of litter or refuse,
although the courts have considered the
definition to be wide; (certain matters
which are included are described in section
98(5A) – see 5.3 below). The following
summarises common definitions used
in cleansing contracts and is provided
purely as a guide:
5.2 Litter is most commonly assumed to
include materials, often associated with
smoking, eating and drinking, that are
improperly discarded and left by members
of the public; or are spilt during business
operations as well as waste management
operations. As a guideline (see section
5.7 overleaf) a single plastic sack of
rubbish should usually be considered
fly-tipping rather than litter.
5.3 Under section 98(5A) of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990,
certain discarded smoking-related
materials (cigarette ends, etc.), and
discarded chewing gum and the remains
of other products designed for chewing,
are specifically stated to be items of litter.
However, whilst both are litter when they
are dropped (i.e. the dropper could be
prosecuted under section 87 of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990
for leaving
litter), 247
the standards in the
Page
11

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse
do not apply to trodden-in chewing gum.
Duty bodies are not required to employ
special cleansing methods to remove
compacted gum or gum staining over
and above normal cleansing regimes.
5.4 Refuse. Refuse should be regarded
as having its ordinary meaning of waste
or rubbish, including household and
commercial waste, and can include
fly-tipped waste. Dog faeces are to be
treated as if they were refuse when on
1
certain descriptions of public land . (Dog
fouling is a separate offence from littering.)
5.5 Detritus, which comprises small,
broken down particles of synthetic and
natural materials, arrive at the site
through the same displacement effects
associated with mechanical, human,
animal and natural actions, most of which
also determine the distribution of litter.
Detritus includes dust, mud, soil, grit,
gravel, stones, rotted leaf and vegetable
residues, and fragments of twigs, glass,
plastic and other finely divided materials.
Leaf and blossom falls are to be regarded
as detritus once they have substantially
lost their structure and have become
mushy or fragmented. A significant and
avoidable source of detritus is uncollected
grass cuttings and weed growth from
seeds germinating in moist detritus.
1

12

Page 248

5.6 Large accumulations of detritus, built
up over months and years, can contribute
to the uncared for impression an area
exudes. Detritus on metalled highways
must be removed as a requirement of the
s.89 duty to keep highways clean and it
is also recommended that detritus should
be removed alongside litter and refuse by
duty bodies from all other hard surfaces
as well (see 3.0).
5.7 Fly-tipping. The illegal disposal of
controlled waste is commonly known as
fly-tipping. There is no specific definition
of fly-tipping other than in the offences
set out in section 33 of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990, including the
deposit or disposal of controlled waste
without a waste management licence,
or its disposal in a manner likely to cause
pollution of the environment or harm
to human health.
5.8 Defra has set up the Flycapture
database to gather information on the
scale of fly-tipping dealt with by local
authorities and the Environment Agency.
Flycapture has developed a working
definition of fly-tipping that sets out
a wide definition ranging from a single
bin-bag up to thousands of tonnes
of construction and demolition waste.
As well as large incidents of fly-tipping
Flycapture also records any items illegally

The Litter (Animal Droppings) Order 1991 (S.I. 1991/961) made under s.86 (14) Environmental Protection Act 1990.

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B
dumped outside the standard waste
collection times set by the local authority.
5.9 Local authorities deal primarily with
small, localised incidents of fly-tipping
while the Environment Agency focuses
its efforts on dealing with larger, more
serious incidents. The Environment
Agency and the Local Government
Association have agreed a voluntary
fly-tipping protocol to clarify this division
of responsibilities.

6.0 The principle underpinning
this code
6.1 The quality of the local environment,
that is, the appearance of an area, and
the way that people perceive it, comes
down to good, effective management.
In order to know what resources should
be deployed and when, accurate and
systematic monitoring is needed. This will
enable duty bodies to identify when and
where the greatest litter problems are
likely to occur, and to put into place
procedures to ensure that these do not
build up and that acceptable standards
are maintained. It is good practice to
make this information available to the
public, for example, through publishing
cleansing regimes.
6.2 Government does not expect that
implementation of this Code will demand
additional expenditure on the part of

a duty body, but believes that better
standards can be achieved within
the existing levels of expenditure
by deploying suitable resources at
appropriate times and combining this
with education and enforcement.
Defra has issued a guide to help local
authorities improve standards and
efficiency of street cleansing (Achieving
Improvements in Street Cleansing and
Related Services, 2005, which can be
viewed at: www.defra.gov.uk/environment
/localenv/pdf/street-clean.pdf).
6.3 Public opinion tends to be shaped
by a minority of sites – unsightly niches
and areas where litter may be trapped
due to the nature of the environment
itself. For most responsible bodies, good
management is therefore simply about
managing the minority of locations
for short periods of time, as well as
maintaining a consistent overall
cleansing strategy.
6.4 All duty bodies are encouraged to
adopt suitable monitoring systems. Local
authorities report to Central Government
on the cleanliness of the land for which
they are responsible (BV199), and so
collect data across different times of year
and across different types of land use.
This provides valuable data to enable
managers to identify sources and causes
of problems,
and 249
take the correct course
Page
13

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B
of action. The methodology is freely
available from www.leq-bvpi.com. Other
duty bodies have also developed efficient
monitoring systems for particular
environmental situations.
6.5 This Code introduces a revised set
of recovery times for restoring local
environmental standards for litter, refuse
and detritus, if they fall below the
prescribed standard. However, these
should be regarded as a last resort as
the levels should be maintained above
an acceptable standard at all times.

7.0 Grades of cleanliness
7.1 The graded standards shown below
are as defined in the original Code of
Practice on Litter and Refuse issued under
section 89(7) of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990. These four grades
also correspond to the scales used by local
authorities for recording levels of street
cleanliness for best value indicator BV199.
For litter and refuse:
Grade A:

No litter or refuse

Grade B:

Predominately free of litter
and refuse apart from
some small items

Grade C:

Widespread distribution
of litter and/or refuse with
minor accumulations

Page 250
14

Grade D:

Heavily affected by litter
and/or refuse with
significant accumulations

For detritus (to be removed on
metalled highways and recommended
to be removed on all hard surfaces):
Grade A:

No detritus

Grade B:

Predominately free of
detritus except for some
light scattering

Grade C:

Widespread distribution
of detritus with minor
accumulations

Grade D:

Heavily affected by
detritus with significant
accumulations

7.2 These standards may be applied to
any site for litter and refuse, and, in the
case of detritus, to metalled highways
and (recommended) all hard surfaces,
using the following principles. N.B.
Although the nature and characteristics
of land may vary the principles on which
the litter, refuse and detritus are graded
remain the same. The photos that
follow in 7.7 demonstrate graphically
how these principles appear against
different backgrounds.
• Grade A means that no litter, refuse
(or detritus where applicable), is present
in the area.

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B
• The presence of even one small item
of litter, refuse (or small scattering of
detritus where applicable) downgrades
the environment to a B.
• The presence of litter and/or refuse
(and/or detritus where applicable) that
is significant enough to form a few
minor accumulations (grade C) or
significant accumulations (grade D)
is regarded as unacceptable.
7.3 It is recognised that a grade A
cannot be maintained at all times, and
the presence of a few small items of litter
and refuse, not yet accumulating, are
regarded by the public as acceptable for
short periods of time. It is expected that
managers of land should, through
monitoring and the appropriate use of
resources, keep their land clear of litter
and refuse so that it does not fall below
a grade B and is cleansed to an A on a
regular basis. Metalled highways must
be free from detritus after cleansing
(to a grade A).
The inclusion of the recommendation
that all hard surfaces be cleansed to be
free from detritus in this code seeks to
ensure that thorough cleansing is carried
out on a regular basis. Without this,
an area still appears dirty.

7.4 It may not be practicable to remove
all litter items from some softer or
non-metalled surfaces, such as grass
or sand, and in these cases a grade B
would be acceptable.
7.5 Where vegetated and metalled
surfaces abut without clear kerb edging,
for example a grass verge leading onto
a rural road, managers should make a
judgement as to the definitive edge of
the metalled surface. The extent of
detritus is then comprised of the amount
of encroachment onto the metalled
surface from this definitive edge. It
should be regarded as good practice to
cut back any vegetation that encroaches
upon a metalled surface, and detritus can
be managed with an effective sweeping
regime. Although a grade A may not be
achievable in every circumstance, it is
expected that an acceptable grade (grade
B) be achieved on the exposed metalled
surface of a road or highway. Mud and
skim from flooding are separate issues.
7.6 Managers should be able to predict
times or situations that lead to greater
fluctuations in likely disposal patterns and
prepare for them appropriately. Managers
should also consider shaping their
monitoring to enable them to respond
quickly to potentially dangerous items
such as glass or drug needles, or to
sensitivePage
areas such
as playgrounds.
251
15

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B
7.7 Pictorial examples of the grading
principles in different settings

Set B: litter and refuse
in a soft surface setting

Grade B
Predominately free of litter
and refuse apart from
some small items

Grade D
Heavily affected by litter
and/or refuse with
significant accumulations

Page 252
16

Grade A
No litter or refuse

© ENCAMS

Grade C
Widespread distribution
of litter and/or refuse with
minor accumulations

© ENCAMS

© ENCAMS

Grade A
No litter or refuse

© ENCAMS

© ENCAMS

© ENCAMS

Set A: litter and refuse in both relevant
highway and hard surface setting

Grade B
Predominately free of litter
and refuse apart from
some small items

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Grade D
Heavily affected by litter
and/or refuse with
significant accumulations

Grade C
Widespread distribution
of detritus with minor
accumulations

© ENCAMS

Grade A
No detritus

© ENCAMS

© ENCAMS

Grade C
Widespread distribution
of litter and/or refuse with
minor accumulations

© ENCAMS

© ENCAMS

© ENCAMS

Set C: principles of detritus grading
in a relevant highway setting

Grade B
Predominantly free of
detritus except for some
light scattering

Page 253

Grade D
Heavily affected by
detritus with significant
accumulations

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B
8.0 Zones

• High intensity of use (busy public areas)

8.1 The speed and intensity of the
accumulation of litter and refuse in an
area depend on a large number of
factors. These can include the levels of
pedestrian and vehicular traffic, natural
physical features and location, the
weather, the time of year, the nature of
the surface of the terrain, the structural
and physical items that affect the ability
to clean, and the nature and condition of
the surrounding areas. All of these must
be accounted for when analysing the
most effective cleansing strategy.

• Medium intensity of use (‘everyday’
areas, including most housing areas
occupied by people most of the time)

8.2 However, there are two most
common features that will have an
impact on the levels and frequency of
attention that needs to be paid to an
area to keep levels of litter and refuse
to acceptable standards. These are:
• the intensity of activity in the area,
from people and vehicles; and
• health and safety limitations.
8.3 As such, this revised Code has
re-classified the different types of land
managed by duty bodies into four main
zones, based on these two variables.
It is anticipated that this will help to
guide duty bodies on the intensity of
management required.

Page 254
18

• Low intensity of use (lightly trafficked
areas that do not impact upon most
people’s lives most of the time)
• Areas with special circumstances
(situations where issues of health and
safety and reasonableness and
practicability are dominant
considerations when undertaking
environmental maintenance work)
8.4 Duty bodies should allocate land
into one of these four zones and
manage it accordingly. Table 1 below
(pages 21-25) indicates the types of
land within each category.
8.5 More detailed descriptions of land
uses and accompanying management
notes are listed in section 11 below.
8.6 If in doubt, categorise a land use
into the same zone as the dominant land
uses around it. For example, a park
located within a housing area should be
managed as a medium intensity zone.
A road would be designated as a high
intensity zone whilst running through a
primary or secondary retail and commercial
centre, a medium intensity zone in the
suburbs and a low intensity zone once in
the countryside. Hotspots (for example

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B
within 200m of entrances of car parking
areas) in busy public parks, that are
national tourist attractions located in rural
areas, should be classified as high intensity
in order to be managed effectively.
8.7 Duty bodies are expected to publish
details of these zones for their land
and make them available to the public
on request.
8.8 All duty bodies in an area should
consult together and develop an
integrated approach to zoning.
This should be led by the Principal
Litter Authority and zoning should
be completed within 1 year of
commencement of the new Code’s
coming into effect. It is recommended
that any subsequent zoning or re-zoning
is done after a period of consultation. In
particular, any body under the duty should
consult the Principal Litter Authority when
changing an existing zone or when zoning
previously un-zoned areas.

9.0 Timings
9.1 Duty bodies are expected to set their
cleansing schedules so that they meet the
duty to keep their relevant land clear of
litter and refuse, and highways clean.
9.2 In some areas, these standards can
be effectively maintained during daylight
hours. However, in others longer hours
of management are required, for
example, in town and city centres. If the
standard in high intensity areas should
fall to an unacceptable level during the
evening, it should be restored to grade
A by 8am. Good practice would be that
grade A is achieved earlier, by the time
the area begins to get busy. This applies
to weekends and bank holidays as well
as weekdays.

8.9 In some cases these land uses may
integrate with areas for which other duty
bodies have responsibility, such as suburban
transport centres, or land adjacent to
canals. In these cases, respective zones of
responsibility should be clearly defined.
Partnership working is recommended as
a way to manage such areas.

Page 255
19

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

9.3 If, in managing the litter and refuse,
managers judge it necessary to work
outside normal working hours, the duty
body should administer a consistent
policy to this effect. For example, in areas
with a lively night-time economy, or
which are obstructed by people or
vehicles during the day, it may be far
more efficient to carry out daytime
operations to manage the levels to
acceptable standards and carry out
thorough cleansing regimes outside
normal working hours.

Response times:

9.5 Duty bodies that allow their land
to fall below acceptable standards for
longer than the allowed response time
may be subject to a Litter Abatement
Order (section 91) or a Litter Abatement
Notice (section 92) issued under the
Environmental Protection Act 1990.
Further details on legislation can be
found in Part 3.

High intensity
of use

Medium intensity
of use

Low intensity
of use

Special
circumstances

1/2 a day

1 day

14 days

This means by 6pm
if reported before
1pm or by 1pm the
next duty day if
reported between
1pm and 6pm on
the previous day

This means by 6pm
the following
evening

28 days or as soon
as reasonably
practicable

Page 256
20

9.4 As a last resort, if acceptable
standards of litter and refuse are not met,
response times have been set for each of
the four categories by which land must
be returned to an acceptable standard.

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Table 1

Type of zone
High intensity
of use

Medium intensity
of use

Low intensity
of use

Special
circumstances

Nature of the area

Areas which, through
intense pedestrian
and/or vehicular
movements, are
prone to fluctuations
in litter and refuse
and require both
high levels of
monitoring and
frequent cleansing

Areas affected by
moderate levels of
pedestrian and
vehicular activity and
therefore less prone
to fluctuations in
litter and refuse,
usually situated
outside centres of
retail or commercial
activity, but used
regularly by members
of the public

Areas subject to low
or infrequent levels
of pedestrian and
vehicular activity and
therefore less prone
to fluctuations in
litter and refuse,
often located in
more rural areas

Types of land where
issues of health
and safety and
reasonableness and
practicability are
dominant
considerations when
undertaking
environmental
maintenance work
(includes legislative
restrictions for all
land types)

Maximum response
time to restore to
grade A standard
if it falls below
grade B

1/2 a day

1 day

14 days

This means by 6pm
if reported before
1pm or by 1pm the
next duty day if
reported between
1pm and 6pm on
the previous day

This means by 6pm
the following
evening

28 days or as soon
as reasonably
practicable

Page 257
21

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Table 1 Continued

Retail, office and
commercial
(see section 11.1)

Type of land (duty applies to relevant land/highways within these categories
– refer to specific guidance in section 11)
High intensity
of use

Medium intensity
of use

Primary and
secondary retail,
office & commercial
areas

Primary and
secondary retail,
office & commercial
areas

Housing land
(see section 11.2)

Areas of housing
(except those located
within primary or
secondary retail,
office & commercial
areas which fall
within high intensity
areas)

Industrial areas
(see section 11.3)

Industry/warehousing
/retail parks

Page 258
22

Low intensity
of use

Special
circumstances

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Type of land (continued)

Roads
(see section 11.4)

High intensity
of use

Medium intensity
of use

Low intensity
of use

Special
circumstances

Main roads and
other highways
running through the
above areas

Main roads and
other highways
running through the
above areas

Rural roads and
other highways
running through
the above areas

Carriageway, verges
and central
reservations of
motorways and
trunk roads

Motorway and trunk
road roundabouts
and lay-bys,
approach and slip
roads connecting
to these roads
Transport
interchanges
(see section 11.5)

Publicly accessible
areas in and around
transport
interchanges in busy
public areas (most
likely to be major
airports, ports,
harbours, bus, train,
and tram passenger
stations in cities and
town centres, and
car parks)

Publicly accessible
areas in and
around transport
interchanges located
in these areas (most
likely to be suburban
and important
town harbours, bus,
train and tram
interchanges, car
parks and haulage
operations)

Public areas in and
around transport
interchanges located
in these areas

Operational rail land
within urban areas,
not covered by other
zones

Also, Operational
rail land between
platforms and within
100m of platform
ends

Page 259
23

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Type of land (continued)
High intensity
of use
Educational land
(see section 11.7)

24

Medium intensity
of use

Low intensity
of use

Land of designated
educational
institutions (most
commonly schools,
colleges and
universities), during
term-time, other
than weekends or
half-term holiday

Land of designated
educational
institutions (most
commonly schools,
colleges and
universities), when
being used for a
purpose authorised
by governing body
or managers during
holidays

Public open spaces
(see section 11.6)

Parks and open
spaces located in
busy public areas,
or with strategic
national importance,
or parts of other
open spaces subject
to high intensity
of use

Parks and open
spaces located in
areas as described
above, or parts of
other open spaces
subject to medium
intensity of use

Parks and open
spaces located in
areas as described
above, or parts of
other open spaces
subject to low
intensity of use

Waterside land
(see section 11.8)

Waterside land in
areas with high
intensity of use

Waterside land in
areas with medium
intensity of use

All other waterside
land

Page 260

Special
circumstances

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Type of land (continued)
High intensity
of use

Medium intensity
of use

Low intensity
of use

Beaches
(see section 11.9)

Special
circumstances
Amenity Beaches
should be generally
clear of all litter and
refuse between
1 May and 30
September inclusive.
Individual local
authorities should
decide the level of
cleanliness that they
are able to provide
to any non-amenity
beaches, and where
practicable, beaches
must be inspected
from time to time
and cleaned as
necessary

Other areas
(see section 11.10)

Other busy public
areas

All other areas

Page 261
25

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

9.6 There will be circumstances, which,
in the interests of responsibility and/or
health and safety, require managers to
respond far quicker than the maximum
response time. For example, should drugs
needles be found on a school playground,
or any items of litter be found on an
airport runway, it is expected that these
objects be removed as a matter of priority,
well before the maximum response time.
It is recommended that for drug-related
litter, duty bodies respond within 3 hours
of a report.
9.7 When there is an accumulation of
material that is potentially hazardous to
health (for example waste food), duty
bodies should remove this at the earliest
practicable opportunity.
9.8 Response times will be subject to
overriding requirements, especially in
relation to health and safety and traffic
management, where the regulations or
procedures laid down in the relevant
legislation must be adhered to in the
first instance.

Page 262
26

10.0 Practical issues
10.1 The time periods given in Table 1
are maximum response times for cleaning
an area that has become adversely
affected by litter, refuse, and/or detritus
(where applicable).
10.2 The caveat in the litter duty
concerning practicability is very important.
On some occasions, circumstances may
render it impracticable for the body under
the duty to discharge it. It is for the courts
to agree whether or not it was impracticable
for a person under the duty to discharge
it. Examples where it may be considered
impracticable to clear within duty
timescales include:
• when there are severe weather conditions;
• when special events present practical
difficulty in meeting the response times;
• health and safety considerations;
• to avoid damage to sensitive areas (can
include natural habitats and heritage
sites as well as, for example, the need
to preserve forensic evidence at a
crime scene);
• where advance notice is required
for traffic management.

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Every effort must be made to clear the
land at the earliest opportunity. See
section 11.0 for further information on
practicability issues pertaining to each
land type /highways.
10.3 The courts should also take into
account action taken through other
legislation, such as Street Litter Control
Notices or Litter Clearing Notices.

11.0 Detailed descriptions
of land uses
11.0.1 This section provides more detailed
descriptions of the types of land referred to
in Table 1, and, where appropriate, specific
notes on the discharge of the duty and
issues of practicability.
11.0.2 Annex 1 contains the full land
use category descriptions used by local
authorities under the BV199 sampling
regime. It aims to provide those already
using these land use categories with
an easy reference and others with an
extended description of the type of
land included within the land use type.

11.1 Retail, office and
commercial areas
11.1.1 This category includes all city and
town centre areas and should include all
of the main town and city retail, office and
commercial centres, as defined in local
authority Development Plans (or Local
Development Frameworks), as well as busy
tourist hot spots outside central areas.
It should also include secondary retail,
office and commercial areas (that have a
frontage of over 50 metres), often located
in areas of housing or smaller towns and
villages. Out-of-town retail parks and
industrial estates are not included in this
category (see 11.3.1 below).
11.2 Housing land
11.2.1 This category includes all
(relevant) land primarily used for housing,
with the exception of housing located
within busy town and city centres, which
should be included within the Retail,
Office and Commercial category.
11.3 Industrial areas
11.3.1 This category includes land within
industrial and warehousing developments,
out-of-town retail parks and science
parks, asPage
well as the
roads running
263
through them.
27

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

11.3.2 Some large industrial estates
have honeypot sites around a number
of mobile or fixed establishments selling
food, or can be known fly-tipping sites
that should be managed as a high
intensity zone.
11.4 Roads
11.4.1 This category covers certain types
of highway – motorways, trunk roads,
and those defined as main roads, rural
roads and ‘other highways’ according to
BV199. Rights of way that are publicly
maintainable will fall into the rural roads
category in rural areas except where they
are defined as ‘other highways’. Relevant
highways falling outside these definitions
should be zoned according to the
surrounding land use.
11.4.2 The duty relating to relevant
highways under section 89 of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990 is that
they should also be kept clean, not just
clear of litter and refuse. In practice, the
code therefore requires the removal of
detritus from metalled highway surfaces,
and recommends its removal from all
other hard surfaces. This should be
reflected in the cleansing
strategy.
Page
264
28

11.4.3 Care should always be taken to
ensure that debris, detritus, and other
materials are not left to become a danger
to road users by accumulating to; block
channels, gullies and cause flooding;
encourage weed growth; or become
compacted. The seasonal variations in
such accumulations should be taken into
consideration when formulating cleaning
regimes. The difficulty of removing
seasonal leaf fall is recognised in the
definition of detritus, which only covers
leaf fall that has substantially broken
down. Extensive deposits of mud and
slurry arising from farms, forestry and
construction activities may present
practicability issues, especially in rural
areas, to which the principles in
section 10.0 apply.
11.4.4 Broadly speaking, in accordance
with the Environmental Protection Act
1990, the Secretary of State is responsible
for ensuring that motorways and a small
number of all-purpose trunk roads are
kept litter-free. Certain statutory
instruments have created trunked or
de-trunked roads (defined in ‘A New
Deal for Trunk Roads’) and are listed at
www.highways.gov.uk. The responsibility

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

for litter clearance on the rest of the trunk
road network lies with the relevant local
district and borough councils.
11.4.5 Main roads and ‘other highways’
including, for example, dedicated cycle
ways, lay-bys, and redundant highway
infrastructure still accessible to the public,
should fall into high or medium intensity
zones depending on the surrounding land
use. Rural roads and ‘other highways’ in
rural areas fall into the low intensity zone.
11.4.6 Sections of motorways and trunk
roads where vehicle speeds tend to be
lower and traffic less frequent fall into the
low intensity zone, namely roundabouts
at motorway and trunk road intersections,
run-on and run-off roads, and lay-bys on
trunk roads. Other areas of motorways
may be subject to the following health
and safety considerations.
11.4.7 On motorways, where safety
issues are paramount, it is recommended
that cleansing is always carried out
alongside routine maintenance to aid
maintenance of standards. The issues
of practicability pertaining to motorways
are recognised, but examples of good

practice in regular operation include the
use of moving blocks, or scavenging
crews, which have proved to be effective
in tackling littered areas. Some areas with
slower traffic flows such as on-off roads
and roundabouts are often the most
littered but are actually easier to manage
than areas with less refuge and higher
traffic speeds such as central reservations.
11.4.8 In general, managers should
identify times at which roads are least busy
or obstructed and cleansing should be
carried out at these times. This may mean
working outside normal working hours.
11.4.9 On roads where high levels of
vehicle obstruction occur most of the
time, for example, those located within
areas of high density housing, appropriate
cleansing strategies must be used, for
example, manual sweeping.
11.4.10 It should be possible for
managers to set up effective cleansing
strategies to manage levels of litter and
refuse above acceptable standards, and
carry out thorough cleansing with
appropriate equipment, as required,
during times with lower levels of traffic
Page
265
flow and/or
obstruction.
29

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

11.4.11 Section 89(5) requires local
authorities to place appropriate traffic
signs and barriers on the highway or
road to warn or regulate traffic when
exercising their litter duty. Section 89(6)
also requires local authorities to comply
with any directions from the highway
authority in respect of both the placing
of such signs and barriers and of days or
periods during which clearing or cleaning
must not be undertaken. Additionally,
section 89(6) allows local authorities to
apply to the highway or roads authority
asking it to exercise its powers to make
temporary traffic regulation orders to
restrict or prohibit the use of the road to
allow cleaning and the clearance of litter
and refuse to take place.
11.4.12 In relation to 11.4.11 above, the
duty body will need to liaise with the
highway authority to identify and agree
suitable arrangements. These considerations
arise particularly in relation to motorways
and strategic routes that are subject to
continuously heavy traffic flows. Wherever
possible, agreement should be reached on
the co-ordination of highway maintenance
and cleansing activities, Page
to help improve
266
efficiency and service standards.
30

11.5 Transport interchanges
11.5.1 Transport interchanges are the
interchange between two or more modes
of transport, such as major transport
centres including railway stations, bus
stations, taxi ranks, ports and airports as
well as any approach roads, landscaped
areas, and car parking facilities within
them. Non-operational land, to which the
public has access, such as platforms in
railway stations and approach roads and
areas, would not normally be expected
to be subject to special considerations
relating to health and safety. Some health
and safety caveats apply to operational
railway land, ports and airports, addressed
in section 11.5.6 and 11.5.7 below. For
more detailed information, please see
Defra’s guidance on litter available from
www.defra.gov.uk/environment/
localenv.index.htm.
11.5.2 Relevant land in this land use will
fall under the direct responsibility of duty
bodies named under the Litter (Statutory
Undertakers) (Designation and Relevant
Land) Order 1991 (S.I.1991/1043). The
designated statutory undertakers include
train and tram operators, road transport
undertakings (other than taxi or hire cars),

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

canals, ports, docks, harbours, piers
or airports.
11.5.3 Relevant land in this category
may also fall under the direct responsibility
of Principal litter authorities.
11.5.4 Responsibility for transport
interchanges and the land around them
has been transferred between different
companies and agencies a number of
times since this duty came into force under
the 1990 Act. It is important, when carrying
out such a transfer, that responsibility for
all areas of land, including adjacent car
parks and landscaped areas, are noted
in the documents of transfer to avoid
inconsistencies later.
11.5.5 The predominant land use around
public transport facilities will determine
the cleanliness standards and response
times expected of the duty body, in
addition to the general levels of usage.
For instance, a bus station in a central
business district, or a major international
airport, would form a high intensity area.
A small railway station in a rural area
would fall into a low intensity zone.
11.5.6 Issues relating specifically to
railway land:

• Areas of railway land to which the
public are permitted to have access,
which include station forecourts,
platforms and public land adjacent to
the station, should not normally be
subject to significant health and safety
caveats so as to preclude management
of litter and refuse to acceptable levels.
• Operational land up to 100m beyond
the platform ends at railway stations
and between platforms is subject to
a 14-day response time to allow for
possible delays due to health and safety
considerations. It is felt that this time is
sufficient to clear such land, should the
levels of litter and refuse fall below
acceptable levels between regular
cleansing cycles.
• It is recognised that operational land
within urban areas may be subject to
greater health and safety considerations,
but duty bodies are expected to combine
management of litter and refuse with
routine track maintenance work so
as to avoid significant accumulations
of litter and refuse. Any significant
accumulations should be removed at
the earliest
opportunity.
Page
267
31

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

• In areas where the origin of litter or
refuse is external to railway activities, the
duty body may consider it appropriate
to make clearance arrangements on a
partnership basis involving the railway
undertaking, local authorities and
amenity groups.
• Access to railway land is subject to strict
controls, and local authorities must not
under any circumstances enter nor
purport to authorise entry by any person.
Only the railway undertaker concerned is
in a position to authorise entry by persons
in possession of appropriate railway safety
certification meeting the requirements of
undertaker’s Railway (Safety Case)
Regulations 2000 (S.I. 2000/2688).
11.5.7 Issues relating specifically to ports
and airports:

32

• Access to ports and airports is strictly
controlled because of the risks to safety
and security; in particular, access to
the airside at commercial airports and
access into restricted areas of ports is
subject to stringent security checks.
The port authority or airport authority
responsible for the site must therefore
Page
268
always be contacted with
regard
to
accessing such land.

11.6 Public open spaces
11.6.1 This land use type includes a
wide range of open spaces to which the
public has access. Sites include parks,
picnic sites, and municipal cemeteries.
11.6.2 Public open spaces experience
varying levels of patronage, often
determined by their location or
national/regional reputation. As an
example, public open spaces located in
intensely used zones should be managed
closely as they will be subject to the same
fluctuations in pedestrian, and in some
cases, vehicular, flows, as the surrounding
area. The same rule should be used for
the other zones. Some hotspots in the
less intensely used open spaces, such as
car parks or information points, should
be zoned as higher intensity zones in
order to manage the likely fluctuations
in littering appropriately.
11.6.3 Duty bodies will need to have
regard to relevant guidance relating to
protected areas such as Sites of Special
Scientific Interest, Areas of Outstanding
Natural Beauty and National Parks.

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

11.7 Education land
11.7.1 This duty applies to land in the
open air and under the direct control
of the governing body of designated
education institutions. Broadly,
universities, publicly funded colleges of
higher or further education and schools
are designated for the purpose of this
duty, but for full details see section 98(2)
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and
the Litter (Designated Educational
Institutions) Order 1991 (S.I.1991/561).
11.7.2 In developing their management
strategies, managers should anticipate the
changing intensity of use throughout the
year, together with the likely impacts of the
different users (students studying during
term-time, visiting students, other visitors).
11.7.3 Duty bodies should also take into
consideration the impact of their land on
the land around it, particularly at key
times of the day or year, and seek to
work with neighbouring duty bodies to
address some of these impacts through
awareness-raising or more practical
activities. Litter trails from schools to local
shops and the impact of residential
university students on litter and waste
collection in specific areas can

significantly increase the management
requirements for other duty bodies as
well as on education land itself.
11.8 Waterside land
11.8.1 This land use includes canal
waterways, marinas, inland navigation
towpaths and towpaths to which the
public has access in urban areas.
11.8.2 Under the Litter (Statutory
Undertakers) (Designation and Relevant
Land) Order 1991 (S.I.1991/1043), land
adjacent to an unpaved towpath or
adjacent to a paved towpath where the
paving extends for a length of less than
1 kilometre is not to be treated as
relevant land of any designated
statutory undertaker.
11.8.3 The growing number of waterside
areas located within high intensity of use
areas, such as leisure areas comprising bar
and restaurant developments, visitor
attractions or honey pot sites, are
upgraded to a high intensity zone.
Likewise, waterside areas experiencing
medium intensity of use or located within
a medium intensity zone, would be zoned
as a medium intensity zone. This will
Page 269
enable them to be managed appropriately
33

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

to address the levels of use and high
fluctuations of litter and refuse likely to
relate, in particular, to the weather and
the time of day.

It is recommended that canals and related
areas should be subject to regular and
systematic management and monitoring.

11.8.4 In areas where the origin of litter
or refuse is external to the activities of
the canal or inland navigation undertaking,
the duty body may consider it appropriate
to make clearance arrangements on a
partnership basis involving the undertaking,
local authorities and amenity groups.

11.9.1 Duty bodies responsible for
beaches include Principal litter authorities
and Crown Authorities.

11.8.5 Duty bodies responsible for
canals, marinas and towpaths should
aim to cleanse hard surfaced areas to a
grade A where practicable. A grade B is
sufficient as a standard for areas subject
to issues of practicability such as access,
physical restrictions due to design or
nature of the environment, or areas
that are ecologically sensitive where a
minimum, if any intervention is required.
11.8.6 Secluded areas such as
underneath canal bridges or near
waterside buildings are particularly likely
to attract individuals taking drugs, and
therefore be susceptible to higher levels
of drugs litter.

Page 270

34

11.9 Beaches

11.9.2 This land use includes Amenity
Beaches (including inland beaches where
substantial numbers of bathers or beach
users may congregate). As a minimum
standard, Amenity Beaches should
generally be kept clear of all types of
litter and refuse between 1st May and
30th September inclusive. It is expected
that during this time of the year, beaches
be subject to a frequent monitoring
routine and be cleansed to as practicable
a standard as possible. The Code
recognises that a grade A is not always
achievable, due to the terrain and
conditions in a beach environment.
A grade B would be a suitable cleanliness
standard under these circumstances.
11.9.3 Due to changing holiday and
climatic patterns, beaches are increasingly
being used outside of the traditional
bathing season of May – September.

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Although the duty does not extend
beyond the bathing season, it is
recommended as good practice that
duty bodies are aware of the different
nature of beaches within their area,
that they carry out a regular monitoring
programme of those beaches and
develop an appropriate cleansing regime.
11.9.4 By virtue of the Litter (Relevant
Land of Principal litter authorities and
Relevant Crown Land) Order 1991
(S.I.1991/476), land below the place to
which the tide flows at mean high water
springs is not to be treated as relevant
land of Principal litter authorities or
as relevant Crown land. Again, it is
recommended as good practice that
duty bodies are aware of the impact of
litter in the inter-tidal area, and where
appropriate, carry out cleansing.
11.9.5 Local authorities should identify
those beaches for which they have
responsibility, which might reasonably
be described as “amenity beaches”.
Any assessment should take into account
the level of use of the beach for
recreational purposes.

11.9.6 The duty applies to items or
materials originating from discharges
directly to the marine environment as
well as discarded items from beach
users. As a guide, only litter comprising
manufactured or processed items of
materials that have been discarded,
disposed of or abandoned, by intent
or accident, should be removed. Litter
should include processed food items but
it does not include seaweed or twigs,
which contribute to maintaining the
local ecosystem.
11.9.7 There may be issues of
practicability relating to litter removal
from beaches and particular care will be
needed in respect of sensitive habitats.
11.10 Other areas
11.10.1 This category represents all other
areas of relevant land under the duties
under the 1990 Act not classified within
any other type of land in section 11
above. These areas should be managed
according to the intensity of use of the
surrounding land and zoned accordingly.

Page 271
35

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Page 272

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Part 2: Advisory standards
for graffiti and fly-posting
12.0 Introduction
12.1 This section is intended to set out
advisory standards for graffiti and flyposting, to detail what grades A – D look
like for each standard. Duty bodies are
not required to effect the advisory
standards listed below. However, it is
recommended that all duty bodies seek
to manage these problems in the course
of discharging their section 89 duties,
and to work with other land managers in
order to achieve standards of cleanliness
(as perceived by the public) across all
land types regardless of ownership.
12.2 Incidents of these types of
environmental crime may not be as
widespread as those of litter, refuse
or detritus, but their presence on the
appearance of the local environment, and
can lead to further degradation of the
area and an increase in the fear of crime.
Duty bodies can clear an area of litter,
refuse and detritus, but from the public's
point of view, the local environment feels
far from clean.

Page 273

12.3 Local authorities should always
remove graffiti and fly-posting from
public property. They should also work
with private property owners to seek the
removal of graffiti and fly-posting to the
standards set out in this section. Powers
are available to local authorities to
require the removal of fly-posters and
graffiti in certain circumstances. These
are detailed in Part 3 of this document.
12.4 Government requires local
authorities to submit data on graffiti
and fly-posting through Best Value
Performance Indicator BV199. Therefore,
this part details the system that has
already been researched and developed
for grading these standards and their
impact on the local environment from
the public perspective, and makes
it available to all duty bodies. Further
information and pictorial illustrations of
the principles behind the grading are
available from www.leq-bvpi.com.
12.5 Acceptable standards for graffiti
and fly-posting are grade B and above.
Wherever possible, they should be
removed completely so that there is
no trace, to a grade A standard.
37

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

12.6 In a survey carried out by ENCAMS
that questioned local authorities about
2
local environmental quality issues , only
4% of authorities responded that they
had received no public complaints about
graffiti in the last 12 months. 89% felt
that they had a problem (20% major and
69% minor) with graffiti. Fly-posting had
prompted fewer public complaints, with
29% of local authorities stating that they
had received no public complaints in the
last 12 months. The average number of
complaints received was 22, but ranged
from 0–300. 83% of local authorities
stated that they had a problem (14%
major and 69% minor) with fly-posting.
Other duty bodies interviewed as part of
the wider consultation exercise also
named graffiti and fly-posting as local
environmental issues that they had to
manage to different levels.
12.7 Good practice is available for
all duty bodies in creating cleaner,
safer, greener communities from
www.cleanersafergreener.gov.uk.
2
3

38

13.0 Standards for graffiti
and fly-posting
13.1 Graffiti (BV199b). Any informal or
illegal marks, drawings or paintings that
have been deliberately made by a person
or persons on any physical element
comprising the outdoor environment,
with a view to communicating some
message or symbol etc. to others.
Grade A The local environment is
completely free of graffiti.
Grade B Some graffiti is present,
but it is minor in extent,
and many people passing
through the local environment
would not notice it.
Grade C Graffiti is present to the
extent that it would be
clearly visible to people
passing through the local
environment, and visible at
a distance from at least one
3
end of the 50m transect .

ENCAMS (2004) LEQ: A Local Authority Perspective www.encams.org.
Throughout, ‘transects’ are referred to. These are used to describe the survey site, whether it is on a highway or on other kinds
of sites. For more information on transect definition see www.leq-bvpi.com.

Page 274

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Grade D Graffiti is extensive over a
large part of a 50m transect
and is likely to be clearly
visible and obtrusive to people
passing through the local
environment, and visible from
any point on thetransect.
13.2 Duty bodies should aim to prioritise
the removal of offensive or racist graffiti.
Research shows that the majority of
local authorities aim to remove them
within 24 hours.4
13.3 Fly-posting (BV199c). Any printed
material and associated remains informally
or illegally fixed to any structure. It excludes
formally managed and approved advertising
hoardings and valid, legally placed signs and
notices. It includes any size of material from
small stickers up to large posters – often
advertising popular music recordings,
concerts and other events.
NB: This excludes business cards and
handbills placed under vehicle windscreen
wipers and door handles5; illegal displays
on movable objects such as advertising

‘A boards’; and billboards on movable
bases on farmland, ‘barrage balloons’ etc.
Grade A The local environment
is completely free from
fly-posting.
Grade B Some fly-posting is present,
but it is minor in nature and
it is likely that many people
would not notice its presence.
Grade C Fly-posting is present in the
local environment to the
extent that it is likely to
be clearly visible to people
using the area,and visible
at a distance from at least
one end ofa 50m transect.
Grade D Fly-posting is extensive
throughout much of the
local environment and is
clearly visible and obtrusive
to people passing through
the street scene, and visible
from any point on a
50m transect.

ENCAMS (2004) LEQ: A Local Planning Authority Perspective www.encams.org. Research showed that 65% of local authorities
surveyed removed sexist or racist graffiti within 24 hours, and the full range stated was from 4 hours to 10 days.
5
These items do not fall under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 restrictions, but where they have been discarded they
will form a component of litter.
4

Page 275

39

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Page 276

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Part 3: Legislation to
support the code of practice
14.0 Introduction
14.1 The Code of Practice on Litter and
Refuse is issued by the Secretary of State
under section 89 of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990. This section of the
Act imposes a duty on certain bodies to
keep relevant land and highways for
which they are responsible, clear and
clean of litter and refuse so far as is
practicable. However, the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 (as amended by the
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment
Act 2005) is only one part of a raft of
legislation available to duty bodies to
help maintain land within acceptable
levels of cleanliness.
14.2 Section A outlines the legislation
available to individuals and authorities
who consider that duty bodies are not
meeting their duties under section 89.
Section B details the main powers
available to land managers to
prevent littering.
Section C outlines the legislation
available to help to tackle litter and
refuse on private land.
Section D outlines the legislation
available to manage dog fouling.

Section E outlines the legislation available
to manage graffiti and fly-posting.
14.3 This section must not be seen
to be comprehensive, and it does not
constitute legal advice. Full legislation
is available through www.opsi.gov.uk,
Government provides further detailed
guidance, available from www.defra.
gov.uk/environment/localenv/index.htm,
and a guide to the legislation available
to local authorities to better manage the
public space can be found at www.idea.
gov.uk/knowledge, including details of
legislation specific to participating
London local authorities. If you wish to
take advice or pursue a case, you must
seek independent legal advice.

A: If the duty is not met
Making a complaint about litter and
refuse – Litter Abatement Orders
(Environmental Protection Act 1990
section 91).
This section provides for individuals and
legal persons (but not Principal litter
authorities) to take action, via the
magistrates’ courts, against those not
complying with the duty to keep land
Page
277or highways clean.
clear of litter
or refuse,
41

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

If the magistrates’ court concludes that
the complaint is well founded, it may
issue a Litter Abatement Order requiring
the person complained against to clear or
clean the land. Local authorities and other
duty bodies should inform the public
about procedures for making a formal
complaint and the right to seek redress
in the courts if the litter duty is not met.
Enforcing the requirement for duty
bodies to keep land clear of litter
and refuse – Litter Abatement Notices
(Environmental Protection Act 1990,
section 92).
This section enables Principal litter
authorities to take action where a duty
body is failing to keep its relevant land
clear of litter and refuse. The power
to issue a Litter Abatement Notice is
available to Principal litter authorities,
other than county councils or a joint
board, and may be used where any
relevant Crown land, or land of a
designated statutory undertaker, or
designated educational institution is
defaced by litter or refuse, or the
defacement is likely to recur. A Litter
Abatement Notice may specify either,
Page 278
or both, of the following:
42

• A requirement for the litter or refuse
to be cleared within a certain time.
• A prohibition on permitting the land
to become defaced by litter or refuse.
Penalties for failing to comply with
a Litter Abatement Order or Litter
Abatement Notice.
Failure to comply with a notice or order
is a criminal offence, punishable by a
maximum fine at level 4 (currently £2,500),
together with a further fine of (currently)
£125 a day for each day that the offence
continues. The Code of Practice on Litter
and Refuse is admissible as evidence in
proceedings on a complaint, or for breach
of a notice or order.

B: Powers to prevent littering
Offence of leaving litter, prosecution
and fixed penalties (Environmental
Protection Act 1990, sections 87 & 88).
It is an offence to throw down, drop or
otherwise deposit, and then to leave,
litter under section 87 of the 1990 Act.
The offence, as extended by section 18
of the Clean Neighbourhoods and
Environment Act 2005, applies to all
places that are open to the air, including
private land and land covered by water.

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

A person found guilty of the litter
offence may be fined up to level 4 on the
standard scale (currently £2,500). Fixed
penalty notices for litter may be issued by
an authorised officer of a litter authority
(including Parish Councils), by National
Park Authorities, Police Community
Safety Officers and accredited persons.

becoming defaced again. Amendments
made to the 1990 Act by the Clean
Neighbourhoods and Environment Act
2005 have made it immediately an
offence to fail to comply with the
requirements of a Street Litter Control
Notice, and fixed penalties may be issued
as an alternative to prosecution.

Dealing with street litter outside
premises (Environmental Protection
Act 1990, sections 93 & 94).
Sections 93 and 94 give local authorities
the power to tackle street litter generated
further to activities on adjacent premises .
The type of commercial and retail premise
in respect of which a notice may be issued
are specified in the Street Litter Control
Notices Order 1991 (SI 1991/1324). There
is no restriction on the type of litter
for which this may be used, but it is
intended primarily to help deal with food
and drink packaging and other litter
caused by eating ‘on-the-go’ as well as
litter from cash points and lottery tickets
dropped outside shops. The legislation
enables local authorities to serve Street
Litter Control Notices requiring businesses
to clear up the litter and implement
measures to prevent the land from

Local authorities should work in
partnership with others to resolve the
problem of street litter and seek to remedy
it, where possible, through joint working
and good management practice. Such an
approach is fostered by Defra’s Voluntary
Code of Practice for ‘Reducing litter
caused by Food on the Go’, which sets
out recommendations to help businesses,
local authorities, and other public and
private sector bodies to work together.
Controlling the distribution of free
literature (Environmental Protection
Act 1990, section 94B and
Schedule 3A).
The distribution of free literature can
blight public spaces if leaflets and other
printed materials are subsequently
dropped as litter.

Page 279
43

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Section 94B and Schedule 3A of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990,
(inserted by the Clean Neighbourhoods
and Environment Act 2005), give
Principal litter authorities powers to
control such distributions. Authorities
can designate, by order, areas of their
own land or highways, in which the
distribution of free literature is permitted
only with their consent, and anyone
distributing free literature in such an area
without consent commits an offence,
punishable by a fine or a fixed penalty
notice. It is also an offence to
commission or pay for the distribution of
free printed matter in a designated area
without the necessary consent.
As with other provisions in Part 4 of
the Environmental Protection Act 1990,
authorities are encouraged to work with
retailers and businesses to minimise
the problems associated with the
distribution of free literature before
imposing restrictions.

Page 280
44

C: Powers for managing
litter on other’s land
Litter Clearing Notices (Environmental
Protection Act 1990, sections 92A-92C).
Principal litter authorities have the power
to issue Litter Clearing Notices where
land in their area is defaced by litter or
refuse and this is detrimental to the
amenity of the area. This power was
introduced into the 1990 Act by the
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment
Act 2005, and replaces the previous
system of Litter Control Areas.
Litter Clearing Notices can be used to
tackle litter on most types of land, other
than those areas for which there is
already a responsibility to clear litter and
refuse under section 89. It therefore offers
a tool for dealing with litter on private
land that can often be blown or
otherwise carried into neighbouring areas.
The main features of the system are:
• A notice can be served without prior
designation of a litter control area, and
it is an offence not to comply with
a Litter Clearing Notice;

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

• Local authorities are able to specify the
standard to which land must be cleared;

Part III (Statutory Nuisance)
Environmental Protection Act 1990.

• If land is not cleared, or is not cleared
satisfactorily, the local authority can
enter the land, clear it itself, and
recover the costs of doing so.

District councils can serve an abatement
notice if an accumulation or deposit is
considered to be prejudicial to health or
a nuisance. Reasonable costs can be
recovered by the authority in abating or
preventing the recurrence of a statutory
nuisance for which a notice has been
served. Inert material, however, would not
be categorised as a statutory nuisance.

Wherever possible, Principal litter
authorities should work in partnership
with land owners and occupiers to
resolve problems caused by heavily
littered land. In issuing a notice,
authorities should consider the role
that they can play to address the causes
of the litter problem, particularly in
specifying steps to be taken to prevent
future defacement.
Section 59 Environmental
Protection Act 1990.
Provides powers for waste regulation
authorities and waste collection
authorities to serve a notice on the
occupier or owner of land to require the
removal of controlled waste unlawfully
and knowingly deposited. Where a
person fails to meet these requirements
the local authority or the Environment
Agency may clear the waste and seek
to recover the costs.

Section 215 Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.
Allows a local planning authority to serve
a notice on the owners and occupiers of
land, requiring the site to be tidied up
if the condition of any land is in such a
state as to adversely affect the amenity
of the neighbourhood. Non-compliance
is punishable (s.216) by a fine not
exceeding level 3 (currently £1,000)
on the standard scale.

Page 281
45

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Section 22 (3) Control of
Pollution Act 1974.
Provides a power to district councils,
London borough councils and the
Common Council of the City of London
to arrange, with the agreement of the
person owning or occupying the land,
for cleaning of land in the open air
(other than a highway) to which the
public have access. Charges will be
paid by the owner or occupier.
Section 78 Public Health Act 1936.
Provides powers for district councils,
London borough councils, the Common
Council of the City of London, the SubTreasurer of the Inner Temple and the
Under Treasurer of the Middle Temple
to sweep and cleanse any court, yard or
passage which is used in common by
the occupants of two or more buildings
(but is not a highway repairable by the
inhabitants at large) and which is not
regularly swept and kept clean to the
satisfaction of the authority. The council
may recover reasonable expenses from
the occupiers of the buildings.

Page 282
46

Section 34 Public Health Act 1961.
Provides a power for urban district
councils, borough councils, the Common
Council of the City of London, the SubTreasurer of the Inner Temple, the Under
Treasurer of the Middle Temple and the
Council of the Isles of Scilly to remove
from any land in the open air any rubbish
that is seriously detrimental to the
amenity of the neighbourhood. Rubbish
is defined as including rubble, waste,
paper, crockery and metal.
Section 6 Refuse Disposal (Amenity)
Act 1978.
Gives district councils, London borough
councils and the Common Council of the
City of London the powers to remove
from land open to the air or on a highway
any thing (other than a motor vehicle)
that has been abandoned without lawful
authority. If the land is occupied, the
council must give notice of their intention
to remove. Costs can be recovered from
the person leaving the refuse or a person
knowingly permitting it.

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Section 4 Prevention of Damage
by Pests Act 1949.
A local authority can serve a notice
requiring an owner to remove, at his own
expense, accumulated waste for the
purpose of keeping land free from rats
and mice. Costs can be recovered should
the council have to remove it.

• restrict the number of dogs per person;
• require the person in charge of a dog
to clear up dog faeces;
• require dogs to be on a lead;
• require that dogs are put, and kept,
on a lead if directed to do so by an
authorised officer; or

D: Powers to tackle dog fouling

• or place a ban on dogs over an area.

Dog Control Orders (Clean
Neighbourhoods and Environment
Act 2005 sections 55-62, and
regulations made under them)

The penalty for committing an offence
under a Dog Control Order is a maximum
fine of level 3 on the standard scale
(currently £1,000). Under section 59 of
the 2005 Act, an authorised officer
may offer to issue a Fixed Penalty Notice
as an alternative to prosecution; under
section 60 a level of £75, although
primary or secondary authorities are able
to set another amount within a range
prescribed in the Environmental Offences
(Fixed Penalties) (Miscellaneous Provisions)
Regulations 2006.

The Clean Neighbourhoods and
Environment Act has repealed the Dogs
(Fouling of Land) Act 1996 and, subject
to savings in respect of that Act, dog
fouling is now controlled by way of Dog
Control Orders. These can be made in
respect of land which is open to the air
(including covered land which is open to
the air on at least one side) and to which
the public has access with or without
payment. Dog Control Orders can be
made and enforced by both primary and
secondary authorities and cover a range
of dog control issues. They can be
applied to:

Designations made under the Dogs
(Fouling of Land) Act 1996 prior to
April 2006 will remain in force until such
a time as a Dog Control Order is made
for the same land in respect of the
Page 283
same offence.
47

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

This means that prosecutions can
continue to be brought against those
who infringe dog laws on land
designated under the Dogs (Fouling of
Land) Act 1996. Fixed Penalty Notices can
continue to be issued for dog fouling
offences on land designated under the
1996 Act but the fixed penalties will
remain at £50.

E: Powers to tackle graffiti
and fly-posting
Fixed penalty notices for graffiti
and fly-posting (Anti-social Behaviour
Act 2003 sections 43-47)
Authorised officers of local authorities
(including Parish Councils), Police
Community Support Officers and
‘accredited persons’ may issue fixed
penalty notices to those who physically
commit ‘minor’ acts of graffiti and flyposting as an alternative to prosecution.
The specific offences for which such
fixed penalty notices may be issued are
given in section 44 of the 2003 Act.

Page 284
48

Defacement removal notices
(Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003
sections 48-52)
These sections enable a local authority to
serve a ‘defacement removal notice’ on
the owners of street furniture, statutory
undertakers and educational institutions
whose property is defaced with graffiti or
fly-posting that is either detrimental to
the amenity of the area or offensive.
If the defacement is not removed within
a specified time (minimum 28 days), the
local authority can intervene and clean
it up themselves, with due reference to
guidance issued by the Secretary of State.
An appeals process is available.
Graffiti (Criminal Damage Act 1971)
Creating Graffiti is an act of criminal
damage under section 1 of the Criminal
Damage Act 1971. The amount of the
penalty for committing such an offence
will depend on the value of damage
caused. (It may also be an offence
under section 54, paragraph 10 of the
Metropolitan Police Act 1839, section 20(1)
of the London County Council (General
Powers) Act 1954, and section 131(2) or
132(1) of the Highways Act 1980.)

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Sale of aerosol paint to children
(Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003,
sections 54 and 54A)
Section 54 makes it an offence to sell
aerosol spray paints to persons aged
under 16, with the objective of reducing
the incidence of criminal damage caused
by acts of graffiti. Retailers selling spray
paints to under 16s commit an offence,
which carries a level 4 fine (currently
£2,500). Retailers are required to check
the age of buyers if there is any doubt
that they are least 16 years old.
Section 54A places a specific duty on local
authority trading standards to investigate
the extent of spray paint graffiti problems
in their areas once a year and to take
appropriate enforcement action where
necessary to tackle underage sales.
Section 215 Town and Country
Planning Act 1990
The local planning authority has a power
to serve a notice specifying steps for
remedying condition of land that is adversely
affecting the amenity of the area.

The scope of works that can be required
in section 215 notices is wide and includes
planting, clearance, tidying, enclosure,
demolition, re-building, external repairs,
and repainting.
Unlawful display of advertisements
(Town and Country Planning Act
1990, sections 220 and 224)
Section 220 gives the Secretary of State
powers to make regulations restricting or
regulating the display of advertisements
so far as it appears to the Secretary to
State to be expedient in the interests of
amenity or public safety. There is a power
to make regulations enabling the Local
Planning Authority to require the removal
of advertisements and the discontinuance
of the use of the site for display of
advertisements. It is an offence under
section 224 to display an advertisement
in contravention of the regulations under
section 220 of that Act. A person found
guilty of this offence may be liable to
a fine not exceeding level 4 (currently
£2,500) on the standard scale.

Page 285
49

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Removal of placards and posters
(Town and Country Planning Act
1990 section 225)
This section enables a local planning
authority to remove or obliterate any
poster or placard the display of which is,
in the authority’s opinion, in contravention
of the section 220 Regulations. Notice
must first be given where the placard or
poster identifies the person who displayed
it, or caused it to be displayed.
The Clean Neighbourhoods and
Environment Act 2005 amended section
225, introducing powers for local
planning authorities to recover the costs
incurred when removing fly-posters. The
2005 Act also amended the statutory
defence in section 224 so that the local
authority no longer has to prove that a
person consented to the display of an
advertisement in contravention of the
regulations. The only defence now is that
the advertisement was displayed without
the person’s knowledge.

Good practice
For general information and good
practice relating to cleansing, see:
Page 286
www.cleanersafergreener.gov.uk
50

Defra’s Voluntary Code of Practice for
Reducing Litter Caused by ‘Food on the
Go’ can be viewed at: www.defra.gov.uk/
environment/localenv/litter/pdf/
fastfoodcop.pdf
Guidance on the use of section 215 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
is available at: www.odpm.gov.uk/
stellent/groups/odpm_planning/docu
ments/page/odpm_plan_034817.pdf
A good practice guide for tackling
fly-posting is published by the Office of
the Deputy Prime Minister (2000), and is
available at: www.odpm.gov.uk/
stellent/groups/odpm_planning/docu
ments/page/odpm_plan_606218.hcsp
ENCAMS produces good practice for land
managers, see www.encams.org
The Chartered Institution of Wastes
Management produces an Environmental
Cleansing Handbook, for publication
details please visit www.ciwm.org.uk
Information on the Flycapture database
is available at: www.defra.gov.uk/
environment/localenv/flytipping/
The Fly-Tipping Protocol may be viewed
at: www.environment-agency.gov.uk/
aboutus and follow the links.

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Page 287

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Annex A: Comparisons between code
of practice on litter and refuse land use
categories and BV199 land use definitions
COPL&R
Land use

BV199 Land use
(Correct at the time of going to print. For the latest information visit www.leq-bvpi.com)

11.1
Retail,
office and
commercial

Primary retail, office and commercial areas
This land-use includes the main town and city retail, office and commercial centres, as defined in local
authorities’ Area Wide Development Plans. Urban tourist hot spots which are wholly or partially separated
from a main town or city retail and commercial centre should also be considered within this category.
Primary Retail and Commercial Areas contain a choice of outlets in a range of different retail and
commercial sectors (such as fashion clothing, financial services, restaurants, bars and entertainments),
and will include national and international brand names. Normally, there is also a range of public
facilities, including libraries, museums, law courts, and places of worship. Rear access roads, service
roads, car parks and the first 50m of side streets off the primary retail and commercial areas should
also be included in this land-use.
Secondary retail, office and commercial areas
This Land-use covers secondary retail, office and commercial areas located outside main city and town
office retail and commercial centres (but excludes retail park developments, which are included with
industry, warehousing and science parks). Secondary Retail, Office and Commercial Areas must contain
a minimum continuous retail/commercial frontage of 50 metres.
Secondary Retail, Office and Commercial Areas usually contain a range of facilities that mainly meet
the needs of local residents. Most premises contain individual private businesses, sometimes branches
of regional chains (such as bakers) and, occasionally, national brand names. Sometimes, Primary and
Secondary Retail, Office and Commercial Areas dovetail into each other, for example a ‘High Street’
may be Primary at the Town Centre end, but tail off into Secondary towards the far end. In such cases,
assign the land-use class that predominates at that point. Rear access roads, service roads, car parks
and the first 50m of side streets off secondary retail and commercial areas should also be included in
this land-use.

Page 288

52

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

COPL&R
Land use

BV199 Land use
(Cor rect at the time of going to print. For the latest infor mation visit www.leq-bvpi.com)

11.2
Housing
land

Higher density housing
This Land-use Class includes housing of varying types, for example:
• terraced housing in the inner areas of towns and cities;
• terraced housing in industrial and post-industrial villages (such as mining and quarrying settlements);
• alleyways behind and between housing areas where there is direct access to properties;
• flats and maisonettes with only limited off-street parking on public housing estates;
• semi-detached and short-terraced dwellings with limited or no purpose-made off-street
vehicle parking.
Housing areas should be classed as ‘higher density’ if the proportion of dwellings with purpose-made
off-street parking facilities is less than 50%. ‘Off-street parking’ may include specially formed parking
bays and garage courts located adjacent to the highway, or areas of hard standing on grassed areas
comprising engineered cellular concrete blocks designed to provide vehicle parking areas. Higher
density housing areas can also include occasional small retail premises, offices, manufacturing, and
warehousing sites. .
Lower density social housing areas
This Land-use Class includes all types of lower density social housing estates where purpose-made
off-road garaging/parking is provided for 50% or more of the dwellings. Such provision can include
front gardens that have been converted to provide hard standings or extensive garage courts serving
high-rise blocks of flats that are set amongst landscaped areas.
Where a front garden has been converted for parking, it should only be considered as constituting
‘off-street parking’ if the kerb has been deliberately dropped. This class also includes estates
which were originally constructed to provide council or other social housing where tenants have
taken up ‘right to buy’ options. Classic council housing estates differ from private housing areas
in layout – there tend to be more open spaces and grass verges in council housing areas.

Page 289

53

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

COPL&R
Land use

BV199 Land use
(Cor rect at the time of going to print. For the latest information visit www.leq-bvpi.com)

11.2
Housing
land
(continued)

For this reason, even where a former council estate has been sold off under ‘right to buy’ legislation,
it should still be classified as Lower Density Social Housing. The only exception to this would be if
there had been extensive remodelling of the estate to include new building on former open spaces.

11.3
Industrial
areas

Industry, warehousing, retail sheds and science parks
This Class includes industrial and warehousing developments; out-of-town retail parks (including food
and non-food developments); and science parks (containing offices, laboratories and manufacturing
processes), which contain land that is owned or managed by the local authority, and which is freely
accessible to the public. Public roads running through hospital and university campuses should also
be included in this category.

11.4
Roads

Main roads (BV199)
This Class comprises ‘A’ roads (marked in red and green on 1:50,000 Ordnance Survey Maps)
in the following situations:

Lower density private housing areas
This Class comprises low-density housing developments, which were originally built for private
purchase, located in urban areas, rural villages, and commuter villages, and which have off-road
garaging / parking provision for 50% or more of dwellings. Rear access alleyways, car parks and
garage courts in low-density private housing areas should also be included in this land-use.

• Throughout rural areas (except where main roads run through larger settlements containing
Primary and Secondary Retail and Commercial Areas and Higher Density Housing Areas);
• In urban areas, except where main roads run through Primary and Secondary Retail and Commercial
Areas, or through Higher Density Housing Areas where no selective demolition has taken place
(see below);

Page 290
54

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

COPL&R
Land use

BV199 Land use
(Cor rect at the time of going to print. For the latest information visit www.leq-bvpi.com)

11.4
Roads
(continued)

• In High Density Housing Areas in urban areas where selective demolition has taken place in order
to create a wider, often landscaped, main road corridor;
• In London and parts of the West Midlands, this Class also includes Red Routes that are located
outside Primary and Secondary Retail and Commercial Areas.
Rural roads (BV199)
This Class comprises all adopted highways that are located outside built up areas and which are not
otherwise included in the Main Roads or Other Highways Land-use Classes.
Other highways (BV199)
This Land-use Class includes:
• Formal and informal lay-bys on main and rural roads; pedestrian overbridges and underpasses;
• Redway (dual purpose cycleway/footpath – as in Milton Keynes);
• narrow roads within housing areas – often referred to by local names, such as ‘ginnels’, ‘snickets’,
‘snickleways’, six-foots’ and ‘ten-foots,’ except where these provide rear access to terraced housing
(see Higher Density Housing above). Normally, this type of pathway is adopted and is usually closely
bounded by walls and/or other boundary structures.
• The first 50 metres of BOATS, RUPPS and bridleways leading from metalled public highways;
• Redundant highway infrastructure still accessible to the public, including stub access roads to future
development sites;
Note: ‘Other Highways’ include dedicated cycleways which are separated by distance or by a physical
barrier from highways that are used by motor vehicles and from other adjacent land uses. For example,
where a cycleway crosses a public park, the cycleway should be included as part of the public park.

Page 291
55

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

COPL&R
Land use

BV199 Land use
(Cor rect at the time of going to print. For the latest information visit www.leq-bvpi.com)

11.6
Public open
spaces

This Land Use Class includes a wide range of open spaces that are freely accessible to the public and
which are maintained by a local authority. Sites include parks, picnic sites, canals, lakes, riversides;
municipal cemeteries (but not churchyards) and cycleways (excluding cycleways classified as ‘Other
Highways’ – see above).
Note: many canal towpaths are excluded for the purposes of BV199 because they do not comprise
Relevant Land for a principal litter authority.
Where the ownership of Recreational Land has been transferred from a Borough or District Council
to a Town or Parish Council, this is no longer relevant land for the purposes of BV199, and should be
excluded. However, where Town or Parish Councils only manage land on behalf of the local authority
(which retains ownership), then such land remains relevant land and should be included in the
BV199 return.

Page 292
56

Agenda Item 14
Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse

Appendix B

Page 293
57

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Page 294
58

Agenda Item 14
Appendix B

Page 295

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 15
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT: Pannier Market Concession

2) REQUESTED DECISION: Delegate to the Chief Executive the power to take a
decision to reduce or waive the pitch fees applicable to the Pannier Market,
Barnstaple to be effective for a maximum period of 4 months

3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
In order to support local market traders during the current period of lockdown by
allowing officers to negotiate reductions in the standard pitch fees to encourage
traders to use the Pannier Market for the sale of essential items. This will then
provide the community with further options to purchase locally during lockdown. The
item is urgent as traders are preparing to re-open from the 12th April and any decision
to grant a concession should be made prior to the next SR Committee to allow
marketing to take place.
The charges were increased as part of the adoption of the budget but officers did
assure members that if there was a need to provide a concession that would be
considered.
The power to take a decision on this is given to the Chief Executive for a period of 4
months and allows the Chief Executive to take a decision to reduce or waive the pitch
fee during that period, depending on demand and circumstances.

4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).
There will be a loss of income to the council but indications are that without some
incentive, traders will not use the Pannier Market anyway. It is therefore considered
that the loss of income in likely to be minimal and certainly outweighed by the
potential benefit to the traders and the community.
5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:

Page 297

Agenda Item 15
The alternative is to continue to charge the full fee and risk traders leaving the
market. A thriving market fits with the Councils long terms plans and helps to give
confidence in the town centre and supports the council’s Live, Love, Local campaign.
6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
None
7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
None
8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):

10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)

Date

Y

11/3/21

Lead Member

Y

11/3/21

Ward Member(s)

N/A

Head of Service (name)

Y

Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)
(or Vice-Chair)

11.3.21

Finance
Legal

N

11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE:
Town Centre Manager
12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES

Page 298

Agenda Item 15
13) DATE OF DECISION:
11/3/21

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS:
Agreeing a concession fits with the assurance given to members when agreeing the
current fee increase. The decision is to give delegated powers to the CEX for 4
months so that some flexibility can be created if needed.

15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

Page 299

Agenda Item 15
3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 300

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

Page 301

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

Page 302

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

Page 303

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

Page 304

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

Page 305

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

Page 306

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

Page 307

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

Page 308

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

Page 309

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

Page 310

Agenda Item 15
Appendix B
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

L/11

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT:
The sealing of licensed taxi and private hire vehicle meters, and a proposed
derogation to the Council’s current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing
policy with this regard.
Meters are currently sealed by the Licensing Authority, and the request is to instead
temporarily enable a meter agent to make a declaration in terms of the
appropriateness of the tariffs held within a meter and to install a seal.
This derogation comes about due to the expiry of a program inserted into Cygnus
meters, which affects bank holiday rates payable by customers within licensed
vehicles.
2) REQUESTED DECISION:
To approve a temporary policy derogation to the Council’s existing Hackney Carriage
and Private Hire Licensing Policy at Appendix K, Paragraph 2.5 and Appendix M,
Paragraph 2.4.
The proposal is to allow an authorised meter agent to make a signed declaration in
terms of the sealing of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle meter, instead of the
Licensing Authority sealing the meter. This proposal is for a temporary period up to
and including the bank holiday of the 30 August 2021.
3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
It has recently come to light via Cygnus, who are the main supplier of taxi and private
hire meters in this area,that a North Devon tariff programme which includes bank
holiday rates (a programme purchased and administered by the main meter agent
operating locally, CBM, South Molton) has expired.
Upcoming bank holidays in England and Wales 2021 follow:
2 April
Friday Good Friday
5 April
Monday Easter Monday
3 May
Monday Early May bank holiday
31 May
Monday Spring bank holiday

Page 311

Agenda Item 15
Appendix B
30 August
Monday Summer bank holiday
27 December Monday Christmas Day (substitute day)
28 December Tuesday Boxing Day (substitute day)
We are advised that meters including Cygnus MR400, MR500 and MR500 view will
be impacted.
The Licensing Team has identified that there are 102 vehicles that have these meters
which will need resealing. This figure is an estimate as some meters may already
have a new programme, but most will not.
The Licensing Team do not have capacity to undertake the sealing of these meters at
this time and prior to the next bank holiday. It is estimated that meter seals take in the
region of 15 minutes per vehicle, at approximately 25 hours if all are required to be
sealed.
The next bank holiday being on the 2 April gives insufficient time for the Council to
make a decision via the normal process of going to Licensing and Community Safety
Committee and then onto Strategy and Resources Committee. Even if going direct to
Strategy and Resources, there is insufficient time, with the date for the next meeting
being scheduled for the 12 April 2021. As such a more prompt decision is required.
We do not wish for licensed taxi and private hire vehicles operators to be able to
accidentally or deliberately over-charge within their vehicles, if they are displaying
incorrect bank holiday rates (a higher charge than a normal weekday) this is a
potential.
We wish for there to be a continued high level of consumer confidence in the taxi and
private hire trade.
Whilst lockdown measures continue, the trade for taxi and private hire vehicles will
increase from 29 March 2021. When most schools start to break up for the Easter
holidays, outdoor gatherings (including in private gardens) of either 6 people (the
Rule of 6) or 2 households will be allowed. Outdoor sports facilities such as tennis
and basketball courts, and open-air swimming pools, will also be allowed to reopen,
and people will be able to take part in formally organised outdoor sports. The ‘stay at
home’ rule will also end on 29 March.
In terms of the Council’s current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy,
the requirements in respect of meter sealing follow:
Appendix K
Hackney Carriages – Vehicle Conditions
2.5 The Licensing Authority will seal the meter. Any tampering with the seal or the
meter constitutes an offence. Where any seal becomes broken or damaged for
whatever reason, the owner or operator must immediately inform the Licensing
Office, which will arrange for the meter to be re-tested and sealed.

Page 312

Agenda Item 15
Appendix B
Appendix M
Private Hire Licensing – Private Hire Vehicle Conditions
2.4 A Licensing Officer will test and seal the meter. Any tampering with the seal or
the meter constitutes an offence. Where any seal becomes broken or damaged, for
whatever reason, the owner or operator must immediately inform the Licensing
Office, which will arrange for the meter to be re-tested and sealed.
An exemption to the above policy to allow for a declaration by a meter agent, in line
with the example declaration in Appendix A, is requested for the period up until and
including the bank holiday of the 30 August 2021.

4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).
There are no financial implications with the above proposal, albeit if the more
favoured option is to employ a temporary contractor to undertake this work on behalf
of the Licensing Authority further information can be ascertained.
5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
1. Engagement of a temporary contractor to undertake taxi meter sealing prior to
the 2 April 2021. Due to timescales involved this likely to be problematic.
2. To allow other day to day business to lapse in terms of timescales and to
undertake meter sealing. This is rejected due to more significant risks and
including legal ones due to a potential compromise on statutory processes.
3. Do nothing. Again this is not without risk for the reasons outlined in the report,
for example overcharging.

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:

None.
7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
Not applicable.
8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
North Devon Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy.

Page 313

Agenda Item 15
Appendix B

10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)

Yes

10.03.21

Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)

10.03.21

(or Vice-Chair)

Yes – Chair of
Licensing and CS
Committee

Lead Member

No

Ward Member(s)

No

Head of Service (name)

Yes

10.03.21

Finance

Yes

10.03.21

Legal

Yes

10.03.21

11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE:

Public Protection Manager
12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES or NO

13) DATE OF DECISION:

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS:

15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:

12 April 2021
GUIDANCE NOTES

NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:

Page 314

Agenda Item 15
Appendix B

1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 315

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 15
Appendix C
The Licensing Team

Contact Details:
Tel: 01271 388870

Environmental Health &
Housing
North Devon Council
PO Box 379, Barnstaple
Devon
EX32 2GR

Email:licensing@northdevon.gov.uk
Web:www.northdevon.gov.uk/licensing

Taxi and Private Hire Meter Sealing
Declaration by Meter Agent
Name of driver/company:

Vehicle registration number:

Vehicle licence number:

Meter brand:

Meter model:

Meter serial number:

Pulse figure:

Expiry date on meter programme:

Contains solely North Devon Council tariffs?

Yes

No

Declaration of meter agent:
I the below named person declare that this vehicle contains a calendar control meter which is locked,
and contains North Devon Council’s tariffs (v26.04.16) appropriate for the size of this vehicle only.
Where appropriate, in addition to the Council’s tariffs I have provided confirmation in writing of any other
lesser tariff programmed into this meter.
All vacant plugs (or other such seals where appropriate for meter type) within the meter have been
sealed by me.

Signed meter agent:

Name and address of meter agent:

Date meter sealed:

Page 317

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 16

Open
NORTH DEVON COUNCIL

REPORT TO:

STRATEGY & RESOURCES

Date:

6th April 2021

TOPIC:

LEISURE CONTRACT PAYMENTS

REPORT BY:

CONTRACTS DELIVERY MANAGER

1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Under the terms of the interim leisure contract between Parkwood Leisure and
North Devon Council (NDC) in line with Government PPN Guidance, Parkwood
can claim for financial support from NDC to help cover losses incurred due to
Government imposed restrictions on the leisure industry.
1.2 To date, NDC has made payments to Parkwood Leisure totalling £217,000 to
cover losses for the period April–September 2020.
1.3 NDC was successful in its application to the Sport England administered
National Leisure Recovery Fund for £180,000. These funds were passed on to
Parkwood to cover losses from November 2020 through to February 2021 in
line with the Sport England funding agreement.
1.4 Parkwood have now issued claims to the council for further payments for the
months of February (partially covered by the National Leisure Recovery Fund
grant) and March 2021. This report recommends that NDC agree to make
payments to cover these latest claims.
2 RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1 That North Devon Council makes a grant payment of £59,000 to Parkwood
Leisure to cover losses experienced in the months of February & March due to
Covid 19.
2.2 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
2.3 To ensure continuation of service, prevent job losses and provide community
leisure facilities for thousands of North Devon residents.
3 REPORT
3.1 The interim leisure contract between NDC and Parkwood Leisure contains
clauses to address difficulties caused to both client and contractor by the
COVID 19 pandemic. These clauses were added to the leisure contract through

Page 319

Agenda Item 16
a deed of variation in accordance with central government Public Procurement
Guidance Note PPN02/20.
3.2 The contract clauses mentioned at 3.1 provide a mechanism for Parkwood to
submit monthly claims to NDC for losses experienced during the months of
April – June 2020 (defined as the COVID Relief Period). The COVID Relief
Period can be extended by mutual agreement between the two parties and this
was done in October to allow further payments to be made by NDC to
Parkwood to cover losses for June and July 2020 and then again in December
2020 to allow further claims and to cover losses incurred in August and
September 2020.
3.3 In December, an application was made by NDC to the National Leisure
Recovery Fund for £180,000 to cover losses during the further lockdown
period. The application was successful and the funds were paid over to
Parkwood in accordance with the funding agreement.
3.4 Parkwood’s most recent claims, which take into account the National Leisure
Recovery Fund grant from Sport England and business grants administered by
NDC total £33k for February and £26k for March.
3.5 The implications of NDC not continuing with financial assistance to keep the
leisure contract viable and Parkwood invoking the contract termination clause
were outlined in a previous report to the strategy and resources committee in
October 2020.
4 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
4.1 The financial support for February and March had been included in NDC
financial projections and can be covered in part using some of the £1.57 million
Covid-19 support grant from central government provided to NDC towards
additional costs being incurred.
4.2 Sport England has awarded a further £12k to NDC through the National Leisure
Recovery Fund, so this can also be used as a contribution towards the
February and March losses.
4.3 As noted in the October Strategy & Resources report entitled “Leisure Contract
Payments”, Parkwood are currently, unable to claim government support for
losses in revenue.
5 EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
5.1 No equality issues anticipated.

Page 320

Agenda Item 16
6 CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
Article or Appendix
and paragraph

Referred or
delegated power?

Part 3, Annexe
1.1(d)

“Delegated”

7 STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
7.1 This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under the
provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
8 BACKGROUND PAPERS
8.1 The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
o Urgent Decision Notice dated 30th April 2020
o Urgent Decision Notice dated August 2020
o Strategy and Resources report October 2020 entitled “Leisure Contract
Payments”
o Strategy and Resources report December 2020 entitled “Leisure Contract
Payments.”
The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of
the report.
9 STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
9.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers.
Author:
Mark Kentell
Reference: Document5

Date: 29/03/21

Page 321

This page is intentionally left blank

Roadmap
out of
Lockdown
Page 323

Step
4

No earlier than 17th May

Step
3

Step
2

No earlier than 12th April
Step
1
Step
1

On the 29th March

On the 8th March

Agenda Item 17

North Devon
Council

No earlier than 21st June

Community &
Service Impacts

Mitigations

Communications

Changes on the 8th March

- Increase of licenses
- Temporary Events Notices
- Licensed events on council
land
- Licensed events on public
land
- Increase tented/caravan
site licenses.

Examine the potential for
additional capacity within the
licensing team.

Continuation of social
distancing signage and social
media posts

Reprioritisation of less critical
work.

Continuation of stay at home
messaging

- Increase of Safety Advisory
Group (SAG) Applications.

Consider a variation to this
area of discretionary service
and consider additional
capacity.

Explore from your door
campaign

Prioritisation of work to be
reviewed against programmed
work.

Communication plans for reopening of High Streets and
leisure facilities being
prepared

Social Contact;
You can leave your home for leisure or
exercise with:
 People in your household/support
bubble
Or
 1 person who is not in your household
or support bubble.


People who live in care homes will be
allowed one visitor.

Education: Schools,
Colleges and Universities;
 Children and Students can return to
face-to-face education.
 Higher education students on practical
courses can also return.
 Introduction of twice weekly rapid
testing for secondary and college pupils.
 Introduction of rapid testing teachers.
 Introduction of Community Collect
Testing for eligible households.

- Increase applications and
requests for advice ahead
of hospitality opening on
the 12th April.
- Increase of COVID
compliance work and
guidance
- Increase of new food
business registrations &
associated inspections.
- Increase Test & Trace
payments from 8th March.

Community support
signposting messages

Increase the capacity of the
team using the COVID19
compliance grant.

Promoting test sites and
vaccination centres

Continued promotion of local
businesses’ click and collect
services Live Love Local
(campaign)
Information on business grants

TBC by JT

Clear messages campaign
tackling littering

Agenda Item 17

Step 1
8th March-29th March

Page 324

Changes

Page 325

Agenda Item 17

Page 326

Step 1
8th March-29th March

Changes

Impacts

Mitigations

Communications

Changes on the 29th March

- Influx of day visitors to
beauty spots and beaches.

Close partnership with local
police and partner agencies to
monitor impact.

Lead role in Clean Devon antilittering campaign

Social Contact;
Rule of 6 introduced:
 Meet in groups of 6 people outdoors
including private gardens.
or
 Meet in groups of 2 households
outdoors including private gardens.

Business and activities;



Outdoor sports such as tennis and
basketball courts and open air
swimming can reopen.
Formally organised outdoor sports can
resume.

- Increase pressure on car
parking.
- Business Restart Grants
Commences – increase
pressure on service.

Increase collection capacity and
add on extra round from April.
Review business continuity plan
and identify other means of
processing recycling if the event
of a critical failure.
Increase frequency of street
sweeping & bin emptying from
April.
Increase capacity of workforce
and re open closed facilities
(urinal blocks).
Promote the use of carparks and
work with DCC Highways on the
regulation of on street car
parking to mitigate the risks
associated with obstructions.
New PSPO to address anti-social
behaviour and environmental
crime

Continuation of social
distancing messaging
Stay at home as much as you
can messaging
PFND litter bin campaign
Recycling reminders to
counteract contamination
Re-opening of skateparks and
BMX track
PSPO messaging
Continued promotion of
vaccines and testing

Agenda Item 17

Travel;
 “Stay at home rule” ends.
 You should still stay home as much as
you can.
 You should continue to work from
home if you can.
 You won't be able to travel abroad.

- Increase pressure of W&R:
- Increase waste (Domestic &
Trade)
- Higher demand in the
recycling hall putting
pressure on critical
equipment.
- Increase littering
- Increased use of public
conveniences

Page 327

Agenda Item 17

Step 2
Not before 12th April
2nd-19th April Easter Holidays

Page 328

Impacts

Mitigations

Communications

Changes no earlier than 12th April

-

Positive engagement with landlords to
incentivise the retention of housing
stock.

Respect, Protect, Enjoy campaign
to tackle littering, poor parking,
wild camping and preparing
residents for the impact of large
tourism influx

Business and activities;
 Non- essential retail can reopen;

personal care premises (nail & hair
salons)

public buildings (Libraries & community
centres)
 indoor gyms (for individual or household
use).



Outdoor attractions;
Zoo’s, theme parks drive in cinemas can
open.

Hospitality;
 Restaurants, café’s and pubs can provide
table service outside.
 People should be seated in
household/bubble or groups.
 “Substantial meal” & curfew rule is
removed.



Self-contained accommodation
such as campsites and holiday lets
without shared indoor facilities can
reopen. (Hotels and B&B’s must remain
shut)

Events;
 Up to 30 people at funerals and 15 people
at weddings, receptions & wakes.

-

Reduced availability of selfcontained and B&B
accommodation for homeless
households
Loss of TA to support emergency
planning/ rest centre function.

-

Early arrivals and illegal stays of
2nd home owners and caravans.

-

“pop up campsite” – 56 day
exemption rule.

-

Community tension & nuisance
reports.

-

Traditional Gypsy and Traveller
patterns likely to restart

-

High street reopens - Less
adherence to social distancing in
town centre. Increase of ASB and
street attached individuals in
town

Negotiate with current suppliers to
retain supply of B&B rooms and
consider pre booking rooms.
Review rest centre plans &
arrangements with Devon Emergency
Planning Partnership.
Review procedures and check on
capacity to operate toleration site to
manage travellers.
Monitor “pop up” campsite situation
and provide advice as needed.
COVID19 Marshalls to be provided by
Barnstaple Town Council and maintain
a visible presence.
Security Services to be provided by
“Red Elephant Security” each day
between 10:00-15:00 using opening
high streets safely fund.

-

Pannier market, Tarka tennis and
Leisure centre reopens.

Promotion and enforcement of the
new drink/street ASB PSPO by wider
team.

-

Opening of businesses that have
been closed , H&S risks of
legionella, covid compliance

Provide advice to businesses
reopening – conduct enforcement
visits

-

7th May elections – many officers
involved with the provision of
this service potential disruption
to BAU.

Identify staff involved and services
that will be under pressure and issue
comms.

Tolerance messaging – please
welcome and be accommodating
to our tourists
Re-opening of customer services
face to face with social distancing
guidance and urge to carry on
going online if possible
Live Love Local re-opening safely
campaign
Promotion of re-opening of the
Pannier Market
Promotion of re-opening of
leisure facilities
Promotion of RingGo for
contactless payments
Promotion of business restart
grants
Continued promotion of vaccines
and testing
Promotion of how to vote safely
at the elections
Impact of election on BAU

Agenda Item 17

Government's
review on
global travel
will report on
the 12th April.

Changes

Page 329

Agenda Item 17

Step 3
Not before 17th May
Half Term 31st May-4th June

Page 330

Review of
social
distancing
and other
measures
ahead of Step
4.

Impacts

Mitigations

Communications

Changes no earlier than 17th May:

- Increased pressure on housing
supply with hotels and B&B
opening.
- Evictions ban ends March
2021 could result in increased
presentations to housing.

Prepare for increase support
requests to housing team.

Tolerance messaging – please
welcome and be accommodating
to our tourists

- Risk of larger events

Safety advisory group with
mitigate some risk by ensuring
proper preparation is in place.

Social Contact;
 Indoors rule of 6 or 2 households
applies
 Outdoors social contact limits will be
lifted but gatherings of over 30 remains
illegal.
 Advice on social distancing between
friends and family will be updated.
Business and activities:
 Most businesses except the highest risk
sector will be able to reopen.
 Cinemas, children play areas and indoor
exercise classes can resume.
Hospitality;
 Restaurants, cafés and pubs can provide
table service inside.
 Rest of the accommodation sector can
reopen including hotels, hostels and
B&B’s.
Events;
 Some performances and sporting events
may go ahead with limits on numbers.
 30 people can attend life events such as
bar mitzvahs and christenings.

- Increased demand on w&R
and carparks.
- Increased reports of statutory
nuisance.
- Staff looking to take annual
leave over half term/ summer.
- Influx of visitors as a result of
G7.
- Impact of G7 on our
emergency services and
testing capacity.
- Symptomatic and
asymptomatic testing
pressures from visitors (not
our risk) staff ability to access
tests.

Tourism charter comms to
promote positive behaviour in
regards to parking, littering,
social distancing, respecting
locals
Continuation of Respect, Protect,
Enjoy messaging

Maintain additional rounds and
services. Increase workforce
capacity where possible.

Continuation of Clean
Devon/Clear Messages/PFND
anti-littering messages

CSP campaign & Proactive
summer time inspection
programme with police.

Mop-up business grant
messaging

Cross warranting of NDC civil
enforcement officers to provide
additional capacity to regulate
ASB PSPO
Engage in multi-agency meetings
and planning workshops to
ensure we are aware of impacts
from G7.
Engage with the LRF to maintain
awareness of testing capacity.

Service updates as and when
required
Messages to manage customer
expectation if services are
overwhelmed

Agenda Item 17

G7 Summit in
Cornwall 1113th June

Changes

Changes

Impacts

Mitigations

Communications

Changes no earlier than 21st June

Increase of anti-social
behaviour.

Ensure sufficient resources

Continue with all anti-littering
messages

Social Contact;

Page 331

Step 4
Not before 21st June



Government hopes to remove all
legal limits on social contact.

Travel;
 Dependent on the review being
published on 12th April.
Business and activities;
 All remaining premises including
nightclubs can reopen.

Increase of unlicensed events.
Higher than usual number of
visitors as a result of
staycations.
Continued pressure on
services.
Staff wanting to take leave.

Engage with multi agency
partners to mitigate impact.
Prioritise critical services.

Continuation of tolerance
messaging – please welcome
and be accommodating to our
tourists
Continuing to promote the
tourism charter comms to
encourage positive behaviour
Continued promotion of local
businesses
Service updates as and when
required
Messages to manage
customer expectation if
services are overwhelmed

Agenda Item 17

Events;
 Subject to the results of the events
research programme and pilot events
 Ease restrictions on events.
 No legal limits on life events.

Increased reports of statutory
nuisance from commercial and
private properties (e.g. noise).

Run W&I communication
campaigns and proactively
engage with visitors.

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 333

Agenda Item 19

This page is intentionally left blank

